NOTE TO USERS

This reproduction is the best copy available.



IDENTIFICATION OF CELL CYCLE REGULATORY PROTEINS

THAT INTERACT WITH HCF-1

BY

DAVID PILUSO, B.Sc.

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements

for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University

•

© Copyright by David Piluso, August 2004

IDENTIFICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF HCF-1 BINDING PARTNERS

TITLE:	Identification of cell cycle regulatory proteins that interact with HCF-1
AUTHOR:	David Piluso, B.Sc. (McMaster University)
SUPERVISOR:	Professor J.P. Capone
NUMBER OF PAGES:	xii, 189

MCMASTER UNIVERSITY

Hamilton, ON

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (2004) (Biochemistry)

ABSTRACT

HCF-1, a transcriptional regulatory protein, was originally identified as an accessory factor for the induction of Herpes Simplex Virus immediate-early genes by the viral transactivator VP16. Recently, HCF-1 has emerged as a chromatin-binding transcriptional co-regulator that plays an essential role in cellular proliferation. In order to further characterize the function of HCF-1 and determine the mechanisms by which it contributes to cellular proliferation we have sought to identify novel HCF-1 interaction partners and elucidate their function. In this thesis, we describe the identification of key cell cycle regulatory proteins, Miz-1 and E2F-4, as novel HCF-1 interaction partners. Miz-1, a transcription factor that activates transcription of cell cycle inhibitory genes, is an integral part of the anti-mitogenic TGF- β pathway and contributes to cell cycle arrest following DNA damage and differentiation signals. HCF-1 associates with the Miz-1 transactivation domain and antagonizes Miz-1-dependent transcriptional activation of p15^{INK4b}, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, suggesting that HCF-1 can indirectly promote pRB family inactivation, and thus, cellular proliferation. E2F-4, a member of the E2F family of transcription factors that regulate cellular proliferation in conjunction with the retinoblastoma family of proteins, is involved in repression of E2F responsive genes at G0/G1 and consequently, cell cycle arrest or differentiation. Overexpression of E2F-4 suppresses HCF-1-mediated rescue of cellular proliferation, indicating an antagonistic role for these proteins in the cell cycle. Together, these findings contribute to identifying additional HCF-1 interaction partners and may provide insight into the molecular mechanism of HCF-1-mediated cell cycle progression.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. John Capone, for the opportunity to work in his laboratory, and for his direction and guidance throughout my graduate studies. In addition, I am grateful to my supervisory committee members, Dr. Justin Nodwell, Dr. Dino Trigatti, and Dr. Ray Truant, for the direction and constructive criticism they provided me.

Thank you to all past and present members of the Capone lab for making the lab a more enjoyable place to work. Specifically, I wish to thank Hansa for her initial help when I first joined the lab and for her continuing support. I would also like to thank Pat for help throughout my various projects, teaching me the ways of tissue culture, and for performing numerous experiments which were not included in this thesis. Thanks also to Jozo for helpful discussions, providing plasmids, performing the database search which identified novel HCF-1 binding partners, and for the collaboration on the E2F-4 project. A special thanks must also go to Shirley for preparing media promptly, at times even before I had asked for it. The research conducted on HCF-1 was also made more enjoyable because of the opportunity I had to work with other graduate and project students. Thank you Helen, Sushmita, and Joe for your contributions and friendships. I must also thank Joe for his gracious help in the preparation of several of the figures presented in this thesis.

I would also like to acknowledge the National Cancer Institute of Canada, NSERC, and OGS for financial support.

Lastly, a warm thank you to my family for their support and encouragement.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview	1
1.2 History of HCF-1	2
1.3 Cell Cycle Control	6
1.4 Transcriptional Control	13
1.5 HCF-1 Structural Elements	18
1.6 Cellular Roles For HCF-1	23
1.7 Cellular HCF-1 Interaction Partners	27
1.7.1 Luman (LZIP)	27
1.7.2 Zhangfei (ZF)	28
1.7.3 PGC-1	29
1.7.4 HPIP	30
1.7.5 Krox20	30
1.7.6 U1/U5 snRNPs	31
1.7.7 Set1/ASH2 HMT and Sin3 HDAC	31
1.7.8 GABP	32
1.7.9 Sp1	33
1.7.10 PP1	34
1.7.11 PDCD2	34
1.8 HCF-1 Related Proteins	35
1.9 Objectives of Research and Key Findings	37

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1	Material	S	41
	2.1.1	Chemicals and Reagents	41
	2.1.2	Radiochemicals	42
	2.1.3	Enzymes	42
	2.1.4	Antibodies	42
	2.1.5	Oligonucleotides	43
		2.1.5.1 Preparation of Oligonucleotides	43
	2.1.6	Plasmids	45
		2.1.6.1 Vectors	45
		2.1.6.2 Plasmids from other sources	47
		2.1.6.3 Plasmids isolated by yeast 2-hybrid screening	50
		2.1.6.4 Plasmids constructed for research	50
		2.1.6.4.1 Yeast 2-hybrid plasmids	50
		2.1.6.4.2 GST pull-down assay plasmids	53

2.1.6.4.3 Mammalian expression plasmids	55
2.1.7 Organisms and Strains	57
2.1.7.1 Bacteria	57
2.1.7.2 Yeast	58
2.1.7.3 Mammalian cells	58
2.2 Methods	59
2.2.1 Maintenance and Growth of Bacterial Cells	59
2.2.2 Plasmid DNA Purification	59
2.2.2.1 Small Scale Plasmid Preparation	59
2.2.2.2 Large Scale Plasmid Preparation	60
2.2.2.3 Phenol/Chloroform DNA Extraction	61
2.2.3 Chloramphenicol Amplification of Plasmid DNA	61
2.2.4 Fluorometry	62
2.2.5 Cloning Techniques	62
2.2.5.1 PCR (polymerase chain reaction)	62
2.2.5.2 Site-directed mutagenesis	63
2.2.5.3 DNA Extraction From Agarose Gels (Qiaex)	63
2.2.6 DNA Sequencing	64
2.2.7 Introduction of plasmid DNA into E. Coli	64
2.2.7.1 Preparation of Chemically Competent Cells	64
2.2.7.2 Bacterial Transformation (Chemical)	65
2.2.7.3 Preparation of Electrocompetent Cells	65
2.2.7.4 Bacterial Transformation (Electroporation)	65
2.2.8 Maintenance and Growth of Yeast	60
2.2.9 Yeast 2-hybrid Screen	00
2.2.9.1 Large Scale Yeast Transformation for Screening	00 67
2.2.9.2 Isolation of Library Plasmus from his freast	68
2.2.10 1 East 2-Hydrid Assay	60
2.2.10.1 Shiali Scale Teast Hallstonnation	60
2.2.10.2 Qualitative p-galactosidase Overlay Assay	609
2.2.10.3 Quantitative Liquid p-galactosidase Assay	09 70
2.2.11 US1 Full-dowll Assay	70
2.2.12 In VIIIO transcription translation reactions	72
2.2.15 Cen Culture Maintenance	72
2.2.14 Transfert Transfections 2.2.15 Luciferase Assay	73
2.2.15 Lucherase Assay	74
2.2.10 Co-minunoprecipitation Assay	74
2.2.17 Western Dioting	76
2.2.19 BLAST search for HBM-containing cellular proteins	76
2.2.17 DELIST Statem for Histri Containing Contain protonis	.0

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1	Identifying Miz-1 As a Novel HCF-1 Basic Domain Interaction	77

	Partner an	d Characterizing its Function	
	3.1.1	Yeast 2-hybrid Screening Reveals Miz-1 To Be an	77
		HCF-1 Interaction Partner	
	3.1.2	Validating and Confirming 2-hybrid Results	82
	3.1.3	HCF-1 Interacts with Miz-1 Via Determinants in the	84
		Basic Domain	
	3.1.4	HCF-1 Targets Two Separate Domains of Miz-1	86
	3.1.5	HCF-1 Targets a Transactivation Function in Miz-1	89
	3.1.6	HCF-1 Represses GAL4-Miz-1-mediated Transcription	93
		Activation	
	3.1.7	HCF-1 Represses Miz-1 Activation of the p15 ^{INK4b}	95
		Promoter	
	3.1.8	HCF-1 Interferes with Recruitment of p300 to Miz-1	97
	3.1.9	The P134S Mutation in HCF-1 Does Not Affect Binding	99
		To, or Transactivation by, Miz-1	
3.2	Investigat	ing the Importance of Miz-1 and Other HCF-1 Basic	102
	Domain I	nteraction Partners in tsBN67 Proliferation	
	3.2.1	Identification of an HCF-1 Mutant Compromised in its	102
		Ability to Bind GABP	
	3.2.2	HCF-1 793-795Ala Mutant is also Compromised in its	106
		Ability to Rescue the tsBN67 Cell Cycle Defect	
	3.2.3	Miz-1 Does Not Prevent HCF-1-mediated Rescue of the	109
		Temperature-sensitive Cellular Proliferation Defect in	
		tsBN67 _{HR1} Cells	
	3.2.4	Fragments of HCF-1 that Selectively Interact with Miz-1	112
		Do Not Affect Rescue of tsBN67 _{HR1} Cells by HCF-1 ₁₋₁₀₁₁	
	3.2.5	The HCF-2 Fn3 Repeats Interact with HCF-1 Partners	117
		Including Miz-1	
	3.2.6	A Fragment of HCF-2 Encompassing Residues 662-792,	122
		Which Selectively Binds GABP, is Sufficient to Reduce	
		Rescue of the tsBN67 Cell Cycle Defect by HCF-1 ₁₋₁₀₁₁	
3.3	Identifyin	g and Characterizing HBM-containing Kelch Domain	124
	Interaction	n Partners	
	3.3.1	The E2F-4 Primary Sequence Contains an HCF-binding	124
		motif (HBM)	
	3.3.2	E2F-1 and E2F-4, but not E2F-5, Interact with HCF-1 in	129
		Mammalian Cells	
	3.3.3	HCF-1 _{FL} Interacts with Both E2F-4 _{WT} and an HBM	131
		Mutant Version of E2F-4	
	3.3.4	E2F-4 Interacts With Both the HCF-1 Kelch and Basic	133
		Domains – HBM Mutant Retains Binding to Basic	
		Domain But Loses Interaction with Kelch Domain	
	3.3.5	P134S Mutation in the Context of the Kelch Domain	135
		Abrogates Binding to E2F-4	

	3.3.6	An HBM Mutation in E2F-4 Abrogates an <i>in vitro</i> Interaction with HCF-1	137
	3.3.7	E2F-4 Interferes with HCF-1-mediated Cell Cycle Rescue of the $tsBN67_{HR1}$ Cell Cycle Progression Defect	139
CHAPTER	4: DISC	USSION	
4.1	Identify	ing Basic Domain Interacting Proteins	142
	4.1.1	HCF-1 May Promote Cellular Proliferation by Suppressing Miz-1-dependent Expression of p15 ^{INK4b}	142
	4.1.2	HCF-1 Targets the POZ and Transactivation Domains: Possible Mechanisms of Interference with Miz-1 Activity	145
	4.1.3	HCF-1 Possesses the Characteristics of a Transcriptional	147
	4.1.4	Miz-1 May Be One of Several Effectors in HCF-1-	149
	4.1.5	A Role for GABP in HCF-1-mediated Cellular Proliferation	151
	4.1.6	Basic Domain Interaction Partners are also Targeted by HCF-2	152
4.2	Identifyi	ing Kelch Domain Interacting Proteins	155
	4.2.1	E2F-4 Targets the HCF-1 Kelch and Basic Domains	155
	4.2.2	Possible Mechanisms by Which E2F-4 Antagonizes HCF-1-mediated Cellular Proliferation	157
	4.2.3	HCF-1 May Regulate 'Activating' and 'Repressive' E2Fs	159
4.3	Conclus	ions	160
			1.00

BIBLIOGRAPHY

168

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1:	The Expression of Herpes Simplex Virus Immediate-Early Genes	5
Figure 1.2:	The Mammalian Cell Cycle	8
Figure 1.3:	CDKs Control the Phosphorylation Status of Rb Proteins	12
Figure 1.4:	A Variety of Activities Displayed by Distinct Classes of Proteins	17
	Are Involved in Regulating Gene Transcription	
Figure 1.5:	Schematic Representation of HCF-1 and its Related Proteins	21
Figure 3.1:	Schematic Representation of Miz-1	79
Figure 3.2:	HIP-2 Nucleotide and Amino Acid Sequence	81
Figure 3.3:	HCF-1 Interacts with Miz-1	83
Figure 3.4:	Miz-1 Targets the Basic Region of HCF-1	85
Figure 3.5:	HCF-1 Interacts Directly with Miz-1 in vitro and Targets Two	88
	Separate Domains, the POZ Domain and the Carboxy-terminal	
	Region	
Figure 3.6:	The Carboxy-terminal HCF-1-interacting Interface in Miz-1	91
	Functions as an Autonomous Transactivation Domain	
Figure 3.7:	HCF-1 Antagonizes Transactivation by GAL4-AD-Miz-1	94
Figure 3.8:	HCF-1 Represses Miz-1 Activation of the p15 ^{LINK40} Promoter	96
Figure 3.9:	HCF-1 Inhibits p300 Recruitment by Miz-1	98
Figure 3.10:	The P134S Mutation in HCF-1 Does Not Inhibit Binding To, or	101
	Transactivation by, Miz-1	
Figure 3.11	Identification of a Small Region in HCF-1 That Mediates Binding	103
	To Miz-1	
Figure 3.12:	HCF-1 Mutant 793-795Ala is Impaired in its Interaction with	105
	GABP, but not Miz-1	
Figure 3.13	HCF-1 Mutant 793-795Ala, Impaired in its Interaction with GABP,	108
	Reduces Rescue of the tsBN67 Temperature-sensitive Cellular	
	Proliferation Defect	
Figure 3.14:	Miz-1 Does Not Prevent HCF-1-mediated Rescue of the	111
	Temperature-Sensitive Cellular Proliferation Detect in	
E : 0.1 <i>C</i>	tsBN6/ _{HR1} Cells	
Figure 3.15:	Fine Mapping to Determine HCF-1 Residues Involved in Binding	114
F' 2.1 <i>C</i>	To Miz-1 and GABP	110
Figure 3.16:	HCF-1 Fragments Do Not Prevent HCF-1-mediated Rescue of the	116
	Temperature-sensitive Cellular Proliferation Defect in tsBN67 _{HR1}	
E'		100
Figure 3.1/:	The HCF-2 Fn3 Repeats Interact with HCF-1 Partners	120
Figure 3.18:	HCF-2 Residues 727-792 are Sufficient for Miz-1 Interaction	121
Figure 3.19:	A Fragment of HCF-2 Encompassing Residues 662-792, Which	123
	Selectively Binds GABP, is Sufficient to Reduce HUF-1-mediated	
Element 2.00	Rescue of ISBND / Cells	100
Figure 3.20:	E2F-1 and E2F-4 Contain an HBM (HCF-binding motif)	126
Figure 3.21:	Schematic Diagrams of E2F-1 and E2F-4	127

Figure 3.22:	E2F-1 and E2F-4, But Not E2F-5, Interact with HCF-1	130
Figure 3.23:	HCF-1 _{FL} Interacts with Wild Type E2F-4, as well as an HBM	132
	Mutant Version	
Figure 3.24:	E2F-4 Interacts with Both the HCF-1 Kelch and Basic Domains -	134
	HBM Mutant Retains Binding to Basic Domain but Loses	
	Interaction with the Kelch Domain	
Figure 3.25:	P134S Mutation, in the Context of the Kelch Domain, Abrogates	136
	Binding to E2F-4	
Figure 3.26:	An HBM Mutation in E2F-4 Abrogates an <i>in vitro</i> Interaction	138
	With HCF-1	
Figure 3.27:	E2F-4 Interferes with HCF-1-mediated Cell Cycle Rescue of the	140
	Temperature-sensitive tsBN67 _{HR1} Cellular Proliferation Defect	
Figure 4.1	A Model Depicting a Mechanism for HCF-1-mediated Cellular	163
	Proliferation	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Oligonucleotides for site-directed mutagenesis	43
Table 2:	Oligonucleotides used to PCR amplify HCF-1 fragments for cloning	44
Table 3:	Oligonucleotides used to PCR amplify HCF-2 fragments for cloning	44
Table 4:	Oligonucleotides used to PCR amplify Miz-1 fragments for cloning	45
Table 5:	Sequencing Primers	45

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Ab	antibody
AD	activation domain
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
bp	base pair
BSA	bovine serum albumin
Ci	Curies
CDK	cyclin-dependent kinase
Da	Dalton
DBD	DNA binding domain
DHFR	dihydrofolate reductase
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
Fn3 repeats	fibronectin type 3 repeats
GABP	GA-binding protein
GST	glutathione S-transferase
HBM	HCF-binding motif
HCF-1	Host Cell Factor-1
HCF-2	Host Cell Factor-2
HCF _{PRO} repeats	HCF-1 proteolytic repeats
HDAC	histone deacetylase complex
HMT	histone methyltransferase
HPIP	HCF-1 β -propeller domain-interacting protein
HSV	Herpes Simplex Virus
IE genes	immediate-early genes
MCM proteins	mini-chromosome maintenance proteins
Miz-1	myc-interacting zinc finger protein
NES	nuclear export sequence
NLS	nuclear localization sequence
ORC	origin recognition complex
PGC-1	peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ co-activator-1
PEG	polyethylene glycol
POZ domain	Poxvirus and zinc finger protein domain
PP1	protein phosphatase 1
RNAase A	ribonuclease A
SAS	self-association sequence
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulphate
SnRNPs	small nuclear ribonucleoprotein particles
ТК	thymidine kinase
VIC	VP16-induced complex
ZF	Zhangfei
2YT AMP	2YT media containing 100µg/mL ampicillin

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 OVERVIEW

Human host cell factor-1 (HCF-1) (also known as CFF, VCAF1, C1, and HCF) is a transcriptional regulatory protein that was originally identified as an accessory factor required for induction of Herpes Simplex Virus immediate-early genes in conjunction with the cellular octamer-binding transcription factor, Oct-1, and the viral transactivator VP16 (Gerster and Roeder 1988; Kristie et al., 1989; Katan et al., 1990; Xiao and Capone 1990; Herr, 1998). However, the function of HCF-1 in the uninfected cell is less well understood. It has recently become evident that HCF-1 is required for cellular proliferation and completion of cytokinesis (Goto et al., 1997; Wilson et al., 1997; Julien and Herr, 2003). The mammalian cell cycle is a finely regulated process, in which proteins that are involved in its regulation must be periodically expressed at specific points in the cycle (Lania et al., 1999; Darnell, 2002). Temporal expression of specific growth-regulatory genes is often regulated at the level of transcription initiation through the formation of multiprotein-DNA complexes which influence transcription initiation (Lania et al., 1999; Naar et al., 2001; Darnell, 2002). Precise cell cycle control is essential for normal development and for the prevention of cancer, since oncogenesis may result from its disturbance (Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). The work presented in this thesis sheds light on the mechanisms by which HCF-1 promotes cellular proliferation by describing novel protein-protein interactions and how these interactions may control expression of genes intimately involved in cell cycle control.

1

1.2 HISTORY OF HCF-1

The history of HCF-1 dates back nearly 20 years to investigations in a number of laboratories researching the mechanism of Herpes Simplex Virus (HSV) immediate-early (IE) gene transcription regulation. At the time, it was clear that a viral protein, VP16, was recruited to TAATGARAT elements upstream of immediate-early gene promoters in conjunction with a cellular protein, Oct-1 (O'Hare et al., 1988; Stern et al., 1989; Kristie and Sharp, 1990; Stern and Herr, 1991). However, efforts to form a VP16-induced complex on TAATGARAT elements in vitro with VP16 and Oct-1, in the absence of nuclear extracts, indicated that at least one other cellular factor must be required to form the VP16-induced complex and initiate expression of HSV immediate-early genes (Gerster and Roeder, 1988; Kristie et al., 1989; Katan et al., 1990; Xiao and Capone, 1990). This cellular protein was later cloned and named host cell factor, HCF (Kristie and Sharp, 1993; Wilson et al., 1993; Kristie et al., 1995). Thus, HCF-1 was first detected by virtue of its ability to stabilize the VP16-induced complex. HCF-1 has been conserved through metazoan evolution as extracts from insects and C. elegans can support VP16-induced complex formation on TAATGARAT elements (Kristie and Sharp, 1990; Liu et al., 1999; Mahajan et al., 2002b; Izeta et al., 2003a).

The initiation of HSV-1 infection involves complex formation between viral (VP16) and cellular (HCF-1 and Oct-1) proteins (Herr, 1998). Upon infection, the viral transactivator VP16 (also known as α TIF, ICP25, Vmw65) is released into the cell to initiate a temporal cascade of viral gene expression producing α , β , and γ proteins; the three gene classes of HSV-1. VP16 stimulates the transcription of α (also known as

immediate-early, IE) genes through recognition of TAATGARAT target elements present in the upstream regions of IE genes (Triezenberg et al., 1988a; Herr, 1998; Wysocka and Herr, 2003). The α genes are expressed immediately upon infection and the products of these genes are required for the synthesis of subsequent β and γ polypeptide groups resulting in viral DNA replication and capsid assembly (Ward and Roizman, 1994). VP16 has only weak intrinsic DNA binding activity and thus requires two cellular factors, the POU homeodomain protein Oct-1 and HCF-1, to efficiently bind to target elements and form a multiprotein complex termed the VP16-induced complex, VIC (Gerster and Roeder, 1988; O'Hare et al., 1988; Stern et al., 1989; Katan et al., 1990; Xiao and Capone, 1990; Walker et al., 1994; Cleary et al., 1997). VP16, a 490 amino acid protein, contains two functionally distinct regions: an amino terminal region (amino acids 49-388) is responsible for VIC formation, while the carboxy-terminal 80 amino acids form a potent acidic activation domain that stimulates transcription (Triezenberg et al., 1988b; Cousens et al., 1989; Greaves and O'Hare, 1989; Greaves and O'Hare, 1990; Lai and Herr, 1997). Oct-1, a cellular transcription factor of 766 amino acids, is ubiquitously expressed and activates transcription of genes encoding small nuclear RNAs, snRNAs, which are involved in pre-mRNA splicing, histone H2B, and immunoglobin genes (Sturm et al., 1988; Wysocka and Herr, 2003). It contains N- and C-terminal transactivation domains, enriched in glutamines or serines and threonines respectively, and a central DNA binding domain termed the POU domain (Sturm et al., 1988; Sturm and Herr, 1988; Tanaka and Herr, 1990; Tanaka et al., 1992).

VIC assembly requires sequence specific protein-DNA interactions as well as protein-protein interactions (see figure 1.1). Specifically, Oct-1 binds independently to TAATGARAT elements upstream of HSV IE genes providing DNA specificity to VIC formation (O'Hare et al., 1988; Kristie and Sharp, 1990; Walker et al., 1994; Cleary et al., 1997), while VP16 is recruited to these sites through interaction with the Oct-1 POU homeodomain (Stern et al., 1989; Kristie and Sharp, 1990; Stern and Herr, 1991). Interestingly, Oct-1 has been shown to have flexible DNA binding specificity and this has been exploited in its binding to TAATGARAT elements which may or may not contain an overlapping octamer binding sequence, ATGCAAAT (Walker et al., 1994; Misra et al., 1996; Cleary et al., 1997). However, efficient recruitment of VP16 into the complex requires prior association with an additional cellular protein, HCF-1 to stabilize a conformation of VP16 which can more efficiently associate with Oct-1 (Wilson et al., 1997). However, association of HCF-1 with VP16 is not in itself sufficient for VIC formation as two missense HCF-1 mutants, E102A and K105D are able to bind VP16 but prevent VIC formation (Simmen et al., 1997). Upon complex formation, VP16 initiates IE gene transcription through a potent carboxy-terminal transactivation domain (Triezenberg et al., 1988b; Cousens et al., 1989) that interacts with basal transcription factors and a histone acetylase complex, which increases the rate of assembly of the preinitiation complex (Ingles et al., 1991; Lin et al., 1991; Hall and Struhl, 2002). However, there is also evidence that both HCF-1 (Luciano and Wilson, 2002) and Oct-1 may contribute to this process (Wu et al., 1994).



Figure 1.1: The expression of Herpes Simplex Virus Immediate-Early genes. A. HSV-1 immediate-early gene expression requires the assembly of a VP16-induced complex, VIC, consisting of viral, VP16, and cellular proteins, Oct-1 and HCF-1 on the TAATGARAT element found upstream of IE genes. B. Schematic diagrams of VP16 and Oct-1 indicate the modular domain structure of each. Abrreviations are as follows: VIC: VP16-induced complex; AAD: acidic activation domain; Q: glutamine-rich; S/T: serine/threonine-rich; POU: a highly charged 155-162 amino acid region of similarity contained in 3 mammalian transcription factors, Pit-1, Oct-1, Oct-2, and the product of the nematode gene unc-86 (Sturm *et al.*, 1988).

Although the function of HCF-1 has been well studied in the context of HSV immediate-early gene transcription its function in the uninfected cell has not been fully elucidated. In agreement with its function during HSV infection, HCF-1 does appear to function as a transcriptional co-activator for several of its interaction partners (Vogel and Kristie, 2000a; Lin et al., 2002; Luciano and Wilson, 2002; Luciano and Wilson, 2003) although specific target genes have not been determined. Interestingly, HCF-1 appears to possess the ability to interact with transcriptional co-activators and co-repressors allowing for the possibility that HCF-1 may activate certain sets of genes while also repressing others (Wysocka and Herr, 2003). An initial clue into characterizing the cellular roles for HCF-1 was provided by the discovery of a hamster cell line that halts proliferation at its non-permissive temperature due to a missense mutation in HCF-1 (Goto et al., 1997). Thus, in addition to its role in viral gene expression (Wysocka and Herr, 2003), HCF-1 is essential for normal cell cycle progression (Goto *et al.*, 1997; Wilson *et al.*, 1997; Julien and Herr, 2003). Although the precise functions of HCF-1 in the cell are unknown, HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation may result, at least in part, via its regulation of gene transcription. The ability of HCF-1 to augment expression of growth-promoting genes, while also suppressing arrest-promoting genes may allow it to play a key role in cell cycle control where the temporal expression of growth-regulating genes is often regulated at the level of transcription initiation.

1.3 CELL CYCLE CONTROL

The cell cycle can be divided into 4 distinct stages. The S, or synthesis, phase is the stage in which the DNA is replicated, while the M, or mitotic, phase is the stage in which the cellular contents are divided. G1 and G2 are transient gap phases that precede the S and M phases of growing cells, respectively (Trimarchi and Lees, 2002). G0, often viewed together with G1 as G0/G1, represents a substate of G1 in which cells deprived of growth factors exit the cycle and enter into a long-term quiescent state from which they can be reactivated by growth factors to re-enter the cycle. Orderly progression through these phases is controlled by the sequential activation of cyclin-dependent kinases, CDKs, which regulate the retinoblastoma protein and related pocket proteins by phosphorylation (see figure 1.2; Dyson, 1998; Harbour and Dean, 2000; Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001; Tonini et al., 2002). Pocket proteins bind to E2F transcription factors when hypophosphorylated, and prevent activation of growth-promoting genes during the G1 phase of the cell cycle (Hiebert et al., 1992; Helin et al., 1993; Dyson, 1998). E2F was originally defined as a cellular factor required for the adenovirus early region 1A (E1A) transforming protein to mediate the transcriptional activation of the viral E2 promoter (Nevins, 1992). In fact, E2F activity arises from a family of heterodimeric transcription factors where each heterodimer consists of one member of the E2F family bound to a member of the DP family (DeGregori, 2002; Trimarchi and Lees, 2002). Subsequent studies have shown that the E2F family of transcription factors plays a central role in regulating cellular proliferation by controlling the expression of genes required for cell cycle progression, which include enzymes involved in nucleotide biosynthesis (ex. DHFR, and TK), cell cyle regulatory proteins (ex. Cyclin A, D1, E, Cdc2, and Cdc25A) and proteins essential for DNA synthesis itself (ex. DNA Pol, Cdc6, ORC1, and MCM proteins) (DeGregori, 2002; Trimarchi and Lees, 2002). Binding of



Figure 1.2: The mammalian cell cycle. A. Schematic representation of cell cycle phases. The cell cycle can be divided into four distinct stages. G1 and G2 are gap phases that occur before the S (synthesis) and M (mitosis) phases, respectively. B. Orderly progression through the cell cycle phases is controlled by the sequential activation of cyclin-dependent kinases, CDKs. Cell cycle progression may be halted by the activation of checkpoint pathways that ultimately lead to the inactivation of one or more CDK-cyclin complex(es).

8

pRb tumour suppressor family (Rb, p107, p130) proteins, also referred to as 'pocket proteins', to E2F factors inhibit their ability to activate transcription, and in some cases, converts E2F factors from activators to repressors of transcription (Hiebert *et al.*, 1992; Weintraub et al., 1992; Helin et al., 1993; Beijersbergen et al., 1994; Ginsberg et al., 1994; Vairo et al., 1995; Frolov et al., 2004). Regulation by pRB and pocket protein family members is controlled through their phosphorylation status, via mitogenic growth factors that induce the sequential activation of cyclin-dependent kinase complexes which phosphorylate pRb, or conversely via growth-inhibitory signals which inhibit cyclindependent kinase activity, thus preventing pocket protein phosphorylation and cellular proliferation (Dyson, 1998; Harbour and Dean, 2000; Stevaux and Dyson, 2002; Trimarchi and Lees, 2002). In G0 and early G1, pocket proteins are hypophosphorylated, interact with E2Fs through the E2F transactivation domain, and prevent transcriptional activation by E2Fs or actively represses transcription by recruiting HDAC complexes to promoters (Chellappan et al., 1991; Beijersbergen et al., 1995; Mayol et al., 1995; Hansen et al., 2001; Stevaux and Dyson, 2002). In mid G1, as a result of activation of cyclin-dependent kinases, pocket proteins are phosphorylated, first by cyclinD-CDK4/6 and then by cyclinE-CDK2 (Dyson, 1998; Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001), resulting in dissociation of pocket proteins from E2Fs. This leads to nuclear export of E2F-4, while E2F-1-3, now free of pocket proteins in late G1, promote increased expression of growthpromoting genes at the correct time (Lindeman et al., 1997; Takahashi et al., 2002; Gaubatz *et al.*, 2001). Thus, upon pocket protein phosphorylation by CDKs, E2F is released from the inhibitory complexes, allowing transcriptional activation of growthpromoting genes in mid-late G1 (Dyson, 1998).

The central players controlling pocket protein phosphorylation status are the CDKs; serine/threonine kinases that form active heterodimeric complexes upon binding to cyclins, their regulatory subunits (Lees, 1995; Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). CDK4/6 form active complexes with the D-type cyclins and initiate pRb phosphorylation in mid-G1, whereas CDK2 is activated by the E-type cyclins and is required to complete G1 and initiate S phase by phosphorylating pRb on additional residues (Sherr and Roberts, 1999; Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). CyclinA- and B-dependent CDKs, activated later during the cell division cycle maintain pRb in a hyperphosphorylated form until cells exit mitosis and pRb is returned to a hypophosphorylated state in the next G1 phase (Sherr and Roberts, 1999).

In addition to cyclin binding, a variety of other mechanisms contribute to regulate the activity of cyclin-dependent kinases both positively and negatively (see figure 1.3; Lees, 1995; Sherr and Roberts, 1999; Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). In fact, regulation of CDK activity requires, in addition to cyclin binding, regulation of its phosphorylation status, and complex formation with proteins termed cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors, CKIs (Lees, 1995; Sherr and Roberts, 1999; Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). Regulation by phosphorylation can be both a positive or negative regulatory control depending on the residues phosphorylated (Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). For instance, CDKs must be phosphorylated on a threonine residue, located in their T loop, for proper catalytic activity, by a CDK7-cyclinH complex known as CAK, CDK-

activating kinase (Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). In contrast, phosphorylation of adjacent threonine and tyrosine residues on CDKs, mediated by dual specificity kinases such as WEE1 and MYT1, results in their inhibition since phosphorylation of these residues sterically hinders substrate access to the catalytic site (Lees, 1995; Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). Conversely, this inhibition can be relieved by CDC25 phosphatases, which dephosphorylate these residues and trigger mitosis (Lees, 1995, Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). Interaction with proteins termed CKIs will also inactivate CDKs (Lees, 1995; Sherr and Roberts, 1999; Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). CKIs have been postulated to play critical roles in growth arrest and cell differentiation in response to growth-inhibitory signals transduced from the extracellular environment (Sherr and Roberts, 1999; Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). CKIs are of two types, the INK4 family and the WAF1/KIP family (Nakayama and Nakayama, 1998; Sherr and Roberts, 1999; Ortega et al., 2002). The four members of the INK4 family, p15^{INK4b}, p16^{INK4a}, p18^{INK4c}, and p19^{INK4d}, exert their inhibitory activity by binding to the CDK4/6 kinases and preventing their association with D-type cyclins (Sherr and Roberts, 1999; Ortega et al., 2002). The three members of the WAF1/KIP family, p21^{Cip1}, p27^{Kip1}, and p57^{Kip2}, form complexes with both CDK4/6-cyclinD and CDK2-cyclinE complexes (Nakayama and Nakayama, 1998; Sherr and Roberts, 1999). However, they only inhibit the kinase activity of CDK2-cyclinE complexes by binding within the catalytic subunit, thereby dismantling its ATP-binding site (Sandhu et al., 1997; Sherr and Roberts, 1999). CDK4/6-cyclinD complexes can bind WAF1/KIP inhibitors without losing kinase activity and therefore, titrate these inhibitors from CDK2/cyckinE (Sherr and Roberts,



Figure 1.3: CDKs control the phosphorylation status of Rb proteins. Cell cycle control is a highly regulated process that is influenced by both positive and negative growth-regulatory signals. These signals ultimately impinge on cyclin-dependent kinases, CDKs, that are negatively regulated by binding of proteins known as CDK inhibitors and some phosphorylation events. Conversely, CDKs can be activated by removing inhibitory phosphates, controlled by the Cdc25A phosphatase, adding activating phosphates, controlled by CDK-activating kinase, CAK, and through binding cyclins. Activated CDKs phosphorylate Rb in G1, releasing 'free E2F' allowing transcriptional activation of growth-promoting genes including cell cycle regulatory proteins and enzymes involved in DNA synthesis.

1999). Thus, expression of INK4 proteins ensures cell cycle arrest by binding to CDK4/6-cyclinD complexes and inhibiting their kinase activity, while also liberating bound WAF1/KIP proteins, and thereby indirectly inhibiting CDK2-cyclinE complexes (Reynisdottir *et al.*, 1995; Sandhu *et al.*, 1997; Sherr and Roberts, 1999).

1.4 TRANSCRIPTIONAL CONTROL

To ensure precise cell cycle control, proteins that are involved in its regulation must be periodically expressed at specific phases in the cycle. The expression of such growth regulatory proteins is largely regulated at the transcriptional level during specific cell cycle phases by a diverse set of DNA sequence-specific transcription factors and an assortment of co-regulatory factors that bridge the sequence-specific transcription factors to the transcriptional machinery to drive the formation of active transcription initiation complexes (Lemon and Tjian, 2000; Woychik and Hampsey, 2002; Smale and Kadonaga, 2003). This requires the interplay of a multi-protein RNA polymerase II (Pol II) complex and associated general transcription factors (TFIIA, -B, -D, -E, -F, and –H), which are required for promoter recognition and the catalysis of RNA synthesis, in addition to a large number of transcription factors (see figure 1.4; Naar *et al.*, 2001; Woychik and Hampsey, 2002; Smale and Kadonaga, 2003; Taatjes et al., 2004).

The formation of active transcription initiation complexes involves the formation of a multi-protein complex at the transcriptional start site. This process may follow a stepwise assembly mechanism whereby initially a complex is formed between TFIID, TFIIA, and TFIIB capable of recognizing and binding to the TATA promoter element.

13

Subsequently, the recruitment of hypophosphorylated RNA Pol II and TFIIF to this multi-protein-DNA complex forms a stable closed complex. Finally, an activated open complex is formed by the addition of TFIIE and TFIIH, which stimulate an ATP-dependent promoter melting event, followed by promoter clearance and nascent RNA synthesis upon hyperphosphorylation of the RNA Pol II C-terminal domain (Lemon and Tjian, 2000; Woychik and Hampsey, 2002). In contrast to the stepwise assembly model for transcriptional initiation, another model envisions the targeted recruitment of a completely pre-assembled RNA Pol II holoenzyme to the transcriptional start site (Lemon and Tjian, 2000).

The cascade of events that precede the activation of transcription must eventually lead to the basal transcriptional machinery at the core promoter (Butler and Kadonaga, 2002; Levine and Tjian, 2003; Smale and Kadonaga, 2003). In order to initiate promoterdependent transcription or respond to transcriptional regulatory proteins, the core RNA polymerase II enzyme that transcribes protein-coding genes was found to require several additional factors, termed general transcription factors, GTFs (Goodrich *et al.*, 1996; Butler and Kadonaga, 2002; Smale and Kadonaga, 2003). TFIID is a general transcription factor composed of the TATA Box binding protein, TBP, and several TBPassociated factors, TAFs, and has emerged as one of the central components of the transcriptional apparatus (Albright and Tjian, 2000; Woychik and Hampsey, 2002). TFIID functions to recognize the core promoter and provide a surface upon which the other general transcription factors and RNA Pol II can assemble (Naar *et al.*, 2001; Smale and Hampsey, 2002; Woychik and Hampsey, 2002). Furthermore, individual TAFs can recognize specific core promoter elements such as the initiator element, Inr, and the downstream promoter element, DPE, in conjuction with TBP binding to the TATA element to define the start site of transcription (Naar *et al.*, 2001; Smale and Kadonaga, 2003). TAFs also play an important role in transcriptional activation by providing various co-activator interfaces targeted by different activation domains of sequence-specific transcription factors and co-activators (Hochheimer and Tjian, 2003).

Although the general transcription factors are sufficient for accurate initiation by RNA Pol II, transcription stimulation requires the action of sequence-specific transcription factors that bind to cognate DNA elements and interact with general transcription factors or TAFs and serve to recruit the multi-protein RNA Pol II complex to the core promoter, and a variety of multi-protein complexes termed co-regulators (Lemon and Tjian, 2000; Naar et al., 2001). These co-regulators can be divided into two broad categories: (1) those proteins which interact with, or are themselves components of, the RNA polymerase II transcriptional machinery and (2) chromatin modifiers (Naar et al., 2001; Levine and Tjian, 2003). Co-regulators that interact with components of the RNA polymerase II transcriptional machinery are not sequence-specific transcription factors, rather they affect transcriptional outcomes by bridging the sequence-specific transcription factors to the multi-protein RNA polymerase II complex (Goodrich et al., 1996; Albright and Tjian, 2000; Naar et al., 2001; Levine and Tjian, 2003). Chromatin modifiers can be further sub-divided into 2 classes: ATP-dependent nucleosome remodeling complexes and histone modifiers. These proteins may be directly recruited by sequence-specific transcription factors or in some cases may be recruited independently to chromatin through histone interactions (Naar *et al.*, 2001). ATPdependent nucleosome remodeling complexes utilize the energy derived from the hydrolysis of ATP to help sequence-specific transcription factors and the transcriptional apparatus gain access to their cognate DNA sequences by reorganizing repressive chromatin structures by displacing histone-DNA contacts (Naar *et al.*, 2001; Levine and Tjian, 2003). In addition, chromatin structure may be modified through histone acetylation or deacetylation by histone acetlytransferases, HATs, and histone deacetylase complexes, HDACs respectively (Naar *et al.*, 2001; Levine and Tjian, 2003). Actively transcribed genes have been correlated with increased histone acetylation, which counter repressive effects of local chromatin structure, whereas these effects are countered by the actions of HDACs which serve to suppress transcriptional activation of silenced genes (Naar *et al.*, 2001; Levine and Tjian, 2003). Thus, these chromatin-modifying complexes affect chromatin structure to regulate transcriptional outcomes.

Additionally, a variety of covalent histone modifications, including acetylation, phosphorylation, methylation, and ubiquitination provide recruitment sites for interaction with other proteins that are involved in transcriptional regulation (Berger, 2002; Featherstone, 2002). These modifications represent an additional level of combinatorial control since the pairs of modifications and the sequence of alterations determine whether the outcome is active or repressed transcription (Berger, 2002). An additional level of complexity is also provided by histone acetyltransferases, which in addition to modifying histones, also acetylate other target proteins, such as sequence-specific transcription



Figure 1.4: A variety of activities displayed by distinct classes of proteins are involved in regulating gene transcription. Regulated transcription initiation requires the interplay of several classes of multi-subunit complexes that include the RNA polymerase II (Pol II) complex and associated general transcription factors, GTFs, sequence-specific transcription factors and coregulators that collectively bind to their cognate response elements in the DNA sequence, labeled here generically as upstream response element, URE, and proximal response element, PRE, and various chromatin-remodeling and –modifying complexes which act on nucleosomes, depicted here as dark ovals. Dark shapes decorating TFIID, GTFs, and Pol II represent TAFs and other associated polypeptides which comprise these multi-subunit complexes. Together, these activities serve to drive the formation of active transcription initiation complexes. This figure has been adapted from Hochheimer and Tjian, 2003 and Naar *et al.*, 2001.

factors or components of the transcriptional apparatus to alter their activities to regulate transcriptional outcomes (Naar *et al.*, 2001).

Thus, transcriptional control mechanisms in eukaryotic organisms operate with elaborate complexity including diverse sequence-specific transcription factors and a hostof co-regulatory complexes that collectively serve to remodel chromatin structure to facilitate activator DNA binding and recruit additional regulatory proteins, and ultimately recruit the RNA polymerase II transcriptional machinery to specific target genes at specific times, such as specific points in the cell cycle to allow for controlled and orderly progression through the cycle.

1.5 HCF-1 STRUCTURAL ELEMENTS

HCF-1 is synthesized as a 2035 amino acid protein of approximately 300 kD that is autocatalytically processed following transport to the nucleus, at a series of six 26 amino acid repeat elements termed HCF_{PRO} repeats located near the middle of the HCF-1 precursor polypeptide (Kristie and Sharp, 1993; Wilson *et al.*, 1993; Kristie *et al.*, 1995; Wilson *et al.*, 1995a; Vogel and Kristie, 2000b). Cleavage occurs at a glutamate residue, PPCE/THET, within the HCF_{PRO} repeat to generate N- and C-terminal fragments which range in size from approximately 110 kD to 150 kD, that remain non-covalently associated through 2 pairs of self-association sequences located in each fragment (Wilson *et al.*, 1995a; LaBoissiere *et al.*, 1997; Hughes *et al.*, 1999; Wilson *et al.*, 2000). The SAS1 (self-association sequence 1) pair has been mapped to residues 360-402 (SAS1N) and 1812-2002 (SAS1C) while the SAS2 (self-association sequence 2) pair have been mapped to residues 491-755 (SAS2N) and 1436-1756 (SAS2C) (Wilson *et al.*, 2000).

In addition to the HCF_{PRO} repeats and self-association sequences, HCF-1possesses several additional modular domains (see figure 1.5a). Amino acids 20-380 contain six repeated copies of a kelch-like sequence first identified in the Drosophila protein Kelch, proposed to form four-stranded β sheets that assemble into a barrel-like six bladed β -propeller (Wilson *et al.*, 1997; Adams *et al.*, 2000). This domain, termed the HCF kelch domain (also referred to as the VIC, VP16-induced complex, domain) is sufficient to interact with VP16, stabilize the VP16-induced complex on IE gene promoters, and promote transcription (Simmen et al., 1997; Wilson et al., 1997; Lee and Herr, 2001). In addition to subserving a role in HSV IE gene expression, the kelch domain is variously involved in HCF-1-mediated cell cycle progression (Goto et al., 1997), pre-mRNA processing (Ajuh et al., 2002), chromatin association (Wysocka et al., 2001), and recruiting histone methyltransferase enzymes which modify chromatin structure (Wysocka et al., 2003). The kelch domain appears to function as a proteinprotein interaction module (Adams et al., 2000). Not surprisingly, it has been found to mediate interaction between HCF-1 and a variety of proteins (see figure 1.5a). Interestingly, these interaction partners all share a common feature; the presence of a tetrapeptide motif, D/EHxY, now referred to as the HCF-binding motif, HBM. However, interactions between the kelch domain and the HBM are made exquisitely sensitive through variations in the kelch domain and corresponding variations in the residues flanking the HBM. The kelch domain assembles into a six bladed β -propeller with loops that run between the adjacent β -strands of one blade or link adjacent blades that protrude from the flattened β -propeller structure imparting specific protein-protein interaction sites

(Wilson et al., 1997; Adams et al., 2000). Although the overall tertiary structure is conserved, the primary sequence identity of the kelch domain is modest expecially within the loops, allowing for specific protein interactions (Adams *et al.*, 2000). Conversely. the non-conserved sequences flanking the HBM contribute significantly to the interaction with HCF-1 (Wu et al., 1994; Lai and Herr, 1997; Mahajan and Wilson, 2000). This is supported by the fact that mutation of valine 358 to alanine in VP16, which is positioned three residues upstream of the HBM (Wu et al., 1994), as well as mutation of residues 385-387 in VP16, which are downstream of the HBM (Lai and Herr, 1997) contribute to interaction with HCF-1. Thus, the interaction between the HCF-1 kelch domain and HBM-containing partners is based upon the three dimensional β -propeller structure and HBM, however an additional level of sensitivity is provided through variations in the loops of the β -propeller and corresponding variations in the residues flanking the HBM. This situation is similar to interactions between co-activators and nuclear hormone receptors mediated by the LxxLL motif found in co-activators, where selectivity is determined not solely by the LxxLL motif but also the sequence of the flanking residues (Coulthard *et al.*, 2003).

Downstream of the HCF kelch domain lies a region enriched in basic amino acids, termed the basic domain, which is required for HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation (Wilson *et al.*, 1997), and interacts with a variety of cellular transcription factors (figure 1.5a; Wysocka and Herr, 2003) and the Sin3 protein which is part of a histone deacetylase complex (Wysocka *et al.*, 2003). The carboxy-terminal subunit of the HCF-1

Α



Figure 1.5: Schematic representation of HCF-1 and its related proteins. A. The modular domain structure of HCF-1 is shown including the various functions and interaction partners associated with each structural domain. The asterisk indicates the position of the P134S mutation that causes temperature-sensitive cellular proliferation arrest in tsBN67 cells. B. The modular domain structure of HCF-1 related proteins, HCF-2, *Caenorhabditis elegans* (CeHCF), and *Drosophila melanogaster* (dHCF), are shown with conserved domains between HCF proteins indicated by the same shading or pattern as in HCF-1.
polypeptide contains an acidic domain, followed by two fibronectin type 3 (Fn3) repeats and a nuclear localization sequence, NLS.

Downstream of the HCF- 1_{PRO} repeats lies a region enriched in acidic residues termed the acidic domain. This domain has been shown to function as an autonomous transcriptional activation domain and co-expression of the transcriptional co-activator, p300, enhances transactivation by the HCF-1 acidic activation domain suggesting that it functions through recruitment of p300 (Luciano and Wilson, 2002). Importantly, the HCF-1 acidic activation domain cooperates with VP16 to augment viral immediate-early gene expression and improve viral titres (Luciano and Wilson, 2002). Furthermore, the HCF-1 acidic activation domain is required for efficient transactivation by its cellular interaction partners, Luman and Krox20 (Luciano and Wilson, 2002; Luciano and Wilson, 2003). Downstream of the acidic domain, the protein contains two fibronectin type 3 repeats that make up one of the self-association sequences (SAS1C) that tether the N- and C-terminal fragments following proteolytic cleavage (Wilson et al., 2000). Structurally, Fn3 repeats fold into two β sheets packed against each other to form an extended groove that can form a docking site for interacting proteins (Campbell and Spitzfaden, 1994). At the extreme carboxy-terminus of the protein is located a nuclear localization sequence that directs subcellular localization of HCF-1 (LaBoissiere et al., 1999). The NLS is a bipartite sequence composed of two basic residues, a spacer of any ten amino acids, and a cluster of basic amino acids in which 3/5 must be basic (LaBoissiere et al., 1999). This sequence is responsible for the nuclear localization of HCF-1, and also provides a mechanism for the nuclear import of associated proteins such as VP16 (LaBoissiere *et al.*, 1999). Although HCF-1 is predominantly a chromatinassociated nuclear protein (LaBoissiere *et al.*, 1999; Wysocka *et al.*, 2001), HCF-1 is not detected in the nucleus of sensory neurons, where the HSV virus establishes latency (Kristie *et al.*, 1999). Interestingly, reactivation of the virus in mouse model systems results in nuclear localization of HCF-1 indicating that HCF-1 subcellular localization is a critical determinant in the viral lytic/latent cycle (Kristie *et al.*, 1999). Further evidence for a dynamic localization pattern for HCF-1 came with the identification of an HCF-1 interacting protein called HPIP which contains a leucine-rich nuclear export sequence and serves to shuttle HCF-1 out of the nucleus and into the cytosol (Mahajan *et al.*, 2002a). Finally, in primary G0 cells, a 50 kD N-terminal fragment of HCF-1 arises by proteolysis, which can be found in the cytosol (Scarr *et al.*, 2000). Therefore, although HCF-1 contains a *bona fide* NLS, and is predominantly bound to chromatin in the nucleus, certain tissues or phases of the cell cycle may contain cytosolic HCF-1.

1.6 CELLULAR ROLES FOR HCF-1

In addition to its role in viral gene expression (Wysocka and Herr, 2003), HCF-1 is essential for normal cell cycle progression (Goto *et al.*, 1997; Wilson *et al.*, 1997; Julien and Herr, 2003). This fact became evident with the discovery of the hamster temperature-sensitive cell line (tsBN67) that arrests cell cycle reversibly at G0/G1 at the non-permissive temperature (Goto *et al.*, 1997). Analysis of this cell line revealed a temperature-sensitive mutation in HCF-1 in which amino acid 134, which is located within the kelch domain, is mutated from proline to serine, encoded by the single X chromosome-linked allele of the HCF-1 gene (Goto *et al.*, 1997). Importantly, this

function is not unique to tsBN67 cells, as siRNA depletion of HCF-1 was sufficient to cause cell cycle arrest in normal and oncogenically transformed cells (Julien and Herr, 2003). The arrested cells contain active hypophosphorylated pRb (Reilly and Herr, 2002) and the majority have a 2C-DNA content consistent with a G0/G1-phase arrest (Goto *et al.*, 1997; Reilly and Herr, 2002). However, a minority of cells contain active hypophosphorylated pRb, and arrest with a 4C-DNA content (Goto *et al.*, 1997) and are binucleated, consistent with a G0/G1 arrest after improper cytokinesis (Reilly and Herr, 2002). Thus, both cell cycle arrest and a cytokinesis defect are due to loss of HCF-1 function. The functional importance of HCF-1 processing had long been enigmatic but has recently been shown to be required for completion of cytokinesis (Julien and Herr, 2003).

The identification of the P134S mutation causing the tsBN67 phenotype reveals the importance of the kelch domain in cell cycle progression by HCF-1 (Goto *et al.*, 1997; Wilson *et al.*, 1997). Interestingly, the P134S mutation in HCF-1, which results in cell cycle arrest, abrogates binding to VP16 (Wilson *et al.*, 1997) foretelling the existence of cellular factors that mimic VP16 in their interaction with HCF-1. However, the kelch domain alone is not sufficient for cell cycle progression since rescue of the tsBN67 cell cycle progression defect required both the kelch domain and the adjacent basic domain (Wilson *et al.*, 1997), suggesting cooperativity between the two domains in ensuring cellular proliferation. HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation is thus likely the product of interactions with a multitude of cellular factors that target both the kelch and basic domains. The importance of the basic region in cellular proliferation is underscored by

recent studies with the HCF-1 family member HCF-2 and the related Caenorabiditis elegans CeHCF and Drosophila melanogaster dHCF homologues. HCF-1, HCF-2, CeHCF and dHCF share conserved amino- and carboxy-terminal domains, however they lack significant sequence identity with the basic region and the central HCF_{PRO} repeats (Johnson et al., 1999; Liu et al., 1999; Lee and Herr, 2000; Izeta et al., 2003a). Thus, while HCF-2, CeHCF, and dHCF are able to support VP16-induced complex formation (Liu et al., 1999; Lee and Herr, 2002; Mahajan et al., 2002b), these proteins are unable to rescue the temperature-sensitive cell cycle defect in tsBN67 cells (Johnson et al., 1999; Lee and Herr, 2002; Izeta et al., 2003a). In accordance with the basic domain contributing to HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation, various proteins that have a function in cell cycle control have been shown to interact with the basic domain, such as the transcription factors GABP (Vogel and Kristie, 2000a), Sp1 (Gunther et al., 2000), and Sin3 HDAC (Wysocka et al., 2003). Interestingly, evidence suggests that HCF-1 regulates proliferation by opposing pRb family function. Specifically, research has shown that inactivation of the pRb family with SV40 large T antigen and adenovirus E1A can rescue the tsBN67 cell proliferation defect and cytokinesis defect (Reilly et al., 2002). However, HCF-1-mediated cell cycle progression most likely requires more than pRb family inactivation since it was recently shown that although HeLa cells lack functional pRb family proteins due to the presence of the human papilloma virus E7 protein, depletion of HCF-1 results in cell cycle arrest (Julien and Herr, 2003).

In addition to cellular proliferation, the N-terminal kelch domain is necessary and sufficient for chromatin association (Wysocka *et al.*, 2001). At the non-permissive

temperature, the P134S mutation causes dissociation of HCF-1 from chromatin prior to cell cycle arrest, suggesting that loss of HCF-1 chromatin association contributes to the tsBN67 cell proliferation defect (Wysocka *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, the kelch domain has recently been shown to interact with splicing snRNP complexes (Ajuh *et al.*, 2002). HCF-1 is a component of the spliceosome complex and is required for splicing (Ajuh *et al.*, 2002). At the non-permissive temperature the P134S mutation inhibits HCF-1's interaction with splicing snRNPs, causing inefficient spliceosome assembly and inhibiting splicing suggesting that HCF-1-dependent splicing events may also be required for cellular proliferation (Ajuh *et al.*, 2002).

Although the precise molecular roles of HCF-1 in the cell are unknown, HCF-1mediated cell cycle progression results, at least in part, via regulation of gene transcription. HCF-1 possesses the characteristics of a general transcriptional coregulatory factor (Wysocka and Herr, 2003). Through its amino-terminal kelch domain it is thought to indirectly interact with chromatin through association with other DNA binding transcription factors (Wysocka *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, through interactions with histone methyltransferases (Set1/ASH2 HMT) and histone deacetylases (Sin3 HDAC) (Wysocka *et al.*, 2003), which are involved in chromatin modification, and a variety of transcription factors, HCF-1 has been shown to modulate transcription directly (Lu *et al.*, 1998; Luciano and Wilson, 2000; Vogel and Kristie, 2000a; Lin *et al.*, 2002; Luciano and Wilson, 2002; Luciano and Wilson, 2003). Moreover, HCF-1 has been shown to possess an intrinsic transactivation domain that augments viral and cellular gene

transcription in association with its interaction partners (Luciano and Wilson, 2002; Luciano and Wilson, 2003).

1.7 CELLULAR HCF-1 INTERACTION PARTNERS

The large size and modular domain structure of HCF-1 provides many potential protein-protein interaction interfaces. Figure 1.5a illustrates the variety of interactions and the domains of HCF-1 involved in these interactions. HCF-1 has been found to interact with a variety of cellular proteins including DNA-binding transcription factors, transcriptional co-regulatory proteins, and protein- and chromatin-modifying factors. The following is a review of the known HCF-1 interaction partners that may provide insights into the mechanisms of actions of HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation. In addition to binding the viral protein, VP16 (Simmen et al., 1997; Wilson et al., 1997), the amino-terminal kelch domain interacts with the following cellular proteins; Luman (also known as LZIP) (Freiman and Herr, 1997; Lu et al., 1997), Zhangfei (ZF) (Lu and Misra, 2000a), PGC-1 (Lin et al., 2002), Krox20 (Luciano and Wilson, 2003), HPIP (Mahajan et al., 2002a), Set1/ASH2 HMT (Wysocka et al., 2003), and the U1/U5 snRNPs (Ajuh et al., 2002). These are a diverse set of proteins with various functions that share a common feature that targets them to the HCF-1 kelch domain. First identified in VP16, these proteins all share a tetrapeptide motif, D/EHxY, termed the HBM, which targets the kelch domain (Hayes and O'Hare, 1993; Lai and Herr, 1997; Simmen et al., 1997).

1.7.1 Luman (LZIP)

Luman is a 371 amino acid, ubiquitously expressed cyclic AMP response element (CRE)-binding protein/activating transcription factor 1 protein of the basic leucine zipper

superfamily (Freiman and Herr, 1997; Lu et al., 1997). In addition to a basic DNA binding domain, and a leucine zipper motif, Luman contains an amino terminal transactivation domain comprised of two LxxLL motifs, a motif known to mediate interaction with nuclear hormone receptors and found in a number of transcriptional coactivators (Heery et al., 1997; Torchia et al., 1997; Rosenfeld and Glass, 2001) and the HBM (Lu et al., 1998; Luciano and Wilson, 2000). Mutation of the HBM in Luman abrogates binding to HCF-1 and reduces transactivation by Luman, indicating a coactivator function for HCF-1 (Luciano and Wilson, 2000). Conversely, the HCF-1 tsBN67 cell proliferation mutant (P134S) fails to interact with Luman (Freiman and Herr, 1997; Lu et al., 1998). However, a more extensive mutational analysis of the HCF-1 kelch domain demonstrated that binding of Luman was neither necessary nor sufficient for HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation (Mahajan and Wilson, 2000). Luman contains a hydrophobic segment in its carboxy-terminus that functions as an endoplasmic reticulum (ER) transmembrane domain (Lu and Misra, 2000b) and anchors its Nterminus in the cytosol, which is regulated by regulated intramembrane proteolysis (Raggo et al., 2002). In cells overexpressing Luman, HCF-1 was found in the cytosol and these cells are resistant to HSV-1 infection (Lu and Misra, 2000).

1.7.2 Zhangfei

Zhangfei is a 272 amino acid protein, structurally similar to Luman with a basic domain-leucine zipper region, an amino terminal acidic activation domain, and an HCF-binding motif in its C-terminus (Lu and Misra, 2000a). Mutation of the HBM in Zhangfei abrogates binding to HCF-1 and conversely the HCF-1 tsBN67 cell

proliferation mutant (P134S) fails to interact with Zhangfei (Lu and Misra, 2000a). Interestingly, ectopically expressed Zhangfei prevented the expression of several HSV proteins in cells infected with the virus (Lu and Misra, 2000a).

1.7.3 PGC-1

PGC-1 (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ co-activator-1) is a transcriptional co-activator for a variety of nuclear hormone receptors, nuclear respiratory factors, and muscle-specific transcription factors that plays a critical role in regulating multiple aspects of energy metabolism including adaptive thermogenesis, fatty acid β oxidation, hepatic gluconeogenesis, glucose uptake and drives the formation of slow twitch fibres in skeletal muscle (Puigserver and Spiegelman, 2003). PGC-1 α and PGC-1ß are distinct genes encoding proteins of conserved sequence (Puigserver and Spiegelman, 2003). PGC-1 α (797 amino acids) and PGC-1 β (1014 amino acids), in addition to containing an HBM (Lin et al., 2002), also contain LxxLL motifs that are responsible for ligand-dependent interaction with nuclear hormone receptors (Rosenfeld and Glass, 2001; Puigserver and Spiegelman, 2003). They function as transcriptional coactivators and contain an N-terminal acidic activation domain as well as a C-terminal RNA-binding motif (Puigserver and Spiegelman, 2003). Consistent with the presence of an RNA binding motif, PGC-1 α has been found in a complex with splicing factors suggesting that this factor can participate in the RNA splicing process (Monsalve et al., 2000). Sequence analysis of PGC-1 α and PGC-1 β identified the presence of an HCFbinding motif in these proteins (Lin et al., 2002). Subsequent analysis determined that the HCF-1 kelch domain binds to both PGC-1 α and PGC-1 β (Lin et al., 2002) and augments their transcriptional activity, indicating a co-activator function for HCF-1 (Lin *et al.*, 2002).

1.7.4 HPIP

HPIP is a broadly expressed 138 amino acid HCF-1 kelch domain binding protein that contains an HCF-binding motif as well as a leucine-rich nuclear export sequence (Mahajan *et al.*, 2002a). HPIP shuttles between the nucleus and cytosol and leads to an accumulation of HCF-1 in the cytosol which may serve to regulate its function in HSV-1infected cells and/or the uninfected cell (Mahajan *et al.*, 2002a).

1.7.5 KROX20

Krox20, a 470 amino acid protein, is a member of the zinc finger transcription factor family (Chavrier *et al.*, 1988a; Chavrier *et al.*, 1988b). Originally identified as a member of the serum response immediate-early gene family (Chavrier *et al.*, 1988a), subsequent studies have revealed that it is required for normal hindbrain development and myelination of the peripheral nervous system (Schneider-Maunoury *et al.*, 1993; Swiatek and Gridley, 1993; Schneider-Maunoury *et al.*, 1997; Nagarajan *et al.*, 2001). Krox20 was found to interact with HCF-1 using a database search for cellular transcription factors containing the HBM (Luciano and Wilson, 2003). Krox20 contains three zinc fingers in its C-terminus responsible for DNA binding to GC-rich regions and an Nterminal acidic activation domain, within which the HBM is embedded (Vesque and Charnay, 1992; Luciano and Wilson, 2003). Mutation of the HBM diminishes transactivation by Krox20 and abrogates binding to HCF-1 indicating that HCF-1 functions as a co-activator for Krox20 with a contribution from the HCF-1 activation domain (Luciano and Wilson, 2003). Thus, in addition to a role in cellular proliferation, HCF-1 may co-operate with Krox20 in development.

1.7.6 U1/U5snRNPs

HCF-1 was found to co-localize with nuclear structures that contain pre-mRNA splicing factors and to physically interact with complexes containing splicing snRNPs (Ajuh *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, HCF-1 was found to be a component of the spliceosome complex and required for splicing (Ajuh *et al.*, 2002). The HCF-1 tsBN67 cell proliferation mutant (P134S), at the non-permissive temperature, inhibited HCF-1's interaction with U1 and U5 splicing snRNPs, causing inefficient spliceosome assembly and inhibiting splicing, suggesting that HCF-1-dependent splicing events may be required for cell cycle progression (Ajuh *et al.*, 2002).

1.7.7 Set1/ASH2 HMT and Sin3 HDAC

Consistent with a function for HCF-1 as a general transcriptional co-regulatory factor, recent results indicate that HCF-1 interacts with two distinct protein complexes with histone methyltransferase and histone deacetylase activity (Wysocka *et al.*, 2003). The kelch domain interacts with the HBM-containing trithorax-related Set1/ASH2 histone methyltransferase (HMT), generally associated with activation of transcription, while the basic domain associates with the Sin3 histone deacetylase (HDAC) complex, generally associated with repression of transcription (Wysocka *et al.*, 2003). Interestingly, HCF-1 was found in a large complex, tethering HMT and HDAC complexes together even though they are associated with opposing transcriptional outcomes (Wysocka *et al.*, 2003). However it appears that the interactions are context-

dependent since HCF-1 molecules bound to VP16 are selectively bound to the activating histone methyltransferase complex in the absence of the repressive histone deacetylase complex, consistent with its role in activating transcription in this context (Wysocka *et al.*, 2003). This mechanism may be generally used by HCF-1 in its interaction with a variety of transcription factors, since it has been shown to effect both transcriptional co-activation and co-repression (Lu *et al.*, 1998; Luciano and Wilson, 2000; Vogel and Kristie, 2000; Lin *et al.*, 2002; Luciano and Wilson 2002; Luciano and Wilson, 2003).

In addition to the Sin3 histone deacetylase complex (Wysocka *et al.*, 2003), the HCF-1 basic domain interacts with two cellular transcription factors: GABP (Vogel and Kristie, 2000a) and Sp1 (Gunther *et al.*, 2000).

1.7.8 GABP

GABP, a member of the ETS domain transcription factor family (Watanabe *et al.*, 1993; Batchelor *et al.*, 1998), is a heterodimeric factor consisting of a DNA-binding subunit (α subunit) and a transactivation subunit (β subunit) (Watanabe *et al.*, 1993; Sawa *et al.*, 1996; Batchelor *et al.*, 1998). In addition, the β subunit exists in two forms, GABP β 1 and GABP β 2, that differ in their C-termini (Watanabe *et al.*, 1993; de la Brousse *et al.*, 1994). β 1 contains an additional leucine zipper which allows it to homodimerize in addition to heterodimerization with the α subunit, to form heterotetramers, while β 2 does not and only forms heterodimers with the α subunit (Watanabe *et al.*, 1993; de la Brousse *et al.*, 1993; de la Brousse *et al.*, 1993; de la Brousse *et al.*, 1994). HCF-1 was found to interact with both forms of the β subunit (Vogel and Kristie, 2000a). HCF-1 targets the transactivation domain within the β subunit and mutations that reduce GABP transactivation also reduce

HCF-1 binding, indicating that HCF-1 functions as a co-activator for GABP-mediated transcription activation (Sawa *et al.*, 1996; Vogel and Kristie, 2000a). Previous studies have shown that GABP binds to sequences adjacent to the TAATGARAT elements in HSV-1 IE gene promoters (Triezenberg *et al.*, 1988a; LaMarco and Knight, 1989; Douville *et al.*, 1995) and that mutation of these elements decrease VP16-dependent transactivation, suggesting that GABP plays a role in transcription of HSV-1 IE genes (Triezenberg *et al.*, 1988a; Wu *et al.*, 1994). It is anticipated that HCF-1 may assemble GABP into the core enhancer complex along with the VIC complex for synergistic enhancement of IE gene expression.

1.7.9 Sp1

Sp1 is a ubiquitously expressed transcription factor that contains a C-terminal zinc finger DNA binding domain that binds to GC-rich sequences called Sp1 sites, and N-terminal transactivation domains composed of glutamine-rich and serine/threonine-rich stretches (Philipsen and Suske, 1999). Sp1 has been implicated in the activation of a large number of genes and is involved in a diverse set of cellular processes including cell cycle regulation (Philipsen and Suske, 1999; Black *et al.*, 2001). Interestingly, Sp1 sites have been found in the promoters of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor genes and Sp1 has been shown to activate the expression of p15^{INK4b} and p21^{Cip1} (Li *et al.*, 1995; Feng *et al.*, 2000; Pagliuca *et al.*, 2000; Pardali *et al.*, 2000). HCF-1 was found to interact with Sp1 through a yeast 2-hybrid screen using the Sp1 N-terminal transactivation domains as bait (Gunther *et al.*, 2000), however, the functional significance of this interaction remains to be determined.

The C-terminal fragment of HCF-1, which is required for proper completion of cytokinesis (Julien and Herr, 2003), has been shown to interact with two cellular proteins, PP1 (Ajuh *et al.*, 2000) and PDCD2 (Scarr and Sharp, 2002).

1.7.10 PP1

A screen with a digoxygenin-labelled protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) probe identified HCF-1 as a PP1-interacting protein (Ajuh *et al.*, 2000). PP1 is a member of the family of serine/threonine phosphatases and has been shown to be involved in the regulation of several cellular processes including cell division, pre-mRNA processing, and progression and exit from mitosis in mammalian cells (Cohen, 2002). Several proteins have been shown to bind and regulate PP1 activity (Cohen, 2002). Indeed, HCF-1 was shown to inhibit the activity of PP1 although what role this interaction has is currently undefined (Ajuh *et al.*, 2000).

1.7.11 PDCD2

PDCD2 is a ubiquitously expressed 344 amino acid protein, highly homologous to Rp8, a rat gene associated with apoptosis (Kawakami *et al.*, 1995). A yeast 2-hybrid screen using the HCF-1 C-terminal domain as bait identified PDCD2 as an HCF-1 interacting protein (Scarr and Sharp, 2002). PDCD2 was shown to interact with the NCoR/Sin3A corepressor complex and suppress HCF-1-mediated proliferation, indicating antagonistic roles for HCF-1 and PDCD2 in cell cycle regulation (Scarr and Sharp, 2002). Whether PDCD2 prevents HCF-1-mediated proliferation through repression of HCF-1-directed transcription of growth promoting genes is an intriguing possibility that awaits formal proof.

1.8 HCF-1 RELATED PROTEINS

HCF-1 related proteins have thus far been characterized from *Caenorhabditis* elegans (CeHCF), Drosophila melanogaster (dHCF), and humans (HCF-2). As shown in figure 1.5b, HCF-2 and CeHCF share the amino-terminal kelch domain and the carboxyterminal Fn3 repeats with HCF-1, but lack the intervening sequences including the HCF- 1_{PRO} repeats, which are necessary for proteolytic cleavage, and the basic domain which is necessary for cellular proliferation in HCF-1 (Johnson et al., 1999; Liu et al., 1999). Although HCF-2 and CeHCF are able to support VP16-induced complex formation (Liu et al., 1999; Lee and Herr, 2001), consistent with the lack of these two regions, neither HCF-2 nor CeHCF is proteolytically processed or able to rescue the temperaturesensitive cell cycle defect in tsBN67 cells (Johnson et al., 1999; Lee and Herr, 2001). In fact, co-expression of HCF-2 inhibits rescue by HCF-1, suggesting that the two factors share a common interaction partner(s) (Johnson et al., 1999). Unlike HCF-1, CeHCF and HCF-2 lack HCF_{PRO} repeats and are not proteolytically processed (Johnson *et al.*, 1999; Liu et al., 1999). Therefore, it is surprising to find that the SAS1 elements of HCF-1 are conserved in HCF-2 and CeHCF (Wilson et al., 2000). Herr and co-workers (Wilson et al., 2000) suggested that the presence of SAS1 sequences in CeHCF and HCF-2 may indicate a dual role for these sequences in HCF-1 function that is conserved in CeHCF and HCF-2. Thus, it was anticipated that these sequences (SAS1) are conserved in CeHCF and HCF-2, for protein-protein interactions with shared cellular factors.

In contrast to HCF-2 and CeHCF, dHCF contains more regions of similarity to HCF-1 (Mahajan *et al.*, 2002b; Izeta *et al.*, 2003a). In addition to the kelch domain,

which supports dHCF-mediated VP16-induced complex formation, and Fn3 domains, dHCF contains corresponding regions enriched in basic and acidic residues (Mahajan *et al.*, 2002b; Izeta *et al.*, 2003a). However, while these regions are enriched in basic and acidic residues, they do not display significant sequence identity with the corresponding HCF-1 regions (Izeta *et al.*, 2003a). Although dHCF contains a region enriched in basic residues this region most likely lacks functions of the HCF-1 basic region since it cannot substitute for HCF-1 to rescue the temperature-sensitive cell cycle defect in tsBN67 cells (Izeta *et al.*, 2003a).

dHCF, like CeHCF and HCF-2, lacks the HCF_{PRO} repeats and therefore would not be expected to undergo proteolytic processing (Mahajan *et al.*, 2002b; Izeta *et al.*, 2003a). Consistent with the lack of HCF_{PRO} repeats in the primary sequence of dHCF, O'Hare and colleagues found overexpressed dHCF in BHK cells to be unprocessed (Izeta *et al.*, 2003a). In contrast, Wilson and colleagues found overexpressed dHCF in drosophila SL2 cells to undergo proteolytic cleavage at one or more sites within the central region to produce N- and C-terminal fragments which remain non-covalently associated, as with HCF-1 (Mahajan *et al.*, 2002b).

In terms of subcellular localization, dHCF and CeHCF are more similar to HCF-1 than HCF-2 (Lee and Herr, 2001; Izeta *et al.*, 2003a). Like HCF-1, CeHCF and dHCF contain a conserved NLS at their carboxy-termini which is responsible for their nuclear localization (Liu *et al.*, 1999; Lee and Herr, 2001; Izeta *et al.*, 2003a). In contrast, HCF-2 lacks a conserved NLS and localizes to both the nucleus and cytosol in unsynchronized cells (Johnson *et al.*, 1999; Lee and Herr, 2001). Interestingly, a recent report by O'Hare

and colleagues demonstrates that CeHCF contains a dual targeting signal that can target the protein to the mitochondria, in addition to the nucleus, in mammalian cells due to interdigitated determinants located within the CeHCF C-terminus (Izeta *et al.*, 2003b). However, the physiological relevance of this function to this family of proteins remains to be determined.

1.9 OBJECTIVES OF RESEARCH AND KEY FINDINGS

HCF-1 is a transcriptional regulatory protein that was originally identified as an accessory factor for the induction of Herpes Simplex Virus immediate-early genes by the viral transactivator VP16, and has recently emerged as a chromatin-binding transcriptional co-regulator that plays key roles in cellular proliferation, cytokinesis, and pre-mRNA processing (Wysocka and Herr, 2003). A role for HCF-1 in cell cycle regulation has been shown through the finding of a temperature-sensitive hamster cell line, tsBN67, which undergoes cell cycle arrest at G0/G1 at the non-permissive temperature due to a single amino acid mutation in which proline-134 is changed to serine (Goto *et al.*, 1997). As shown in figure 1.5a, HCF-1 is a large protein that contains a variety of modular domains. HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation requires both the N-terminal kelch domain as well as the adjacent basic domain (Wilson *et al.*, 1997). In order to determine how these domains contribute to cellular proliferation we have sought to identify novel protein-protein interactions for these domains.

Interaction partners were sought via two distinct approaches. In one approach we utilized the yeast 2-hybrid screen (Fields and Song, 1989) to search for kelch- and basic domain-interacting partners for HCF-1. Although a screen with the kelch domain only

yielded previously identified HCF-1-interaction partners (ie. Luman and Zhangfei), a screen performed with a fragment of HCF-1 which included the basic domain as bait (HCF-1₄₅₀₋₁₄₃₉) yielded Miz-1, and a previously uncharacterized protein, we have termed HIP-2, as a novel HCF-1 interaction partners. Miz-1, originally identified through 2hybrid screening for c-myc-interacting proteins (Peukert *et al.*, 1997), is an integral part of the anti-mitogenic TGF- β signaling pathway and also contributes to cell cycle arrest following DNA damage and differentiation signals (Seoane *et al.*, 2001; Herold *et al.*, 2002; Seoane *et al.*, 2002; Wu *et al.*, 2003; Zhao *et al.*, 2004).

We have demonstrated that Miz-1 targets the HCF-1 basic domain, and conversely, HCF-1 associates with the Miz-1 N-terminal POZ domain in addition to a C-terminal domain which also functions as a transcriptional activation domain. HCF-1 interaction with Miz-1 was shown to prevent recruitment of the transcriptional co-activator, p300, and consequently repress Miz-1 activation of p15^{INK4b} gene transcription, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, which suggests that HCF-1 can indirectly promote pRB family inactivation by phosphorylation, and hence, cellular proliferation. However, Miz-1 expression did not prevent HCF-1-mediated rescue of the temperature-sensitive cellular proliferation defect in tsBN67 cells.

In addition to Miz-1, the HCF-1 basic domain has been shown to associate with GABP (Vogel and Kristie, 2000a). We sought to characterize its interaction with the HCF-1 basic domain and determine its contribution to HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation. To this end, we have confirmed this interaction and describe a triple alanine mutation within the HCF-1 basic domain which impairs binding to GABP.

Interestingly, this HCF-1 mutant is also impaired in its ability to rescue the temperaturesensitive cellular proliferation defect in tsBN67 cells. In addition, we have utilized HCF-2, a human HCF-1-like protein that antagonizes HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation, to provide additional insights into the role played by basic domain interacting partners in HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation. We demonstrate that HCF-2 associates with both Miz-1 and GABP, and that a small carboxy-terminal fragment of HCF-2 which selectively interacts with GABP mimics the ability of full length HCF-2 to prevent HCF-1-mediated rescue of the temperature-sensitive defect in tsBN67 cells. Together, these results suggest that the HCF-1/GABP interaction may be required for HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation.

The second approach taken to identify kelch domain-interaction partners exploited previous studies that have shown that the interaction between HCF-1 and VP16 and several cellular proteins is mediated by a tetrapeptide motif, D/EHxY, in the interaction partners termed the HCF-binding motif (Wysocka and Herr, 2003). Thus, in order to identify potential HCF-1 kelch domain interaction partners, we conducted database searches for HBM-containing cellular proteins. This approach has generated a large set of putative HCF-1 interaction partners, of which we have shown that two members of the E2F transcription factor family, E2F-1 and E2F-4, contain an HBM and interact with HCF-1. The E2F transcription factor family is a key regulator of cell cycle control which in conjunction with the retinoblastoma protein family determines whether a cell will proliferate, differentiate, or undergo apoptosis. We have focused on the HCF-1/E2F-4 interaction and demonstrate that E2F-4 contains a functional HBM and binds HCF-1 through two domains: the kelch and basic domains. Furthermore, a mutation in the E2F-4 HBM abrogates binding to the kelch domain but not the basic domain, implying that the HBM contacts the kelch domain, as expected, and a second region of E2F-4 contacts the basic domain. As such, the P134S mutation in the context of the kelch domain abrogated binding to E2F-4. Finally, a biological consequence of this interaction was demonstrated when it was shown that expression of E2F-4 prevents HCF-1-mediated rescue of tsBN67 cell cycle progression.

Thus, we have identified Miz-1 and E2F-4 as novel HCF-1 interaction partners. These proteins most likely function in conjunction with the full complement of HCF-1 interaction partners in HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation since this is likely a highly complex process that involves the cooperative interplay with many effector targets that recognize both the kelch and basic domains. As a result of these interactions, it is envisioned that HCF-1 will regulate the expression of a large set of target genes and influence several cellular processes including chromatin modification and pre-mRNA processing that are required for cell cycle progression. A fuller understanding of HCF-1 function in cellular proliferation will be achieved when we ascertain the function and interplay of the multitude of HCF-1 interactions in HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation and how these interactions are regulated throughout the cell cycle by extracellular signaling pathways.

CHAPTER TWO

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 MATERIALS

2.1.1 Chemicals and reagents

The following is a list of chemicals and reagents used in this research, and their suppliers.

Ampicillin Sigma BioRad BioRad protein assay reagent Bovine serum albumin Pharmacia Biotech Calf serum Gibco BRL Chloramphenicol Sigma Complete mini (EDTA-free) protease inhibitor Boehringer Mannheim **BDH** Chemicals Coomassie brilliant blue Crystal violet **BDH** Chemicals ECL reagent Amersham Life Sciences Fetal bovine serum Sigma Gibco BRL Geneticin (G418) Glutathione-sepharose 4B Pharmacia Biotech Hoechst 33258 **Fisher Scientific** IPTG (isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactoside) Biosynth **Boehringer** Mannheim Kanamycin L-glutamine Gibco BRL Luciferin **Biosynth** Lysozyme Sigma Molecular weight standards: 1Kb⁺ DNA ladder Gibco BRL BenchmarkTM protein ladder Life Technologies BenchmarkTM prestained protein ladder Life Technologies Pharmacia Nucleoside triphosphates ONPG (o-nitrophenyl- β -D-galactoside) Sigma Gibco BRL Penicillin/streptomycin PMSF (phenylmethylsulphonylfluoride) Boehringer Mannheim Polvethylene glycol (PEG)-3350 Sigma Roche Protein G-sepharose Reporter lysis buffer (luciferase assay reagent) Promega Salmon testes DNA Sigma Sodium deoxycholate (DOC) Sigma Gibco BRL **Trypsin-EDTA** X-gal (5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indoyl- β -D-galactoside) Biosvnth 3-amino-1,2,4-triazole Sigma

2.1.2 Radiochemicals

³⁵S-methionine (1000Ci/mmol) at 10μCi/μL ¹⁴C-labelled protein ladder Amersham Life Sciences Gibco BRL

2.1.3 Enzymes

Restriction endonucleases and modifying enzymes were purchased from New England Biolabs (NEB). Enzymes not purchased from NEB include: T7 RNA polymerase (Promega), SP6 RNA polymerase (Promega), PFU DNA polymerase (Stratagene), and RNAase A (Pharmacia Biotech).

2.1.4 Antibodies

 α GAL4DBD (RKC51) (Santa Cruz Biotech) is a mouse monoclonal antibody directed against the GAL4 DNA binding domain used at a concentration of 0.1µg/mL in Western blotting. α V5 (Invitrogen) is a mouse monoclonal antibody directed against a 14 amino acid sequence (GKPIPNPLLGLDST) found in the P and V proteins of the paramyxovirus, SV5 used at a concentration of 0.1µg/mL in Western blotting. α FLAG M2 (Sigma) is a mouse monoclonal antibody raised against a FLAG octapeptide, DYKDDDDK, used at a concentration of 0.5µg/mL. α HA (12CA5) (Roche) is a mouse monoclonal antibody directed against the hemagglutinin protein of human influenza virus used at a concentration of 1µg/mL. α E2F-4 (A-20) (Santa Cruz Biotech) is a rabbit polyclonal antibody directed against the C-terminal portion of the human E2F-4 protein used at a concentration of 0.5µg/mL. Anti-mouse Ig and anti-rabbit Ig secondary antibodies from sheep and donkey respectively (Amersham Life Sciences), were horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-linked and used at a dilution of 1:10000.

2.1.5 Oligonucleotides

2.1.5.1 Preparation of oligonucleotides

Oligonucleotides were purchased from MOBIX (McMaster University Central Facility) purified by OPC (trityl column purification). Oligonucleotide concentrations were determined using the formula $C = OD/\varepsilon$, where OD refers to the optical density of the oligonucleotide as provided by the manufacturer, ε is the extinction coefficient of the oligonucleotide calculated as described (Ausubel *et al.*, 1994), and C is the concentration in mol/L. Oligonucleotides were purchased from MOBIX and resuspended in sterile water to a final concentration of 100µM.

Code #	Sequence 5'→3'	Mutation Created
AB27038	GGCACGACCACCATCGCCGCAGCCATCCCCATGTCGGCC	HCF-1 769-771A
AB27054	CACCATCATCAAAACCGCCGCCGCGTCGGCCATCATCACC	HCF-1 772-774A
AB27056	CAAAACCATCCCCATGGCGGCCGCCATCACCCAGGCGGGC	HCF-1 775-777A
AB27073	CCCATGTCGGCCATCGCCGCCGCGGCGGCGCCACGGGTG	HCF-1 778-780A
AB27070	GCCATCATCACCCAGGCGGCCGCCACGGGTGTGACC	HCF-1 781-783A
AB27075	CACCCAGGCGGGCGCCGCGGCTGCGACCAGCAGTCCTGGC	HCF-1 784-786A
AB27204	GCGGGCGCCACGGGTGCGGCCAGCAGTCCTGGCATC	HCF-1 786-787A
AB27206	GCCACGGGTGTGACCGCCGCTCCTGGCATCAAGTCC	HCF-1 788-789A
AB26939	CGGGTGTGACCAGCAGTGCTGCCGCCAAGTCCCCCATCACCATC	HCF-1 790-792A
AB26941	CCAGCAGTCCTGGCATCGCGGCCGCCATCACCATCATCACCACC	HCF-1 793-795A
AB26820	GGCATCAAGTCCCCCGCCGCCGCCATCACCACCAAGGTG	HCF-1 796-798A
AB26931	GTCCCCATCACCATCGCCGCCGCCAAGGTGATGACTTCAGG	HCF-1 799-801A
AB27196	GGCATCAAGTCCCCCATCAAGGTGATGACTTCAGGAAC	HCF-1 D797-801
AB27194	CATCACCATCATCACCACCGGAACTGGAGCACCTGCG	HCF-1 D802-806
AB27200	GGCATCAAGTCCCCCATCGGAACTGGAGCACCTGCG	HCF-1 D797-806
AB23873	CAAAAACGGGCCCCCTTCGTGTCCTCGACTC	HCF-1 P134S
ML077	CCGGGAGACCACGATGCTATCTACAACCTGGACG	E2F-4 Y392A

Table 1: Oligonucleotides for site-directed mutagenesis^a

a. Nomenclature for mutations generated is as follows: For single amino acid mutations the wild type amino acid precedes the numerical position, followed by the mutated amino acid, in single letter amino acid code. For triple alanine substitutions, the residues mutated are indicated numerically, followed by the single letter amino acid code for alanine. For amino acid deletion mutants, the deleted residues are indicated numerically, preceded by Δ . Please note that complementary oligonucleotides are not shown.

Code #	Sequence 5'→3'	Function
AB15229	GGATCCGAATTCCAGGCTGCCCCGCACCCCCG	HCF-1 residue 450 (F) ^a
AB15230	GAATTCGTCGACGTTGGAAGTGACAGTGGTGGC	HCF-1 residue 1439 (R) ^b
AB13348	GAATTCGGATCCATGGCTTCGGCCGTGTCGCCCGCC	HCF-1 residue 1 (F)
AB13345	GAATTCGTCGACCTCGAGTCACAGGGAGTTGGTGTTGGCGCG	HCF-1 residue 380 (R)
AB17516	GCGAATTCGGATCCAGTGCTGTGGCCCCCCGCCCC	HCF-1 residue 902 (R)
AB17627	GCGGATCCGAATTCATCCTGGGCATCAGCAGCGTC	HCF-1 residue 750 (F)
AB17420	GGATTCGAATTCAAGGGGGGCCCCGGGACAGCCA	HCF-1 residue 836 (R)
AB24712	GCGGATCCAGTGATGATTTTCGCAGGTGC	HCF-1 residue 816 (R)
AB25909	GCGGATCCAGGTGCTCCAGTTCCTGAAGT	HCF-1 residue 811 (R)
AB25910	GCGGATCCTGAAGTCATCACCTTGGTGGT	HCF-1 residue 806 (R)
AB25911	GCGGTGGTGATGATGGTGATGG	HCF-1 residue 801 (R)
AB24713	GCGGATCCGATGGGGGGACTTGATGCCAGG	HCF-1 residue 796 (R)
AB24709	GCGAATTCAAAACCATCCCCATGTCGGCC	HCF-1 residue 770 (F)
AB24710	GCGAATTCCCTGGCATCAAGTCCCCCATC	HCF-1 residue 790 (F)
AB17421	GAATTCGGATCCAGTGCTGTGGCCCCCGCCCC	HCF-1 residue 902 (R)
AB19883	GCGGGATCCCTCGAGCTTAAGCACCACCTGGGTCAC	HCF-1 residue 836 (R)
AB17472	GCGGATCCGAATTCCAGGCTGCCCCGCACCCCCG	HCF-1 residue 450 (F)
AB17473	GCGAATTCCTCGAGAAGCACCACCTGGGTCACTCC	HCF-1 residue 836 (R)
AB24438	GCGAATTCGATATCTCGCTTCGGCCGTGTCGCCCGCC	HCF-1 residue 2 (F)
AB24439	GCGGATCCGATATCAGTGCTGTGGCCCCCGCCCC	HCF-1 residue 902 (R)
AB23963	GCGGATCCCTCGAGAGTGCTGTGGCCCCCCGC	HCF-1 residue 902 (R)
AB23998	GCGAATTCCTCGAGATCCTGGGCATCAGCAGCGTC	HCF-1 residue 750 (F)

Tuble 2. Ougonucleonues used to I CK amplify IICI -1 fragments for clon	Table 2:	Oligonucleotides	used to PCR	amplify HCF-	1 fragments	for cloning
---	----------	------------------	-------------	--------------	-------------	-------------

a. (F) indicates the primer functions as a forward primer in PCR reactions and starts with the residue indicated.

b. (R) indicates the primer functions as a reverse primer in PCR reactions and ends with the residue indicated.

Table 3: Oligonucleotid	s used to PCR ampli	fy HCF-2 fragments	for cloning
-------------------------	---------------------	--------------------	-------------

Code #	Sequence 5'→3'	Function
AB30435	GCGGATCCCTCGAGGGAGTTGGTAGTGGCTTTG	HCF-2 residue $373 (R)^{a}$
AB25638	GCGGATCCTCAATTTAAAGGTGCTTTCTTATTG	HCF-2 residue 792 (R)
AB30434	GCGAATTCCTCGAGTTTCATGTCAAGTGGGAT	HCF-2 residue 373 (F) ^b
AB30138	GCTCCCGCTTTCACTGTGGCCAC	HCF-2 residue 596 (R)
AB30140	GCGAATTCATAGGTCCTTTCAGCAAAATC	HCF-2 residue 662 (F)
AB30141	GCGAATTCAGTCAACTTGTGTTCATGAGG	HCF-2 residue 727 (F)
AB28948	GCGAATTCGAACGACAATGGTGTGATGTG	HCF-2 residue 596 (F)
AB30349	GCGAATTCCTCGAGGCGGCTCCCAGCCTCCTCAAC	HCF-2 residue 2 (F)
ML894	GCGAATTCGCATGCTGGCGGCTCCCAGCCTCCTCAAC	HCF-2 residue 2 (F)
ML895	GCGGATCCTCAGCAGTTGGTAGTGGCTTT	HCF-2 residue 373 (R)

a. (R) indicates the primer functions as a reverse primer in PCR reactions and ends with the residue indicated.

b. (F) indicates the primer functions as a forward primer in PCR reactions and starts with the residue indicated.

Code #	Sequence $5' \rightarrow 3'$	Function
AB17506	GCGGATCCCTCGACACCATGGACTTTCCCCAGCACAGC	Miz-1 residue 1 (F) ^a
AB20155	GCGGGATCCGCCATGGCCCATGCCCTCAAGTCACTTGCT	Miz-1 residue 109 (F)
AB18629	GGGAATTCGGATCCCATGCCCTCAAGTCACTTGCT	Miz-1 residue 109 (F)
AB20884	GCGGGATCCCTTGTGGATGACGGAGCCGTA	Miz-1 residue 308 (R) ^b
AB21451	GCGAATTCGCCATGGCCGCGGCCAGCGGTGCAGAGCAG	Miz-1 residue 176 (F)
AB21452	GCGGATCCGGCCTCGGAGCCGAGCTCCTG	Miz-1 residue 284 (R)
AB20156	GCGGGATCCGAATTCCTTGTGGATGACGGAGCCGTA	Miz-1 residue 308 (R)
AB17507	GCGAATTCAGATCTTCACTCGGCAGGCGGGGGGACA	Miz-1 residue 803 (R)
AB22595	GCGAATTCGCCATGGCGTGTGACTCCTGTGGGGGACAAG	Miz-1 residue 719 (F)
AB22596	GCGGATCCGTGGATTCGCACATGCTGAGC	Miz-1 residue 738 (R)
AB22536	GCGAATTCGCCATGGCGAAAGCTGTGAAGCAAGTGCAG	Miz-1 residue 701 (F)
AB21813	GCGAATTCGCCATGGACTTTCCCCAGCACAGC	Miz-1 residue 1 (F)
AB21814	GCGGATCCGCGGCCGCGCAGGCCGTGATGATGTCCTG	Miz-1 residue 109 (R)
AB21815	GCGAATTCGCCATGGCGCAGGGCAAGGCAGGCATCAAG	Miz-1 residue 637 (F)
AB21816	GCGGATCCTCACTCGGCAGGCGGGGGACA	Miz-1 residue 803 (R)
AB21817	GCGGATCCTCAGGCGTAGAGGATGTGAGTGTT	Miz-1 residue 718 (R)

Table 4: Oligonucleotides used to PCR amplify Miz-1 fragments for cloning

a. (F) indicates the primer functions as a forward primer in PCR reactions and starts with the residue indicated.

b. (R) indicates the primer functions as a reverse primer in PCR reactions and ends with the residue indicated.

Table 5: Sequencing Primers

Code #	Sequence $5' \rightarrow 3'$	Function
ML434	CCCCGCCCCGTTGACGC	5' primer for pFLAG-CMV-6c
AB18034	TCACCGAAACGCGCGAGG	3' primer for pGEX
AB9324	GGGCTGGCAAGCCACGTTGGTG	5' primer for pGEX
AB14974	GAAGAGAGTAGTAACAAAGG	5' primer for pGBT9
AB16219	TTCGCCCGGAATTAGCTT	3' primer for pGBT9
AB18969	GATGTATATAACTATCTA	5' primer for pGADGH
M13 forward primer	GTAAAACGACGGCCAGT	3' primer for pGADGH

2.1.6 Plasmids

2.1.6.1 Vectors

pGBT9 (Clontech): A yeast vector used in the yeast 2-hybrid system to express GAL4 DNA binding domain (amino acids 1-147) fusions. Contains a multiple cloning

site (MCS) downstream of the GAL4 DBD coding region and a tryptophan marker for selection on auxotrophic media.

pGEX (Pharmacia Biotech): A bacterial vector that permits inducible protein expression with IPTG, used to express GST fusions. An MCS is present downstream of the GST coding region.

pGEM5zf (Promega): A vector used for *in vitro* transcription/translation reactions containing a T7 RNA polymerase promoter upstream from an MCS.

pSPUTK: A vector used for *in vitro* transcription/translation reactions containing an SP6 RNA polymerase promoter upstream from an MCS, kindly provided by Dr. David Andrews (McMaster University).

pSG424: A mammalian expression vector used to express GAL4 DNA binding domain (amino acids 1-147) fusions as described (Sadowski and Ptashne, 1989), provided by Dr. John Hassell (McMaster University). Contains a multiple cloning site (MCS) downstream of the GAL4 DBD coding region.

pFLAG-CMV-6c (Sigma): A mammalian expression vector used to express the protein of interest with a N-terminal FLAG tag. Contains a multiple cloning site (MCS) downstream of the FLAG coding region.

pCMV-myc-Nuc (Invitrogen): A mammalian expression vector used to express the protein of interest with a C-terminal myc tag and tandem nuclear localization sequences. Contains a multiple cloning site (MCS) upstream of the myc and NLS coding regions.

2.1.6.2 Plasmids from other sources

pSV2-NEO (Clontech): A vector containing the neomycin resistance cassette used to select transfected mammalian cells under selection with geneticin (G418).

pGAD424-VP16₁₋₄₀₄: A yeast expression vector for an N-terminal fragment of VP16 spanning residues 1-404 fused to the GAL4 activation domain was provided by J. Schmelter (Schmelter *et al.*, 1996).

pTOPO-Miz-1_{FL and ΔPOZ}: Mammalian expression vectors for full length Miz-1 and Miz-1 ΔPOZ were provided by Dr. Robert Tjian (University of California, Berkeley) (Ziegelbauer *et al.*, 2001).

pFLAG-C1: A mammalian expression vector for full length HCF-1 (C1) (spanning residues 3-2035) containing an N-terminal FLAG tag was provided by Dr. Tom Kristie (NIH, Maryland).

pGADGH-GABP($\beta 2$)₆₀₋₃₄₇: A yeast expression vector for GABP($\beta 2$) spanning residues 60-347 isolated from a yeast 2-hybrid screen using HCF-1 as bait was provided by Dr. Tom Kristie (Vogel and Kristie, 2000a).

p(5x)GAL4LUC: A luciferase reporter gene plasmid containing five repeated GAL4 response elements upstream of the luciferase coding region, provided by Dr. John Hassell.

pSG424-VP16_{AAD}: A mammalian expression vector for a GAL4 DBD fusion to the VP16 acidic activation domain, provided by Dr. I. Sadowski, UBC (Sadowski and Ptashne, 1989).

p15^{INK4b}LUC: A luciferase reporter gene plasmid containing the human p15^{INK4b} promoter spanning -113/+60 upstream of the luciferase coding region (Staller *et al.*, 2001) provided by Dr. Martin Eilers (Institute of Molecular Biology and Tumour Research, Marburg, Germany).

pPK7-Miz-1: A mammalian expression vector for full length Miz-1 (Peukert *et al.*, 1997) provided by Dr. Martin Eilers.

pMNBabeIRESc-myc: A mammalian expression vector for full length c-myc provided by Dr. Linda Penn (University of Toronto).

p300-VP16: A mammalian expression vector for p300 fused to VP16 for use in the mammalian 2-hybrid assay for interaction with GAL4DBD-Miz-1, provided by Dr. Robert Eckner (University of Zurich).

pGEX-p300₁₅₇₂₋₂₃₇₁: A bacterial expression vector for a fragment of p300 spanning residues 1572-2371 fused to GST was provided by Dr. Robert Eckner.

pcDNA-myc: A plasmid used in *in vitro* transcription/translation reactions with T7 RNA polymerase to produce full length myc was provided by Dr. Martin Eilers.

pGEX-VP16₁₋₄₀₄: A bacterial expression vector for an N-terminal fragment of VP16 spanning residues 1-404 fused to GST was provided by J. Knez (Knez *et al.*, 2003).

pSPUTK-HCF- $1_{612-902}$: A fragment encompassing HCF-1 residues 612-902 was isolated by digesting pGBT9-HCF- $1_{450-902}$ plasmid with *PstI/Bam*HI (site located in the

3' primer) and inserted into pSPUTK digested with *PstI/Bam*HI. This construct was created by Sushmita Pamidi.

pCGN-HCF-1: A mammalian expression vector for full length HCF-1 containing an N-terminal HA tag and a C-terminal myc tag (Wilson *et al.*, 1997) was provided by Dr. Winship Herr (Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory).

pCGN-HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁: A mammalian expression vector for an N-terminal fragment of HCF-1 spanning residues 1-1011 containing an N-terminal HA tag (Wilson *et al.*, 1997) was provided by Dr. Angus Wilson (New York University).

pCGN-HCF- $1_{1-1011P134S}$: Identical to the plasmid described above except the HCF-1 coding sequence contains the P134S mutation in which proline-134 is changed to serine (Johnson *et al.*, 1999). This plasmid was also provided by Dr. Angus Wilson.

pCGN-HCF- 1_{P134S} : This mammalian expression vector is identical to pCGN-HCF-1 except the HCF-1 coding sequence contains the P134S mutation in which proline-134 is changed to serine. It was constructed by Jozo Knez by isolating a *SpeI/XhoI* fragment from pCGN-HCF-1 and inserting this fragment into pCGN-HCF- $1_{1-1011P134S}$.

pCGN-HCF-2: A mammalian expression vector for full length HCF-2 containing an N-terminal HA tag (Johnson *et al.*, 1999) was provided by Dr. Angus Wilson.

pCMV-HA-E2F-1; pCMV-HA-E2F-4; pCMV-HA-E2F-5: Mammalian expression vectors for full length E2F protein containing N-terminal HA tags provided by Dr. Peter Whyte (McMaster University). pGEX-E2F-4_{C70}: A bacterial expression vector producing a GST fusion to the C-terminal 70 amino acids of E2F-4, provided by Dr. Peter Whyte (McMaster University).

pBSK-p130: A plasmid used in *in vitro* transcription/translation reactions with T7 RNA polymerase to produce full length p130 was provided by Dr. Peter Whyte (McMaster University).

2.1.6.3 Plasmids isolated by yeast 2-hybrid screening

pGADGH-Miz- $1_{269-803}$: A plasmid isolated in the HCF- $1_{450-1439}$ screen which encodes amino acids 269-803 of Miz-1 fused to the GAL4 activation domain and contains a leucine marker.

pGADGH-ZF₉₋₂₇₂: A plasmid isolated in the HCF-1 kelch domain screen which encodes amino acids 9-272 of Zhangfei (ZF) fused to the GAL4 activation domain and contains a leucine marker.

2.1.6.4 Plasmids constructed for research

2.1.6.4.1 Yeast 2-hybrid plasmids

pGBT9-HCF-1 (450-1439): An HCF-1 fragment encoding amino acids 450-1439 was produced by PCR with pCGN-HCF-1 as template using AB15229/AB15230 primers, digested with *Eco*RI/*Sal*I, and inserted into pGBT9.

pGBT9-HCF-1(1-380): An HCF-1 fragment encoding amino acids 1-380 was excised from pGEM5zf-HCF-1₁₋₃₈₀ using EcoRI/SalI and inserted into pGBT9.

pGBT9-HCF-1 (1-902): HCF-1 fragment 1-902 was produced by PCR with pCGN-HCF-1 as template using AB23800/AB17516 primers, digested with *EcoRI/Bam*HI, and inserted into pGBT9.

pGBT9-HCF-1 (450-902; 750-902; 450-836; 750-836; 836-902; 750-816; 750-811; 750-806; 750-801; 750-796; 770-836; 790-836; and 790-902): HCF-1 fragments were produced by PCR with pCGN-HCF-1 as template using AB15229/AB17516, AB17627/AB17516, AB17472/AB17473, AB17627/AB19883, AB17420/AB17421, AB17627/AB24712, AB17627/AB25909, AB17627/AB25910, AB17627/AB25911, AB17627/AB24713, AB24709/AB19883, AB24710/AB19883, and AB24710/AB17516 primers respectively, digested with *Eco*RI/*Bam*HI, and inserted into pGBT9 to generate pGBT9 HCF-1 derivatives.

pGBT9-HCF-2 (2-373; 373-596; 596-792; 662-792; and 727-792): HCF-2 fragments were produced by PCR with pCGN-HCF-2 as template using AB30349/30435, AB30434/AB30138, AB28948/AB25638, AB30140/AB25638, and AB30141/AB25638 primers respectively, digested with *Eco*RI/*Bam*HI, and inserted into pGBT9 to generate pGBT9 HCF-2 derivatives.

pGBT9-HCF-1₇₅₀₋₉₀₂ (769-771Ala; 772-774Ala; 775-777Ala; 778-780Ala: 781-783Ala; 784-786Ala; 786-787Ala; 788-789Ala; 790-792Ala; 793-795Ala; 796-798Ala; 799-801Ala; Δ797-801; Δ802-806; Δ797-806): Mutants 769-771Ala, 772-774Ala, 775-777Ala, 778-780Ala, 781-783Ala, 784-786Ala, 786-787Ala, 788-789Ala, 790-792Ala, 793-795Ala, 796-798Ala, 799-801Ala, Δ797-801, and Δ802-806 within the GAL4DBD- HCF-1₇₅₀₋₉₀₂ polypeptide were constructed using the Stratagene QuikChange Method as described by the manufacturer with pGBT9-HCF-1₇₅₀₋₉₀₂ as template using AB27038, AB27054, AB27056, AB27073, AB27070, AB27075, AB27204, AB27206, AB26939, AB26941, AB26820, AB26931, AB27196, and AB27194 as primers (along with the complementary primer) respectively. Mutant Δ 797-806 was constructed with pGBT9-HCF-1₇₅₀₋₉₀₂(Δ 797-801) as template and AB27200 as primer (along with the complementary primer) to delete residues 802-806.

pGBT9-Miz-1_{FL}: A fragment encompassing Miz-1 full length was isolated from pPK7-Miz-1 by digestion with EcoRI/BamHI (a partial digest was done for BamHI in which the plasmid was digested with a 1/10 dilution of BamHI for only 10 minutes since the Miz-1 fragment contained an internal BamHI site in addition to the BamHI site at the 3' end), and inserted into pGBT9.

pGBT9-Miz- $1_{\Delta POZ}$: A fragment encoding Miz-1 residues 110-803 was isolated from pEGFP-C2-Miz- $1_{\Delta POZ}$ by digestion with *Eco*RI and inserted into pGBT9.

pGBT9-Miz-1 (1-109; 176-284; 637-803; 637-718; 637-738; 701-803; and 701-738; 719-803): Miz-1 fragments were produced by PCR with pPK7-Miz-1 as template using AB21813/AB21814, AB21451/AB21452, AB21815/AB21819, AB81815/AB21817, AB21815/AB22596, AB22536/21816, AB22536/AB22596 and AB22595/AB21816 primers respectively, digested with *Eco*RI/*Bam*HI, and inserted into pGBT9 to generate pGBT9-Miz-1 derivatives. 2.1.6.4.2 GST pull-down assay plasmids

pGEX4T1-HCF-1 (750-902 and 770-836): Fragments of HCF-1 were excised from the corresponding pGBT9-HCF-1 clones with *Eco*RI/*Sal*I and inserted into pGEX4T1 to generate pGEX4T1-HCF-1 derivatives.

pGEX4T1-Miz-1_{POZ}: A fragment of Miz-1 encoding residues 1-109 (POZ) was excised from pGBT9-Miz-1_{POZ} with *Eco*RI/*Not*I and inserted into pGEX4T1.

pGEX4T1-Miz-1 (637-803; 637-738; and 719-803): Fragments of Miz-1 encoding residues 637-803, 637-738, and 719-803 were excised from the corresponding pGBT9-Miz-1 plasmids with *Eco*RI/*Sal*I and inserted into pGEX4T1.

pGEX4T1-HCF-2 (373-596; 596-792; 727-792; and 662-792): Fragments of HCF-2 encoding residues 373-596, 596-792, 727-792, and 662-792 were excised from the corresponding pGBT9-HCF-2 plasmids with *Eco*RI/*Sal*I and inserted into pGEX4T1.

pSPUTK-HCF-2 (FL and 2-373): HCF-2 full length and 2-373 fragments were produced by PCR with pCGN-HCF-2 as template using ML894/AB25638 and ML894/ML895 respectively as primers, digested with *SphI/Bam*HI and inserted into pSPUTK digested with *SphI/Bam*HI.

pGEM5zf-Miz-1_{FL}: pGADGH-Miz-1₂₆₉₋₈₀₃ was digested with *NotI/XhoI* to isolate the C-terminal fragment of Miz-1, and pPK7-Miz-1 was digested with *Nco1/NotI* to isolate the N-terminal fragment. These two fragments were ligated to each other using the common *NotI* site to generate a fragment of full length Miz-1 which was inserted into pGEM5zf digested with *NcoI/Sal*I (which gives the same cohesive end as the *Xho*I digest) to yield the full length Miz-1 coding sequence downstream of a T7 promoter for use in *in vitro* transcription/translation reactions.

pSPUTK-Miz-1 (POZ and 637-803): Fragments encoding the Miz-1 POZ domain (residues 1-109) and residues 637-803 were isolated by digesting the corresponding pGBT9-Miz-1 plasmids with *NcoI/Bam*HI and inserted into pSPUTK.

pSPUTK-Miz-1₁₀₉₋₃₀₈: A fragment encoding Miz-1 residues 109-308 was generated by PCR with pPK7-Miz-1 as template using primers AB20155/AB20156, digested with *BamHI/Eco*RI, and inserted temporarily into pCANHA1 (a vector supplied by Dr. J. Hassell). The fragment was subcloned from pCANHA1 into pSPUTK digested with *NcoI/Eco*RI, by isolating the fragment by digestion with *NcoI/Eco*RI.

pGEM5zf-HCF-1₁₋₉₀₂: A fragment of HCF-1 encoding residues 1-902 was generated by PCR with pCGN-HCF-1 as template using AB24438/AB24439 as primers, digested with EcoRV, and inserted into pGEM5zf.

pGEM5zf-HCF-1_{1-902P134S}: A P134S mutation was generated in HCF-1₁₋₉₀₂ using the Stratagene QuikChange Method as described by the manufacturer with pGEM5zf-HCF-1₁₋₉₀₂ as template using AB23873 as primer (and its complementary primer).

pGEM5zf-HCF-1₁₋₃₈₀: A fragment of HCF-1 encoding residues 1-380 was generated by PCR with pCGN-HCF-1 as template using AB13348/AB13345 as primers, phosphorylated and ligated into pGEM5zf digested with EcoRV.

pGEX-E2F-4_{C70Y392A}: A Y392A mutation was generated in E2F-4_{C70} using the Stratagene QuikChange Method as described by the manufacturer with pGEX-E2F-4_{C70} as template using ML077 as primer (and its complementary primer).

2.1.6.4.3 Mammalian expression plasmids

pSG424-Miz-1_{FL}: A fragment of Miz-1 full length was excised from the corresponding pGBT9-Miz-1 plasmid with *Xho*I (which is located in the GAL4 DBD) and *Bam*HI (a partial digest was done for *Bam*HI in which the plasmid was digested with a 1/10 dilution of *Bam*HI for only 10 minutes since the Miz-1 fragment contained an internal *Bam*HI site in addition to the *Bam*HI site at the 3' end), and inserted into pSG424.

pSG424-Miz-1_{Δ POZ}: A fragment of Miz-1 encoding residues 110-803 was excised from the corresponding pGBT9-Miz-1 plasmid with *Xho*I (which is located in the GAL4 DBD) and *Bam*HI (a partial digest was done for *Bam*HI in which the plasmid was digested with a 1/10 dilution of *Bam*HI for only 10 minutes since the Miz-1 fragment contained an internal *Bam*HI site in addition to the *Bam*HI site at the 3' end), and inserted into pSG424. pSG424-Miz-1 (176-284; 637-803; 637-718; 701-803; and 701-738): Fragments of Miz-1 encoding residues 176-284, 637-803, 637-718, 701-803, and 701-738 were excised from the corresponding pGBT9-Miz-1 plasmids with *Xho*I (which is located in the GAL4 DBD)/*Bam*HI and inserted into pSG424.

pCMV/myc/nuc-HCF-1₇₅₀₋₉₀₂: A fragment of HCF-1 encoding residue 750-902 was generated by PCR with pCGN-HCF-1 as template using AB23998/AB23963 as primers, digested with *Xho*I and inserted into pCMV/myc/nuc plasmid.

pFLAG-CMV-6c-HCF-1 (1-902; 450-902; 750-902 and 770-836): Fragments of HCF-1 encoding residues 1-902, 450-902, 750-902, and 770-836 were excised from the corresponding pGBT9-HCF-1 plasmids with *Eco*RI/*Bam*HI and inserted into pFLAG-CMV-6c.

pFLAG-CMV-6c-HCF- $1_{1-902P134S}$: A P134S mutation was generated in the pFLAG-CMV-6c-HCF- 1_{1-902} using the Stratagene QuikChange Method as described by the manufacturer using AB23873 as primer (and its complementary primer).

pFLAG-CMV-6c-HCF-1₁₋₃₈₀: A fragment of HCF-1 encoding residues 1-380 was excised from the corresponding pGBT9-HCF-1 plasmid with *Eco*RI/*Sal*I and inserted into pFLAG-CMV-6c.

pFLAG-CMV-6c-HCF- $1_{1-380P134S}$: A P134S mutation was generated in the pFLAG-CMV-6c-HCF- 1_{1-380} using the Stratagene QuikChange Method as described by the manufacturer using AB23873 as primer (and its complementary primer).

pFLAG-CMV-6c-HCF-2 (2-373; 373-596; 662-792): Fragments of HCF-2 encoding residues 2-373, 373-596, and 662-792 were excised from the corresponding pGBT9-HCF-2 plasmids with *Eco*RI/*Bam*HI and inserted into pFLAG-CMV-6c.

pCGN-HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁ (769-771Ala; 781-783Ala; and 793-795Ala): Mutants in pCGN-HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁ were generated using the Stratagene QuikChange Method as described by the manufacturer using AB27038; AB27070; and AB26941 (along with the complementary primers) respectively as primers.

pCMV-HA-E2F-4 (Y392A): A Y392A mutation was generated in pCMV-HA-E2F-4 by PCR mutagenesis using ML077 (along with its complementary primer).

pEGFP-C2-Miz- $1_{\Delta POZ}$: A Miz- $1_{\Delta POZ}$ fragment was generated by PCR with pPK7-Miz-1 as template using AB18629/AB17507, digested with *Eco*RI and inserted into pEGFP-C2. This plasmid contains a kanamycin resistance cassette.

2.1.7 Organisms and Strains

2.1.7.1 Bacteria

Escherichia coli (*E. coli*) **DH5** α was used in plasmid cloning and amplification unless otherwise noted. Strain **HB101** is *leuB* deficient and was therefore used to select pGADGH plasmids isolated from yeast containing both pGBT9 and pGADGH plasmids. Strain **BL21(DE3)** (Novagen) was specifically used to express GST fusion proteins since
it lacks *lon* and *ompT* proteases and allows for IPTG-inducible expression of GST fusion proteins from pGEX plasmids.

2.1.7.2 Yeast

Saccharomyces cerevisiae **Y190** (MAT α , leu2-3,112, ura3-52, trp1-901, his3- Δ 200, ade2-101, gal4 Δ 80 Δ URA3 GAL-lacZ, LYS GAL-HIS3, CYH^r) and **HF7c** (MAT α , ura3-52, his3-200, ade2-101, lys2-801, trp1-901, leu2-3,112, gal4-52, gal80-538, LYS2::GAL1_{UAS}-GAL1_{TATA}-HIS3, URA3::GAL4_{17mers(x3)}-CyC1_{TATA}-lacZ) were used in yeast 2-hybrid studies. Both strains contain β-galactosidase and His3 reporter genes under the control of upstream activation sequences for GAL4 (UAS_G). HF7c was used for the yeast 2-hybrid screen for HCF-1-interacting proteins due to its more stringent control of His3 expression compared to Y190 (Feilotter *et al.*, 1994). However, Y190 was used in protein-protein interaction studies due to its easily detectable levels of βgalactosidase activity.

2.1.7.3 Mammalian cells

Cos-1 cells are CV-1 derived African green monkey (*Cercopithecus aethiops*) kidney cells that have been transformed with SV40 (Gluzman, 1981). These cells were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) and grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 1% penicillin-streptomycin, and 1% L-glutamine.

tsBN67_{HR1} cells are a temperature-sensitive cell line derived from BHK21(baby hamster kidney fibroblast) cells. tsBN67_{HR1} cells arrest cell cycle progression at G0/G1 at the non-permissive temperature (40°C) due to a missense mutation in the only copy of the *HCF-1* gene in which proline 134 is mutated to serine (Goto *et al.*, 1997). tsBN67_{HR1} are a clonal isolate of tsBN67 cells which, at the time of their isolation, did not contain any revertant colonies (Reilly and Herr, 2002). These cells were supplied by Dr. Winship Herr and grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% calf serum (CS), 1% penicillin-streptomycin, and 1% L-glutamine at the permissive temperature (33.5°C).

2.2 METHODS

2.2.1 Maintenance and growth of bacterial cells

DH5 α and BL21(DE3) were grown at 37°C using 2YT media as described (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989). HB101 were grown at 37°C using M9 minimal media supplemented with 1mM thiamine-HCl, 40µg/mL proline, and 0.4% glucose as described (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989). Plasmids were maintained within bacteria with 100µg/mL ampicillin.

2.2.2 Plasmid DNA Purification

2.2.2.1 Small scale plasmid preparation

Minipreps were performed using the lysis boiling method as described (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989). Briefly, a single colony of bacteria containing the plasmid of interest was used to inoculate 5mL 2YT AMP, and grown overnight at 37°C with moderate agitation. 1.5mL of the overnight culture was transferred to a microcentrifuge tube and harvested by centrifugation at high speed. Pellets were resuspended in 350µL of lysis buffer (10mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 1mM EDTA pH 8.0, 100mM NaCl, and 5% Triton X-100) and 30μ L of 10mg/mL lysozyme (prepared fresh in 10mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0) was added. The cell suspension was incubated in a boiling water bath for 40 seconds, harvested as before, and the pellet of bacterial debris was removed with a sterile toothpick. Plasmid DNA, which remained in the supernatant, was precipitated with 200µL of 7.5M ammonium acetate and 600µL of isopropanol, and flash frozen in liquid nitrogen. To recover the nucleic acids, the mixture was centrifuged at high speed for 30 minutes at 4°C. The resulting pellet was rinsed with 1mL of 70% ethanol, and resuspended in TE buffer (10mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 1mM EDTA, and 50µg/mL RNAase A).

2.2.2.2 Large scale plasmid preparation

Large scale plasmid preparations were performed using a commercially available kit (Qiagen), based on the alkaline lysis method and anion exchange chromatography (Birnboim, 1983). Briefly, a 500mL overnight bacterial culture was harvested by centrifugation at 3000 x g at 4°C for 5 minutes and subjected to lysis. Subsequently, the contents were centrifuged at high speed to pellet cellular debris. The supernatant, containing plasmid DNA, was added to an anion exchange column supplied by the manufacturer (Qiagen) and plasmid DNA eluted as instructed by the manufacturer. The resulting eluate was combined with 0.7 volume of isopropanol, centrifuged, and the pellet was rinsed with 70% ethanol and left to dry. The purified plasmid DNA was resuspended in sterile TE (pH 8.0) and quantified by fluorometry.

2.2.2.3 Phenol/chloroform DNA extraction

Phenol/chloroform extractions of nucleic acids were performed as previously described (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989). Crude yeast DNA samples were brought to a volume of 400µL with sterile water. A 1:1 mixture of 400µL of phenol/chloroform was added to the sample, the tube was vortexed, and then centrifuged at high speed. The upper aqueous layer was retained and mixed with 400µL of chloroform. This mixture was vortexed, centrifuged as before, and the upper aqueous layer retained. In order to precipitate out plasmid DNA, a final concentration of 0.3M sodium acetate and 2 volumes of 95% ethanol were added to the extract, which was flash frozen in liquid nitrogen, and centrifuged at high speed. The resulting pellet was rinsed with 95% ethanol and resuspended in sterile water.

2.2.3 Chloramphenicol amplification of plasmid DNA

Chloramphenicol was added to *E. coli* cultures in order to amplify plasmid DNA and increase yields obtained from large scale plasmid DNA preparations of pSG424based plasmids, since pSG424 is a low copy number plasmid and in the absence of following this procedure, yields of its DNA were very low. A single *E. coli* colony containing a pSG424-based plasmid was used to inoculate a 50mL culture of 2YTAMP, and grown overnight at 37°C with moderate agitation. The following day the 50mL overnight culture was added to 500mL of fresh 2YTAMP media and grown to an OD₆₀₀ of 0.5, at which point chloramphenicol (dissolved in ethanol) was added to a final concentration of 170μ g/mL. The culture was subsequently grown overnight and harvested the following day and the pGS424-based plasmid isolated by the large scale plasmid DNA preparation protocol described earlier.

2.2.4 Fluorometry

Plasmid concentrations were quantified using a Hoefer Mini-Fluorometre (TKO 100) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, purified plasmid DNA was added to 2mL of TNE buffer (10mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 1mM EDTA, 100mM NaCl) containing 1μ g/mL Hoechst 33258 dye. The resulting fluorescence was standardized with calf thymus DNA and used to calculate the concentration of the plasmid DNA.

2.2.5 Cloning techniques

The plasmid constructs described in the materials section were constructed using standard recombinant DNA techniques as previously described (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989).

2.2.5.1 *PCR* (*Polymerase Chain Reaction*)

PCR reactions were performed as previously outlined (Ausubel *et al.*, 1994). Reactions were performed with 200ng of plasmid DNA, 1 μ M of primers, 4mM dNTPs, between 2-6mM MgSO₄, and 1 unit of Vent DNA polymerase with 1X thermopol buffer. A "hot start" was initiated at 95°C for 5 minutes, followed by the addition of Vent DNA polymerase. Subsequent melting cycles were programmed for 1 minute at 95°C. The melting temperature was calculated using the equation: Tm = 81.5 + 16.6(log0.0334) + 41 (#GCs/total base pairs) – 500/total base pairs. The annealing temperature was set to 1°C below the lowest primer melting temperature. Annealing was programmed for 1 minute. The elongation cycle proceeded at 72°C for a variable time, depending on the length of the fragment to be produced (~1Kb/min), and the reaction was set for 30 cycles.

2.2.5.2 Site-directed mutagenesis

Site-directed mutagenesis was performed using the OuikChange PCR mutagenesis kit as suggested by the manufacturer (Stratagene). Each mutant was generated from two complementary oligonucleotides designed to possess the desired nucleotide mutations. Reactions contained 10ng of parental plasmid DNA, 200mM dNTPs, 125ng of each primer, 1X PFU enzyme buffer, 2.5 Units PFU DNA polymerase, and sterile water to a total of 50µL. A parallel reaction was also set up lacking PFU enzyme in order to determine the amount of background transformants. A hot start melting cycle was initiated at 95°C for 5 minutes after which the PFU enzyme was added to the reaction. Subsequent melting cycles were programmed for 30 seconds at 95°C. Annealing was programmed for 1 minute at 55°C, and elongation was conducted at 68°C for 2 minutes/Kb of plasmid with an additional 2-3 minutes. The number of cycles was variable, depending on the extent of mutagenesis to be performed. Thus, 15 cycles were used for single nucleotide changes, 18 for single amino acid changes, and 21 cycles for multiple amino acid changes or deletions. Following the reaction, $1\mu L$ of DpnI enzyme was added to the reaction and incubated at 37°C for 3 hours to digest parental plasmid. 5μ L of the reaction was then used to transform 100 μ L of competent DH5 α bacteria, and colonies which formed were selected for DNA sequencing to isolate mutants.

2.2.5.3 DNA extraction from agarose gels (Qiaex)

DNA fragments were recovered from agarose gels using the Qiaex agarose gel extraction method as instructed by the manufacturer (Qiagen). Briefly, DNA fragments to be used in cloning were excised from agarose gels with a sharp scalpel and transferred

to a microcentrifuge tube followed by the addition of 300μ L of buffer QX1 and 10μ L of Qiaex II beads, and incubated at 50°C. The sample was harvested by centrifugation at high speed for 30 seconds and the supernatant was removed. The pellet was washed with 500μ L of QX1, followed by two washes with 500μ L of buffer PE. The pellet was air dried and the DNA fragments were eluted by resuspension in 20μ L of 10mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.5. Finally, the sample was centrifuged for 30 seconds at high speed and the supernatant containing the DNA fragment was placed into a clean microcentrifuge tube.

2.2.6 DNA sequencing

DNA sequencing was performed by the McMaster central facility at MOBIX.

2.2.7 Introduction of Plasmid DNA into E. Coli

2.2.7.1 Preparation of chemically competent cells

A single colony of bacteria, used to inoculate 5mL of 2YT media, was grown overnight at 37°C with moderate agitation. The following day, 2mL of the overnight culture was transferred to a 2L flask containing 50mL of 2YT and incubated to an OD_{550} ~ 0.3. The culture was collected in four 50mL sterile centrifuge tubes and chilled on ice for 15 minutes. The cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 3000 x g for 5 minutes at 4°C and each pellet was resuspended in 16mL of transformation buffer 1 (100mM RbCl, 50mM MnCl₂·4H₂0, 10mM CaCl₂·2H₂O, 30mM KAc pH 7.5, 15% glycerol, pH adjusted to 5.8 with 0.2M acetic acid), and incubated on ice for 15 minutes. The cells were harvested as above and each pellet was resuspended in 4mL of transformation buffer 2 (10mM MOPS at pH 6.8 adjusted with NaOH, 10mM RbCl, 75mM CaCl₂·H₂O, 15% glycerol). The cell suspension was aliquoted into pre-chilled microcentrifuge tubes, frozen on dry ice and stored at -70°C.

2.2.7.2 Bacterial Transformation (Chemical)

100 μ L of chemically competent bacteria were mixed with 1-5 μ L of plasmid DNA and incubated on ice for forty minutes. Cells were then heat shocked at 37°C for 40 seconds and returned to ice for 5 minutes, followed by the addition of 400 μ L of 2YT. Cells were incubated for 1 hour at 37°C with moderate agitation and 100 μ L of the mixture was added to 2YT AMP plates and incubated overnight at 37°C.

2.2.7.3 Preparation of electrocompetent cells

A single colony of *E. coli* HB101, used to inoculate 5mL 2YT, was grown overnight at 37°C with moderate agitation. The following day, 2mL of the overnight culture was transferred to a sterile 2L flask containing 50mL of 2YT and incubated to an $OD_{600} \sim 0.5$ -0.7. The cells were chilled on ice for 10 minutes, transferred to a pre-chilled 1L centrifuge bottle, and harvested by centrifugation at 3000 x g for 10 minutes. The cells were resuspended in 500mL ice cold water twice and pelleted as before. Next, the cells were resuspended in 40mL ice cold 10% glycerol and pelleted as before. Finally, the pellet was resuspended in an equal volume of ice cold 10% glycerol and cells aliquoted into pre-chilled microcentrifuge tubes, frozen on dry ice, and stored at -70°C.

2.2.7.4 Bacterial transformation (electroporation)

 1μ L of crude yeast plasmid DNA was combined with 25μ L of electrocompetent HB101 and transferred to an electroporation cuvette (0.2cm electrode gap). The electroporator was set at 200 Ω , 25μ F and 1.5kV. 400 μ L of M9 minimal media was

added to the transformed HB101 and bacteria were allowed to recover for 1 hour at 37°C with moderate agitation. 200µL of this mixture was added to M9 minimal media AMP plates to nutritionally select for HB101 containing library plasmids.

2.2.8 Maintenance and growth of yeast

Y190 and HF7c were grown at 30°C using YEP(D) media with the addition of glucose to a final concentration of 2% as described (Ausubel *et al.*, 1994). Yeast transformed with plasmids containing auxotrophic markers were grown in synthetic complete (SC) media consisting of minimal essential components lacking the appropriate amino acids for selection of the plasmid.

2.2.9 Yeast 2-hybrid screen

2.2.9.1 Large scale yeast transformation for screening

Large scale yeast transformations were performed as described previously (Schiestl *et al.*, 1993). HF7c previously transformed with the bait plasmid, pGBT9-HCF- $1_{450-1439}$, were grown in 50mL of SC media lacking tryptophan (to select for yeast containing pGBT9) at 30°C overnight to saturation. The following day this culture was transferred to 500mL of prewarmed SC(-Leu) media and grown at 30°C with shaking until the cell density reached $2x10^7$ cells/mL. All equipment and solutions were subsequently kept ice cold and yeast were maintained on ice. Cells were harvested three times by centrifugation for 10 minutes at 3000 x g and sequentially resuspended in 200mL of sterile water, 10mL of sterile water, and finally 4.5mL of 100mM LiAc. Yeast resuspended in LiAc were then incubated for 15 minutes at 30°C. Added to this was 5mL of sonicated salmon testes DNA (1mg/mL) previously boiled for 10 minutes and

flash chilled on ice, 24mL of 50% w/v PEG-3350, 3.6mL of 1M LiAc, 2mL of sterile water and 100µg of Clontech MatchMaker HeLa cDNA plasmid library. This mixture was vortexed briefly and incubated for 30 minutes at 30°C, followed by a heat shock of 30 minutes at 42°C, and incubated at room temperature for one hour. Finally, the yeast cells were harvested and resuspended in 10mL of sterile water and 500µL of this mixture was plated onto twenty SC plates lacking leucine, tryptophan, (to select for yeast containing the bait plasmid which contains the tryptophan marker, and the library plasmid which contain a leucine marker) and histidine (to select for interactions) and containing 20mM 3-amino-1,2,4-triazole. In addition, 1µL of cells was plated onto 2 SC plates lacking leucine and tryptophan only to determine the total number of transformants. Two million transformants were screened by this method and library plasmids (containing a leucine marker) from His⁺ colonies were selectively recovered from yeast by transformation into *Escherichia coli* HB101 (leuB⁻).

2.2.9.2 Isolation of library plasmids from His⁺ Yeast

Library plasmid isolation from HF7c was performed by preparing a crude yeast DNA extract as described (Ausubel *et al.*, 1994) and transforming *E. coli* HB101 (leuB⁻) to selectively isolate library plasmids. Briefly, His⁺ HF7c containing the plasmid of interest were grown in 5mL SC lacking leucine overnight at 30°C to saturation. The following day 1.5mL of the culture was pelleted in a microcentrifuge tube and resuspended in 200 μ L of breaking buffer (2% v/v Triton X-100, 1% SDS, 100mM NaCl, 10mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, and 1mM EDTA) to which was added ~0.3g of acid-washed glass beads and 200 μ L of phenol/choloform. The mixture was vortexed at high speed for

2 minutes and spun for 5 minutes at high speed at room temperature. The aqueous layer was retained and 1µL was used to transform electrocompetent HB101. Transformed HB101 (*leuB*⁻) were grown on M9 minimal media (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989) for nutritional selection of HB101 bacteria complemented by library plasmids containing a leucine marker. Plasmids isolated from bacterial colonies that grew on M9 plates by the method described were subjected to restriction enzyme analysis with *Eco*RI and *Xho*I to identify library plasmids since *Eco*RI and *Xho*I were unique sites in the library plasmids flanking the cDNA inserts.

2.2.10 Yeast 2-hybrid assay

2.2.10.1 Small scale yeast transformations

Small scale yeast transformations were performed by the lithium acetate method as described (Elble, 1992). Yeast were grown to saturation at 30°C with moderate agitation, transferred to microcentrifuge tubes and pelleted by centrifugation at 8000 rpm for 2 minutes. The supernatant was removed and to the yeast pellet was added 10µg of salmon testes DNA, 1-2µg of plasmid, and 500µL of PLATE solution (40% PEG-3350, 100mM LiAc, 10mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, and 1mM EDTA). The transformations were left at room temperature overnight. The following day, the yeast was pelleted by centrifugation at 8000 rpm for 2 minutes and the PLATE solution was removed. The yeast pellet was resuspended in 200µL of SC media lacking leucine and tryptophan and added to plates lacking the appropriate amino acid(s) to allow for selection of yeast harbouring the appropriate plasmids. Plates were incubated at 30°C for 3-4 days until colonies appeared.

2.2.10.2 Qualitative β -galactosidase overlay assay

An interaction between two proteins is indicated in the yeast 2-hybrid assay by the increased expression of a reporter gene which contains an upstream activating sequence recognized by GAL4DBD. The *lacZ* gene is integrated into the genome of Y190 yeast and serves as such a reporter. A qualitative assessment of the interaction can be obtained by the β -galactosidase agarose overlay assay (Bohen and Yamamoto, 1993), which is based on the cleavage of a chromogenic substrate (X-gal) by β -galactosidase on immobilized yeast colonies, resulting in blue colour formation. Briefly, 0.5% agarose was dissolved in 0.5M NaPO₄ pH 7.0 buffer, to which was added SDS to a final concentration of 0.1%, and X-gal to a final concentration of 0.4mg/mL dissolved in dimethyl formamide. The solution was allowed to cool to ~ 50°C, added directly onto yeast growing on solid medium, and placed at 37°C. The appearance of blue colour, indicative of β -galactosidase activity, was monitored.

2.2.10.3 Quantitative Liquid β -galactosidase Assay

To quantify lacZ activity, an assay measuring the lacZ activity of yeast growing in liquid culture as described previously (Ausubel *et al.*, 1994) was performed. Briefly, individual yeast colonies were grown to saturation overnight at 30°C with moderate agitation. The following day, 500µL of the overnight culture was diluted into 3mL of fresh media and grown to $OD_{600} \sim 1.0$. Cells were transferred to microcentrifuge tubes and harvested by centrifugation at 8000 rpm for 2 minutes at room temperature. The supernatant was removed and cells resuspended in 1mL of Z buffer (60mM Na₂HPO₄, 40mM NaH₂PO₄, 10mM KCl, 1mM MgSO₄, and 50mM β-mercaptoethanol, adjusted to pH 7.0) and the OD₆₀₀ was determined for later calculations. 200µL of the resuspension was diluted into 800µL of fresh Z buffer in duplicate and the yeast was lyzed by 3 successive freeze/thaw cycles in liquid nitrogen. To this was added 0.2mL of 4mg/mL onitrophenyl- β -D-galactoside, (ONPG), the lacZ substrate, which is a chromogenic substrate that produces a yellow colour when cleaved by lacZ, allowing absorbance measurements at OD₄₂₀. The reaction was incubated at 30°C until yellow could be seen, at which point the reaction as terminated by addition of 300µL of 1M Na₂CO₃. The samples were centrifuged at high speed for 1 minute to pellet cellular debris and the supernatants were transferred to cuvettes for spectrophotometric analysis. β galactosidase activity units were determined using the following formula:

 $U = 1000 (OD_{420} - 1.75 \times OD_{550}) / t \times v \times OD_{600}$

U = units of β -galactosidase activity OD₄₂₀ = o-nitrophenyl absorbance and light scattering by cell debris OD₅₅₀ = light scattering by cell debris OD₆₀₀ = cell density t = reaction time (minutes) v = volume (mL)

2.2.11 GST pull-down assay

Protein binding assays with GST fusion proteins, and ³⁵S-methionine radiolabelled proteins synthesized *in vitro* using a coupled rabbit reticulocyte transcription/translation system (Promega) were carried out as described previously (Meertens *et al.*, 1998). Briefly, *E. coli* BL21(DE3) harbouring GST expression vectors were grown to an OD₆₀₀ of 0.6-0.8 and induced with 0.1mM isopropylthiogalactosidase (Biosynth AG) for 3 hours. Bacteria were collected by centrifugation and re-suspended

in NETN buffer (0.5% NP40, 1mM EDTA, 20mM Tris-Cl pH 8.0, 100mM NaCl, and 1 tablet mini C protease inhibitor (Boehringer Mannheim)/25mL buffer) and cell extracts were prepared by sonication. 50µl of a 50:50 slurry of glutathione-Sepharose 4B was incubated with clarified cell extracts containing GST or GST-fusion protein for 1 hour at 4°C. Beads were collected by centrifugation, washed twice with phosphate buffered saline, and beads containing equivalent amounts of bound protein (as determined by Commassie blue staining of sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS)-polyacrylamide gels) were incubated with 10-20µl of reticulocyte lysate containing radiolabelled translated protein in IPAB buffer (150mM KCl, 0.02 mg/mL bovine serum albumin, 0.1% Triton X-100, 0.1%NP40. 5mM MgCl₂, and 20mM Hepes pH 7.9) for 2-3 hours at 4°C. Beads were washed extensively with IPAB buffer lacking bovine serum albumin and bound radiolabelled proteins were eluted from the beads by boiling in SDS sample buffer and analysed by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis.

GST pull-down assays were also employed to determine competitive binding. In these asssays, the procedure was performed as described above except that an unlabelled competitor protein, produced in *vitro* using a coupled rabbit reticulocyte transcription/translation system (Promega), was incubated in the presence of the radiolabelled protein. In these assays the amount of rabbit reticulocyte lysate was kept constant by adding unprogrammed lysate to the binding reactions as required.

2.2.12 In vitro transcription/translation reactions

In vitro transcription/translation reactions using rabbit reticulocyte lysates were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions (Promega). Proteins were

71

synthesized in the presence of ³⁵S-methionine to generate radiolabelled proteins which could be visualized by autoradiography. Briefly, radiolabeled proteins were produced in 50 μ L reactions containing 25 μ L TNT rabbit reticulocyte lysate, 2 μ L TNT reaction buffer, 1 μ L SP6 or T7 RNA polymerase, 1 μ L amino acid mixture lacking methionine, 10 μ L ³⁵S-methionine, 1 μ L RNA guard, and 1 μ g of DNA template. The reactions were incubated at 30°C for 90 minutes.

2.2.13 Cell Culture Maintenance

COS-1 cells were maintained at 37°C in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 1% L-glutamine, and 1% penicillin-streptomycin. tsBN67_{HR1} cells were cultured at 33.5°C in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium supplemented with 10% calf serum, 1% L-glutamine, and 1% penicillin-streptomycin.

2.2.14 Transient transfections

Cells were seeded in 6 well plates at a concentration of 2-3 x 10^5 cells/well one day prior to transfection to achieve 70-80% confluence on the day of transfection. Transfections were carried out using the LipofectAMINE reagent as outlined by the manufacturer (Invitrogen). Total DNA and promoter dosage was kept constant with the appropriate amounts of corresponding empty vectors. Briefly, up to 2µg of total plasmid DNA and 8µL of lipofectamine reagent were incubated in 400µL of unsupplemented DMEM for 30 minutes. Cells in 6 well plates were washed with PBS and 1mL of unsupplemented DMEM was added to each well during the 30 minute incubation. Following the incubation, 1.6mL of unsupplemented DMEM was added to the 400µL mixture and the resulting 2mL was mixed and split into 1mL per well for duplicates of each transfection. The cells were incubated with the transfection mixture for 4-5 hours before it was replaced with fresh DMEM media supplemented with 10% serum, 1% L-glutamine, and 1% penicillin-streptomycin. The media was also replaced the following day and the cells harvested on the second day post-transfection.

2.2.15 Luciferase assay

A luciferase gene was used in transient transfections (deWet et al., 1987). The following method was used to quantify luciferase gene expression. On the second day post-transfection, cells were harvested by washing twice with PBS, followed by a 10 minute incubation with 400µL of 1X reporter lysis buffer (Promega). Samples were removed from the plate using a cell lifter, collected in microcentrifuge tubes and pelleted by centrifugation for 2 minutes at high speed. Supernatants were collected and assayed for luciferase activity using a Lumat LB9507 luminometre (PerkinElmer, Life Sciences) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, $10\mu L$ of extract was placed in a 13x100mm plastic tube (Sarstedt) and placed within the luminometre, programmed to inject 100µL of luciferin reagent (470 µM luciferin, 270µM coenzyme A, 530µM ATP, 33µM DTT, 20mM Tricine, 1.07mM (MgCO₃)₄Mg(OH)₂·5H₂O, 2.67 mM MgSO₄, and 0.1 mM EDTA) to each sample. The resulting luminescence reflected the luciferase activity present in the sample and was recorded as relative light units (RLUs) which were normalized to the total protein concentration in each sample using the BioRad protein assay according to the manufacturer's instructions (BioRad).

2.2.16 Co-immunoprecipitation assay

For the Miz-1/HCF-1 co-immunoprecipitation assays, COS-1 cells were transfected as described in a previous section. However, for the E2F-4/HCF-1 coimmunoprecipitation assays the transfections were performed with different cells and on a larger scale. Specifically, tsBN67_{HR1} cells were seeded onto 10cm diameter plates at a concentration of 2-3 x 10^6 /plate 1 day prior to transfection to achieve 70-80% confluence. Transfections were carried out using LipofectAMINE reagent (50µL/plate; Invitrogen) as outlined by the manufacturer with a total of 10µg of indicated plasmids. Extracts were prepared 48 hours post-transfection using 1mL of NP40 buffer (50mM Tris pH 7.5, 150mM NaCl, 1%NP40 and 0.2mM PMSF). Approximately 800µL of supernatant, normalized for protein concentration, was incubated with 1-2µg of antibody for 2-24hrs, followed by a 2-8hr incubation with 50µL of protein G-Sepharose at 4°C. Immune complexes were collected, extensively washed, suspended in 50µL of 2X SDSpolyacrylamide gel sample buffer, and subjected to PAGE. Proteins were transferred to HybondTM-C pure nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham Life Sciences) and probed using appropriate primary antibody. Primary antibody addition was followed by horseradish peroxidase-coupled secondary antibody (Amersham Life Sciences). Proteins were detected by enhanced chemiluminescence with a commercially available kit (ECL, Amersham Life Sciences) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.2.17 Western Blotting

COS-1 and tsBN67_{HR1} cells were transfected as described above for "transient transfection", except that 1-2 μ g of the various expression plasmids was used. Two days

post-transfection, cells were harvested for Western blot analysis. Cells were washed twice with PBS and harvested with 300µL of RIPA buffer (50mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 150mM NaCl, 0.1% SDS, 1% sodium deoxycholate, and 1mM PMSF). Samples were collected to microcentrifuge tubes, sonicated once for 30 seconds, and pelleted by centrifugation at high speed for 1 minute at 4°C to remove cellular debris. The supernatants were collected and protein concentration of each sample was determined using a BioRad protein assay kit. Equivalent amounts of total protein and pre-stained molecular weight markers were resolved by SDS-PAGE. Proteins were transferred to HybondTM-C pure nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham Life Sciences) overnight at 70mA at 4°C. Membranes were blocked the following morning using 4% skim milk powder in TBST buffer (20mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150mM NaCl, 0.05% Tween 20) for 1 hour and then washed twice using TBST buffer for 15 minutes. Subsequently, an appropriate dilution of primary antibody (diluted in TBST containing 1% milk powder) was used to probe the membrane for 1 hour. The membrane was washed twice with TBST as before, and incubated with an appropriate dilution of HRP-conjugated secondary antibody (Amersham Life Sciences) (diluted in TBST containing 0.2% milk powder) for 1 hour. The membrane was once again washed twice with TBST as before prior to antibody detection with a commercially available ECL kit (Amersham Life Sciences) as instructed. The membrane was then exposed to X-OMAT Blue XB-1 film (Kodak) for up to sixty minutes and developed.

2.2.18 tsBN67_{HR1} complementation assay

tsBN67_{HR1} cells were seeded with 8 x 10^5 cells in 6cm diametre plates and grown at 33.5°C one day prior to transfection to achieve 70-80% confluence. Cells were transfected the next day using LipofectAMINE reagent (20µL/plate) (Invitrogen). 48 hours later, cells were trypsinized and re-suspended in 5mL of media supplemented with 800µg/mL G418 (Gibco). The suspension was divided in two, and used to seed 2 10cm diameter plates and maintained under selection with G418 for 21 days at either 33.5°C or 40°C. The media was replaced with fresh media every 3-4 days. After 21 days, cells were washed with 10mL of PBS and stained with 0.1% crystal violet.

2.2.19 BLAST search for HBM-containing cellular proteins

To identify cellular proteins that may interact with HCF-1 we utilized the BLAST search algorithm and a degenerate HBM sequence to identify cellular proteins that contain the HCF-binding motif (HBM). This short motif (D/EHxY) generated a large number of potential HCF-1 interacting proteins. We focused on proteins with a known role in cell cycle control as the most likely to be *bona fide* HCF-1 interaction partners.

CHAPTER THREE

RESULTS

3.1 IDENTIFYING MIZ-1 AS A NOVEL HCF-1 BASIC DOMAIN INTERACTION PARTNER AND CHARACTERIZING ITS INTERACTION

3.1.1 Yeast 2-hybrid screening reveals Miz-1 to be an HCF-1 interaction partner

HCF-1 is a multifunctional protein that promotes cellular proliferation, though a clear understanding of the mechanisms of HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation has not been elucidated (Goto et al., 1997; Wilson et al., 1997; Julien and Herr, 2003). In order to identify novel HCF-1-interaction partners that may provide insights into the cellular functions and mechanisms of action of HCF-1, we initially performed yeast 2-hybrid screens (Fields and Song, 1989) which have a powerful application as a genetic screen to identify interaction partners for a candidate bait protein due to the modular nature of transcription factors. Similar approaches by others have focused on the N-terminal kelch domain of HCF-1 since this domain contains the P134S mutation which causes cell cycle arrest at the non-permissive temperature in tsBN67 cells and thus is expected to interact with key cell cycle regulatory proteins (Freiman and Herr, 1997; Lu et al., 1997; Mahajan et al., 2002). However, we focused on a separate region of HCF-1 (residues 450-1439) that encompasses the basic domain, since this region has been shown to be required for HCF-1-mediated cell cycle progression in cooperation with the N-terminal kelch domain (Wilson et al., 1997). It was hypothesized that the basic domain would associate with cellular proteins that play a role in cell cycle regulation by HCF-1 that are independent of the kelch domain.

Yeast 2-hybrid screens were performed using the Clontech Matchmaker system according to the manufacturer's instructions. In the system used here, a fusion of HCF-1 encompassing the basic domain (HCF- $1_{450-1439}$) was made to GAL4DBD to act as the bait in the screen while a HeLa cell cDNA library fused to GAL4AD was used as the prey. Yeast strain HF7c containing pGBT9-HCF-1₄₅₀₋₁₄₃₉ was transformed with a HeLa cell Matchmaker cDNA library fused to GAL4 activation domain (Clontech) by the lithium acetate method (Elble, 1992). 2×10^6 independent transformants were grown on his, leu , and trp⁻ plates supplemented with 20mM 3-amino-1,2,4-triazole. Library plasmids from His⁺ colonies were selectively recovered from yeast following transformation into E. coli HB101 (leuB), transformed along with pGBT9-HCF-1₄₅₀₋₁₄₃₉ or control GAL4-DBD plasmids into yeast strain Y190 and assayed for β -galactosidase activity using the β galactosidase overlay assay (Ausubel *et al.*, 1994). Colonies that scored positive for β galactosidase activity in the presence of the HCF-1 bait plasmid but not with control or irrelevant plasmids were sequenced. Among the clones isolated was a partial cDNA encoding amino acids 269-803 of Miz-1, a zinc-finger transcription factor, previously identified as an interaction partner for the cellular oncogene c-myc (Peukert *et al.*, 1997), in addition to a partial cDNA encoding the carboxy-terminus of an uncharacterized protein we have tentatively termed HIP-2, HCF-1-interaction partner-2. Thus, by performing a yeast 2-hybrid screen, we had identified 2 novel HCF-1 interaction partners. Miz-1 is an 803 amino acid protein containing 13 zinc fingers of the C_2H_2 class, in which pairs of cysteines and histidines are separated by a loop of twelve amino acids (Evans and Hollenberg, 1988; Peukert et al., 1997; Laity et al., 2001), and an N-terminal POZ



Figure 3.1: Schematic representation of Miz-1. The modular domain structure of Miz-1 is shown indicating the N-terminal POZ domain and the 13 zinc finger motifs (represented by ovals) and including the various functions and interacting partners associated with each domain. Also illustrated is the region of Miz-1 (residues 269-803) encoded in the cDNA retrieved in the 2-hybrid screen.

domain (figure 3.1; Peukert et al., 1997). Miz-1, originally identified through 2-hybrid screening for c-myc-interacting proteins (Peukert et al., 1997), is an integral part of the anti-mitogenic TGF- β signaling pathway and also contributes to cell cycle arrest following DNA damage and differentiation signals (Seoane et al., 2001; Herold et al., 2002; Seoane et al., 2002; Wu et al., 2003; Zhao et al., 2004). It stimulates transcription by binding directly to the 5' regulatory region, often at initiator elements (Inr), of target genes encoding cell cycle inhibitory proteins (Peukert et al., 1997; Seoane et al., 2001; Staller et al., 2001; Seoane et al., 2002; Kime et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2003; Barsyte-Lovejoy et al., 2004). Subsequent studies have shown that Miz-1 is required for early embryonic development as Miz-1 deficient embryos succumb to apoptosis of ectodermal cells early in embryonic development, an outcome which may result in part due to the absence of p57^{Kip2} expression in the Miz-1 deficient embryo (Adhikary et al., 2003). Paradoxically, recent results using small interfering RNA duplexes (siRNAs) to ablate Miz-1 expression demonstrated that Miz-1 may be required for cellular proliferation (Ziegelbauer et al., 2004).

In addition to Miz-1, our yeast 2-hybrid screen also revealed that a second, uncharacterized, protein interacts with HCF-1, which we have tentatively named HIP-2. The HIP-2 cDNA isolated from the yeast 2-hybrid screen contains the carboxy-terminal portion of the polypeptide as we located a stop codon and a polyA tail sequence at its 3' end, however it lacks an identifiable translational start codon, indicating that we have isolated a partial cDNA for a novel protein which interacts with HCF-1. The sequence of the HIP-2 cDNA is shown in figure 3.2. HIP-2 possesses a unique sequence of nine

caggaattcggcacgagtgcagctccagcccctccgaccagccccagaagtaaccacggtccagctccagc A R V Q L Q P L R P A P E V T T V Q L Q P A Q E V T T V Q L Q P A Q E V T T V O L O P E V T T V Q L Q P V A G Q L S N S S G G A A A tactgaggcacccaacctgctggttgttcagagcggggcagctgaggagttgctcactggccccgggccccg TEAPNLLVVQSGAAEELLTGP G P gggaggcgggggatggccaggccagcactggtgtggtccaggatgtcctctttgagacactccagacggac G G A G D G E A S T G V V Q D V L F E T L Q T D gagggettgcagagcgtgctggtgctgagcggggccgatggcgaacagactcgactctgcgtacaggaggt E G L Q S V L V L S G A D G E Q T R L C V Q E V agaaacacttcctcctgggctgacggagccgcctgccaccggcccaccggacagaaactcctcatcatcc E T L P P G L T E P P A T G P P G Q K L L Т I gcagcgccccagccactgagctgctggacagcagcaacactggaggaggcaccgccacgctgcagctcctg R S A P A T E L L D S S N T G G G T A T L Q L L gccccaccgccgtcaggcccagctcgggccccgcggggctccccgggggctccagcctcccagatggtgcaa A P P P S G P A S G P A G L P G A P A S Q M V Q V V P A G A G P G V M T P O G L P S I O I V O T tctacccgcagtccagctggtgcacacgttttgaggagaggcagtgattcccctcccgccccgcacagaga L P A V Q L V H T F STOP $\verb+ccccaactcactgccagccggggcggggcagggtgccgcaggctgggcttgctaataaagacccgagtctc$

ccc**aaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaa**ctcgaggg

Figure 3.2: HIP-2 nucleotide and amino acid sequence. The nucleotide sequence (shown in lower case letters) of HIP-2 displays the cDNA obtained through yeast 2-hybrid screening for HCF-1 interaction partners from a HeLa cell cDNA library. The EcoRI and XhoI sites (shown in italics) mark the 5' and 3' ends of the sequence as these were the sites used in constructing the library. The stop codon and polyA tail (shown in bold) indicate that the HIP-2 cDNA is complete at the 3' end. The amino acid sequence (shown in upper case letters) reveals a unique sequence of nine amino acids, EVTTVQLQP, repeated four times (shown underlined).

amino acids, EVTTVQLQP, repeated four times which we have been unable to find in any other protein currently in the protein databases, and for which we do not know the function. Further downstream of the repeat elements, Helen Wong has determined that HIP-2 possesses a region that functions as a transcriptional activation domain, in addition to serving as the HCF-1 interaction surface (Wong, 2002). Although both Miz-1 and HIP-2 were intriguing factors that may help to characterize the function of HCF-1 in the cell, I chose to focus on Miz-1 due to its known role in cell cycle control.

3.1.2 Validating and confirming 2-hybrid results

The yeast 2-hybrid screen has been used as a valuable tool to identify novel interaction partners for a large number of proteins. However, the assay is known to produce false positive results. With this in mind, before proceeding to further characterize the novel HCF-1/Miz-1 interaction we had discovered via 2-hybrid screening, we eliminated the possibility of a false positive for this interaction by performing several control experiments with the yeast 2-hybrid assay and confirmed it using an in vivo co-immunoprecipitation assay (figure 3.3). As shown in figure 3.3b, in the yeast 2-hybrid assay HCF-1 bound specifically to Miz-1 as β -galactosidase activity was observed only in yeast transformed with both GAL4DBD-HCF-1 bait and GAL4AD-Miz-1 prey plasmids. Significantly, Miz-1 failed to interact with the HCF-1 kelch domain (residues 1-380), a domain that is sufficient to interact with VP16 (Simmen *et al.*, 1997; Wilson *et al.*, 1997) and a number of cellular factors (Freiman and Herr, 1997; Lu and Misra, 2000; Lin *et al.*, 2002; Mahajan *et al.*, 2002a; Luciano and Wilson, 2003), but absent from the 2-hybrid bait.



В

GAL4 AD FUSION	INTERACTION
-	-
GAL4AD	-
MIZ-1 ₂₆₉₋₈₀₃	-
MIZ-1 ₂₆₉₋₈₀₃	-
MIZ-1 ₂₆₉₋₈₀₃	++
MIZ-1 ₂₆₉₋₈₀₃	-
VP16	++
	NING
JS.M.	
NT A TO TO THE T	
15-M. F1291,00%	
	'5-Miz-1 _{FL} g heavy chain
	GAL4 AD FUSION - GAL4AD MIZ-1 ₂₆₉₋₈₀₃ MIZ-1 ₂₆₉₋₈₀₃ MIZ-1 ₂₆₉₋₈₀₃ MIZ-1 ₂₆₉₋₈₀₃ VP16 VP16

αV5 Western blot

Figure 3.3: HCF-1 interacts with Miz-1. A. Schematic diagram of the yeast 2-hybrid assay. The modular nature of the GAL4 transcription factor allows for the reconstitution of GAL4 expressed from separate GAL4DBD-HCF-1 and GAL4AD-Miz-1 fusions as a result of the non-covalent HCF-1/Miz-1 assocation. B. Two-hybrid analysis of the HCF-1/Miz-1 interaction. Yeast strain Y190 harbouring the indicated GAL4 DBD and GAL4 activation domain fusions (numbering corresponds to the amino acids in the respective proteins) were assayed for ß-galactosidase expression by the X-gal overlay assay method. The GAL4-VP16 activation domain fusion plasmid contained residues 1-404 of VP16. Interaction is indicated by (++). C. HCF-1 and Miz-1 interact *in vivo* in mammalian cells. COS-1 cells were transfected with expression vectors for FLAG-HCF-1_{FL} and V5-Miz-1_{FL} or V5-Miz-1_{FL} alone as indicated. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated (IP) with anti-FLAG and the precipitates resolved on a SDS-polyacrylamide gel probed with anti-V5 antibody to detect Miz-1. 10% input represents 10% of the lysate used in the immunoprecipitation reactions.

To determine whether HCF-1 and Miz-1 form a complex *in vivo* in mammalian cells, COS-1 cells were transfected with expression vectors encoding V5-tagged full length Miz-1 and FLAG-tagged full length HCF-1. Protein extracts were immunoprecipitated with anti-FLAG antibody, resolved on a SDS-polyacrylamide gel, and probed with anti-V5 antibody (figure 3.3c). Miz-1 was detectable in immune complexes precipitated with anti-FLAG antibody from cells which had been transfected with both Flag-HCF-1_{FL} and V5-Miz-1_{FL} but not from control cells which were transfected with V5-Miz-1_{FL} alone. Thus, co-immunoprecipitation of V5-Miz-1_{FL} was dependent on co-expression of FLAG-HCF-1_{FL}, indicating that HCF-1 and Miz-1 interact within extracts generated from mammalian cells.

3.1.3 HCF-1 interacts with Miz-1 via determinants in the basic domain

The bait used in the yeast 2-hybrid screen contained both the basic domain and the HCF_{PRO} repeats. To gain insight into the functional relevance of this interaction we sought to map more precisely the region in HCF-1 targeted by Miz-1. To this end, we constructed a series of deletions within GAL4-DBD-HCF-1₄₅₀₋₁₄₃₉ and tested these for interaction by two-hybrid analysis with GAL4-AD-Miz-1₂₆₉₋₈₀₃ (see figure 3.4). Deletion of the HCF_{PRO} repeats did not influence binding, indicating that these residues do not contribute to interaction with Miz-1. In contrast, the basic domain (residues 450-902) was sufficient for Miz-1 interaction. Furthermore, a fragment of HCF-1 spanning residues 750-836 was sufficient to bind to Miz-1. However, strongest binding, as reflected by β -galactosidase activity, was observed with HCF-1₇₅₀₋₉₀₂, suggesting that residues between 836 and 902 may contribute to more robust binding and/or stability of



Figure 3.4: Miz-1 targets the basic region of HCF-1. Amino- and carboxy-terminal deletions of HCF-1 between residues 450 to 1439, as indicated, were cloned into the GAL4-DBD plasmid and tested for interaction with Miz-1 (residues 269-803) by two-hybrid analysis in yeast. Specific β -galactosidase activity was determined by the liquid quantitative assay as outlined in the methods section. The values shown represent the average β -galactosidase activity (+/- SD) from three independent transformants assayed in duplicate.

the HCF-1/Miz-1 complex *in vivo*. A fragment spanning residues 836-902 was, however, insufficient to bind with Miz-1. In order to confirm this novel interaction and determine whether Miz-1 binds directly to HCF-1, we conducted *in vitro* GST pull-down assays with radiolabelled proteins synthesized *in vitro* (see figure 3.5). As shown in the figure, radiolabelled full length Miz-1 bound to GST-HCF-1₇₅₀₋₉₀₂ but not to GST alone. Thus, taken together, these results indicate that Miz-1 directly targets part of the basic domain of HCF-1, a domain that is required for cell cycle progression (Wilson *et al.*, 1997), with amino acids between 750-836 being of particular importance for interaction.

3.1.4 HCF-1 targets two separate domains of Miz-1

Miz-1 interacts with a variety of cellular proteins, including c-myc (Peukert *et al.*, 1997), p300 (Staller *et al.*, 2001), SMAD proteins (Seoane *et al.*, 2001), TopBP1, (Herold *et al.*, 2002), and MAGE-A4 (Sakurai *et al.*, 2004) as summarized in figure 3.1. The c-myc/Miz-1 interaction is mediated by two separate regions in Miz-1 with fragments spanning residues 269-308 and 637-718 necessary for interaction (Peukert *et al.*, 1997). Interestingly, determinants overlapping these separate regions are also important for interaction with the transcriptional co-activator, p300 (Staller *et al.*, 2001). The SMAD/Miz-1 interaction is mediated via a distinct region that encompasses the initial 4 amino-terminal zinc fingers (Seoane *et al.*, 2001), whereas TopBP1 targets the Miz-1 POZ domain for interaction (Herold *et al.*, 2002). To identify the region(s) of Miz-1 that are involved in interaction with HCF-1, and potential relationships to other protein-protein interaction surfaces present in Miz-1, we generated a series of deletions of Miz-1 and tested binding to HCF-1 using *in vitro* GST pull-down assays. As shown in figure

3.5a, a radiolabelled Miz-1 C-terminal fragment spanning residues 637-803 bound efficiently and specifically to GST- HCF-1750-902 similar to the efficiency with which radiolabelled full length Miz-1 bound GST-HCF-1750-902. In addition, in reciprocal binding experiments, radiolabelled HCF-1₆₁₂₋₉₀₂ bound to GST-Miz-1637-803. Interestingly, the carboxy-terminal region of Miz-1 which binds HCF-1 also contains determinants that mediate binding with c-myc and p300. Specifically, the c-myc/Miz-1 and p300/Miz-1 interaction surfaces have been mapped to residues 637-718 (Peukert et al., 1997) and 683-715 (Staller et al., 2001), respectively, within the carboxy-terminal region of Miz-1. C-Myc and p300 also target amino- terminal residues 269-308 and 190-294 of Miz-1, respectively (Peukert et al., 1997; Staller et al., 2001). However, as shown in figure 3.5a, radiolabelled HCF-1₆₁₂₋₉₀₂ was unable to bind to overlapping subfragments of Miz-1 corresponding to residues 637-738 or 719-803. These results suggest that the Miz-1/HCF-1-interaction is mediated by multiple determinants, or an extended region within residues 637-803 of Miz-1, and that HCF-1 targets determinants in Miz-1 that overlap with, but are distinguishable from, those required for interaction with c-myc, p300, and SMAD proteins.

The Miz-1 fragment isolated in the 2-hybrid screen encoded residues 269-803, thus it lacked the amino-terminal residues which encompass the POZ domain (residues 1-108). This indicates that the POZ domain is not required for interaction with Miz-1, at least in the presence of the carboxy-terminal interacting domain. However, since POZ domains have been shown to provide protein interaction interfaces (Bardwell and Treisman, 1994; Albagli *et al.*, 1995; Collins *et al.*, 2001), we tested whether this region



Figure 3.5: HCF-1 interacts directly with Miz-1 *in vitro* and targets two separate domains, the POZ domain and the carboxy-terminal region. A. *In vitro* GST pull-down assay. ³⁵S-methionine labelled Miz-1 or HCF-1 derivatives synthesized *in vitro* were incubated with GST alone or with various GST-fusion proteins as indicated, and bound material was analysed by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. The 1/10 load lanes represent 10% of the ³⁵S-methionine labelled protein added to the respective binding assays. B. Schematic representation of the Miz-1 deletion constructs used above and a summary of the *in vitro* HCF-1-interaction results. +, specific interaction; –, no interaction.

may bind independently to HCF-1. As shown in figure 3.5a, reciprocal GST-binding experiments with $Miz-1_{1-108}$ demonstrates that the POZ domain itself is sufficient to interact with HCF-1.

Thus, as summarized in figure 3.5b, Miz-1 contains at least two modular subdomains that can independently bind to HCF-1. These regions are distinct from those that mediate interaction of Miz-1 with c-myc (Peukert *et al.*, 1997), p300 (Staller *et al.*, 2001), SMADs (Seoane *et al.*, 2001), and MAGE-A4 (Sakurai *et al.*, 2004), although both HCF-1 and TopBP1 (Herold *et al.*, 2002) target the Miz-1 POZ domain. The foregoing does not preclude the possibility that subregions of Miz-1 located between residues 108-637, which include the zinc finger cluster, are also important for, or influence, interaction with HCF-1.

3.1.5 HCF-1 targets a transactivation function in Miz-1

Several identified HCF-1 interaction partners, including Miz-1, are transcription factors, consistent with the growing evidence that HCF-1 serves as a global transcriptional co-regulatory factor. Furthermore, recent findings have shown that in some cases HCF-1 is recruited directly to transcriptional activation domains of its interaction partners (Luciano and Wilson, 2000; Vogel and Kristie, 2000a), suggesting that one role of HCF-1 may be to directly modulate the activation potential of its interacting partners.

In order to determine whether the HCF-1 binding interface at the carboxyterminus of Miz-1 functions as a transactivation domain we sought to identify a transactivation function in Miz-1 and map the localization of its transactivation domain.

89

To this end, we constructed and tested a series of GAL4-Miz-1 fusion proteins by transient transfection assays in mammalian cells using a luciferase reporter gene driven by a promoter that contained multiple upstream GAL4 binding sites. As shown in figure 3.6, full length Miz-1 (GAL4-Miz-1_{FL}), as well as a derivative lacking the aminoterminal POZ domain (GAL4-Miz-1_{ΔPOZ}) resulted in a 13-fold and 31-fold induction of reporter gene activity, respectively, relative to the activity obtained with GAL4 DBD alone. Thus, full length Miz-1, as well as the ΔPOZ derivative, activates transcription when tethered directly to DNA via a heterologous protein.

To determine if the transactivation function mapped to regions required for interaction with HCF-1, we tested the activity of a GAL4 fusion to residues 637-803 of Miz-1. As shown in figure 3.6, GAL4-Miz-1₆₃₇₋₈₀₃ potently activated transcription, resulting in a 253-fold activation in reporter gene expression relative to GAL4 DBD alone. Interestingly, transactivation by this derivative was significantly higher than that observed with the full length protein or the Δ POZ derivative, a difference that could not be attributed to differences in expression levels of the respective proteins, as determined by Western blot analysis (figure 3.6b, lanes 1, 2, and 4, respectively). This suggests that the more robust activation is an inherent property of this isolated domain, and that the full activation potential of this region may be masked in the context of the intact protein.

Thus, the carboxy-terminal domain of Miz-1 functions as an autonomous transactivation domain in addition to providing an interaction surface for HCF-1. The HCF-1 interaction with Miz-1 was shown in figure 3.5 to require the entire carboxy-terminal domain, indicating that multiple determinants, or an extended region within

А



Figure 3.6: The carboxy-terminal HCF-1 interacting interface in Miz-1 functions as an autonomous transactivation domain. A. COS-1 cells were transfected with a GAL4responsive luciferase reporter plasmid along with expression vectors for various GAL4-Miz-1 fusion derivatives as indicated, and luciferase activity was measured. Values shown represent fold activation relative to GAL4-DBD empty vector control and represent the average activity (+/- SD) from 3 independent transfections carried out in duplicate. B. Expression levels of GAL4DBD-Miz-1 fusion proteins. COS-1 cells were transfected with 1.0 μ g of the indicated GAL4-Miz-1 expression plasmid, extracts were resolved on a SDS-polyacrylamide gel and analyzed by Western blot analysis with mouse monoclonal anti-GAL4DBD antibody. The apparent molecular weight of the products of lanes 3 and 4 appears equal as judged by their migration, although the product of lane 4 should have a greater actual molecular weight. This may be attributable to the high acidic content for the fragment in lane 3 which may have caused it to migrate slower than its actual molecular weight.

residues 637-803 of Miz-1 are required for HCF-1 interaction. In order to determine whether a similar set of determinants were required to form the transactivation domain overlapping subfragments spanning residues 637-803 of Miz-1 were constructed and Overlapping sub-fragments spanning residues 637-718 and 701-803 were tested. marginally active (4-5 fold induction over control), whereas a fragment containing residues 701-738 was inactive. These sub-fragments were also unable to bind to HCF-1. Thus, the Miz-1 transactivation domain may be composed of multiple determinants within residues 637-803. Analysis of the amino acid composition of residues 637-803 reveals that this transactivation domain is not enriched in amino acids often found to compose transactivation domains (Triezenberg, 1995; Kadonaga, 2004). For instance, it is only 14% acidic, 7% glutamine-rich, and 6% proline-rich. However, a moderately charged domain does exist between residues 647-710 where 20% of the residues are acidic and residues 739-803 are enriched for serine and threonine as this region is 16%Ser/Thr. As a control, we also tested residues 176-284, a region which encompasses binding determinants for c-myc (Peukert et al., 1997) and that has been predicted to harbour an activation function because of its high acidic amino acid content (Schneider et al., 1997). However, this region failed to act as an autonomous transactivation domain when fused to the GAL4 DNA binding domain.

These results demonstrate that the carboxy-terminal HCF-1-interacting domain of Miz-1 harbours an autonomous activation function and whose potency correlates with the ability of this region to bind to HCF-1. These findings add to the growing evidence that HCF-1 targets activation domains in its interaction partners.

3.1.6 HCF-1 represses GAL4-Miz-1-mediated transcription activation

Having determined that HCF-1 interacts with the Miz-1 transactivation domain, we sought to elucidate the functional consequences of HCF-1/Miz-1 interaction. We carried out transient transfection assays with various GAL4-Miz-1 fusion proteins in the presence or absence of an expression vector for HCF-1 to determine if HCF-1 modulates transactivation by Miz-1. As shown in figure 3.7a, co-transfection of full length HCF-1 led to a dose-dependent repression of transactivation by GAL4-Miz-1_{FL}. Similarly, HCF-1 inhibited transactivation by a Miz-1 derivative lacking the POZ domain, or a derivative containing only the carboxy-terminal transactivation domain (residues 637-803). In each case, co-transfection of an HCF-1 expression vector led to approximately 70-80% inhibition of activity at the highest concentrations of HCF-1 used. The repressive effect was specific to GAL4-Miz-1 derivatives since similar levels of HCF-1 had no effect on transactivation by GAL4-VP16_{AAD}, a GAL4 derivative linked to the potent acidic transactivation domain of VP16. Thus, repression of Miz-1 transactivation is not due to a generalized titration of co-regulatory factors by HCF-1. The observation that HCF-1 represses GAL4-Miz- 1_{FL} and GAL4-Miz- $1_{\Delta POZ}$ to a similar degree suggests that inhibition by HCF-1 is independent of the POZ domain. We next tested whether the HCF-1 Miz-1 binding domain (HCF-1750-902) could affect GAL4-Miz-1-mediated transactivation. As illustrated in figure 3.7b, HCF-1₇₅₀₋₉₀₂ behaved in а manner analogous to full length HCF-1, inhibiting the transactivation potential of all three GAL4-Miz-1 fusion proteins, but not that of GAL4-VP16_{AAD}. Thus, binding of this fragment of HCF-1 directly to the Miz-1 transactivation domain is sufficient to inhibit activity of


Figure 3.7: HCF-1 antagonizes transactivation by GAL4-Miz-1. A. COS-1 cells were co-transfected with $0.5\mu g$ of 5X GAL4 luciferase reporter plasmid, and the indicated GAL4-Miz-1 fusion expression vector (50ng), or GAL4-VP16_{AAD} (50ng) in the absence or presence of increasing amounts of an expression vector for full length HCF-1 (HCF-1_{FL}) as indicated. Extracts were prepared 40-48 hours later and assayed for luciferase activity. Values shown represent the average (+/- SD) from 3 independent transfections carried out in duplicate, and normalized to the value obtained from the respective GAL4 fusion effector plasmid alone which was taken as 100% for each case. B. The minimal Miz-1 binding domain of HCF-1 is sufficient to inhibit transactivation by GAL4-Miz-1. Transfections and measurement of luciferase activity was carried out in an identical manner as above except that the expression vector for HCF-1 ₇₅₀₋₉₀₂ was used in place of full length HCF-1.

Miz-1.

3.1.7 HCF-1 represses Miz-1 activation of the p15^{INK4b} promoter

Having shown a repressive effect by HCF-1 on the transcriptional activity of GAL4-Miz-1 fusion proteins, we sought to determine whether a similar effect could be observed with native Miz-1 in the context of a natural Miz-1 target gene. Miz-1 has been shown to stimulate transcription of several cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors, including p15^{INK4b}, through direct binding to the initiator element in these promoters (Staller *et al.*, 2001; Seoane et al., 2002; Adhikary et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2003). To determine if HCF-1 modulates Miz-1-mediated activation of p15^{INK4b} expression, we performed cotransfection assays with a luciferase reporter gene linked to the p15^{INK4b} promoter. As shown in figure 3.8, transfection of an expression vector for full length Miz-1 led to a 7fold induction of p15^{INK4b} reporter gene activity, consistent with recent findings reported by others (Staller et al., 2001). In contrast, HCF-1 expression had no effect on reporter gene activity. However, co-expression of HCF-1 with Miz-1 inhibited Miz-1 mediated transactivation by approximately 70%. Miz-1 activation of p15^{INK4b} expression is also inhibited by interaction with c-myc (Staller et al., 2001). Consistent with this, transfection of a c-myc expression vector, while having no effect on its own, repressed Miz-1-dependent activation of the reporter gene (see figure 3.8). The extent of repression by c-myc was comparable to that observed with HCF-1. Interestingly, co-expression of both HCF-1 and c-myc led to an additive effect on inhibition of Miz-1 activity, reducing activity down to basal levels observed with the reporter gene alone. Thus HCF-1, like cmyc, antagonizes Miz-1 activation of the native p15^{INK4b} promoter and, furthermore, can

95



Figure 3.8: HCF-1 represses Miz-1 activation of the p15^{INK4b} promoter. COS-1 cells were co-transfected with a p15^{INK4b} luciferase reporter along with expression plasmids for full length Miz-1, HCF-1, and/or full length c-myc, as indicated. Values represent the average activity (+/- SD) from 3 independent transfections done in duplicate and normalized to the activity obtained from the reporter plasmid alone, which was taken as 1.

cooperate with c-myc in potentiating repression of this target gene.

3.1.8 HCF-1 interferes with recruitment of p300 to Miz-1

C-myc has been shown to inhibit transactivation by Miz-1 by interfering with recruitment of the p300 coactivator (Staller *et al.*, 2001). p300 is a large protein of over 2400 amino acids that contains several independent domains that interact with a large number of cellular proteins in addition to the viral E1A protein (Chan and La Thangue, 2001; Blobel, 2002). p300 has been characterized as a general transcription regulator that enhances transcriptional activation through interaction with the general transcription factors TFIIB, TBP, and RNA polymerase II, thus physically connecting activators with components of the basal transcription machinery (Chan and La Thangue, 2001; Blobel, 2002). In addition, p300 contains a histone acetyltransferase domain, which catalyzes the acetylation of histones, thus influencing chromatin structure and the acetylation of other transcription factors, influencing their activity (Chan and La Thangue, 2001; Blobel, 2002). Due to its function as a general transcription regulator, p300 influences a variety of cellular processes, including cell growth, transformation, and development (Goodman and Smolik, 2000). Because HCF-1 targets a region of Miz-1 that is also involved in p300 association, we speculated that HCF-1 might also function in this manner. To determine whether this is the case, H. Patel carried out a mammalian 2-hybrid assay using GAL4-Miz- 1_{FL} and p300-VP16. As shown in figure 3.9a, transfection of cells with the p300-VP16 expression vector on its own had no effect on reporter gene activity. However, co-transfection of expression vectors encoding p300-VP16 and GAL4-Miz-1 led to a 2-fold increase in reporter gene activity compared with cells

97



Figure 3.9: HCF-1 inhibits p300 recruitment by Miz-1. A. COS-1 cells were transfected with $0.5\mu g$ of a 5X GAL4 luciferase reporter, GAL4-Miz-1_{FL} expression vector (50ng), $p300_{FL}$ -VP16 expression vector ($0.25\mu g$) and HCF-1_{FL} expression vector ($0.25\mu g$) as indicated. Extracts were prepared 40-48 hours later and assayed for luciferase activity. Values shown represent the average (+/-SD) from 2 independent transfections carried out in duplicate. B. *In vitro* GST pull-down assay. ³⁵S-methionine labelled Miz-1_{FL} synthesized *in vitro* was incubated with GST or GST-p300₁₅₇₂₋₂₃₇₁ as indicated, in the presence of various unlabelled competitor proteins synthesized *in vitro*. Unlabelled competitor proteins included HCF-1₁₋₉₀₂, c-myc_{FL}, Miz-1_{FL}, and luciferase. Bound material was analyzed by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. 5% load represents 5% of the ³⁵S-methionine labelled protein added to the binding assays. Band intensities were determined by PhosphorImager analysis. Band intensity was set at 100 for the reaction lacking unlabelled competitor and other bands were scored relative to this. Panel A of this figure represents the work of H. Patel.

transfected with GAL4-Miz-1 alone, similar to what has been previously observed (Staller *et al.*, 2001). Inclusion of an expression vector encoding full length HCF-1 abrogated the stimulatory effect of p300-VP16 and further repressed GAL4-Miz-1 transactivation potential. To determine whether HCF-1 was interfering with the recruitment of p300 to Miz-1, we used the GST pull-down competition assay with a carboxy-terminal fragment of p300 (residues 1572-2371) that has been shown to interact with Miz-1 (Staller *et al.*, 2001) fused to GST along with radiolabelled full length Miz-1 and unlabeled competitor proteins synthesized *in vitro*. As shown in figure 3.9b, full length Miz-1 bound to GST-p300₁₅₇₂₋₂₃₇₁ as expected. Inclusion of equivalent amounts of unlabeled Miz-1 by 60-70%. In contrast, inclusion of unlabeled luciferase (negative control) had no effect on binding. Thus, HCF-1 competes with p300 for interaction with Miz-1.

3.1.9 The P134S mutation in HCF-1 does not affect binding to, or transactivation by, Miz-1

An HCF-1 N-terminal fragment spanning residues 1-902, which includes the basic domain that is targeted by Miz-1, is necessary and sufficient to rescue temperaturesensitive cell cycle arrest in tsBN67 cells (Wilson *et al.*, 1997). The causative mutation in HCF-1 (P134S), in addition to preventing chromatin association (Wysocka *et al.*, 2001), pre-mRNA processing (Ajuh *et al.*, 2002), and VP16 association (Wilson *et al.*, 1997), also abrogates interaction with cellular proteins such as Luman/LZIP (Freiman and Herr, 1997), although Luman/LZIP interaction is incidental to the ability of HCF-1 to promote cell cycle progression (Mahajan and Wilson, 2000). We wished to determine whether the point mutation in HCF-1 that causes cell cycle arrest also abrogates Miz-1 binding and/or the ability of HCF-1 to influence Miz-1 activity. Although the N-terminal HCF-1 kelch domain, which harbours proline 134, is not necessary for Miz-1 interaction, the possibility remains that in the context of the native protein or larger sub-fragments of HCF-1, the P134S point mutation may induce long range perturbations that could modulate Miz-1 binding. To test this directly, we used GST pull-down assays with GST-Miz-1₆₃₇₋₈₀₃ and *in vitro* synthesized, radiolabelled wild type HCF-1₁₋₉₀₂ or the corresponding HCF-1 fragment harbouring the P134S point mutation. As expected, radiolabelled HCF₁₋₉₀₂ bound to GST-Miz-1₆₃₇₋₈₀₃ but not to GST alone (figure 3.10a). In addition, HCF-1_{1-902P1345} bound to GST-Miz-1₆₃₇₋₈₀₃ as efficiently as the wild type HCF-1. To ensure the specificity and selectivity of the assay, we tested HCF-1 binding to GST-VP16₁₋₄₀₄, a GST fusion protein linked to residues 1-404 of VP16 which contains determinants necessary for interaction with HCF-1 (Popova et al., 1995). As expected, HCF₁₋₉₀₂ but not HCF-1_{1-902P134S} bound to GST-VP16₁₋₄₀₄. Although direct interaction between HCF-1 and Miz-1 is unaffected by the P134S mutation in HCF-1, the possibility remained that the HCF-1 mutation may affect the ability of HCF-1 to influence Miz-1 activity. To determine whether the P134S mutation affects the ability of HCF-1 to attenuate Miz-1-mediated transactivation, we carried out transient transfection experiments similar to those described for figure 3.7. As shown in figure 3.10b, full length HCF-1 harbouring the P134S mutation retained the ability to inhibit transactivation by Miz-1. Thus, under these experimental conditions, the causative point mutation in HCF-1 that is responsible for the temperature-sensitive cell cycle arrest in



Figure 3.10: The P134S mutation in HCF-1 does not inhibit binding to, or transactivation by, Miz-1. A. *In vitro* synthesized ³⁵S-methionine-labeled HCF-1(1-902) or HCF-1(1-902)(P134S) was incubated with GST, GST-Miz-1(637-803), or GST-VP16(1-404) as indicated, and bound material was analyzed by SDS-PAGE. 1/10 load represents 10% of the ³⁵S-methionine-labeled protein used in the respective binding assays. B. COS-1 cells were co-transfected with a GAL4-responsive luciferase reporter plasmid and the indicated GAL4-Miz-1 fusion expression vector or GAL4-VP16AAD in the absence or presence of increasing amounts of an expression vector for full length (wild type (WT)) HCF-1 or HCF-1 (P134S) as indicated and assayed for luciferase activity as described in the legend to figure 3.7.

tsBN67 cells does not interfere with the ability of HCF-1 to associate with Miz-1 or inhibit transactivation by Miz-1.

3.2 INVESTIGATING THE IMPORTANCE OF MIZ-1 AND OTHER HCF-1 BASIC DOMAIN INTERACTION PARTNERS IN tsBN67 PROLIFERATION

3.2.1 Identification of an HCF-1 mutant compromised in its ability to bind GABP

The basic domain of HCF-1 has been shown to be necessary for cellular proliferation of tsBN67 cells (Wilson et al., 1997). However, this region has been shown to interact with a variety of cellular proteins, in addition to Miz-1 (Gunther et al., 2000; Vogel and Kristie, 2000a; Wysocka et al., 2003). How any of the basic domain interacting proteins contribute to HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation is not currently known. We intended to determine whether the interaction with Miz-1 is necessary for HCF-1-mediated complementation of the temperature-sensitive cellular proliferation defect in tsBN67 cells by constructing HCF-1 mutants impaired in their ability to bind Miz-1. In order to construct a manageable number of HCF-1 mutants, we first sought to further localize a region of HCF-1 that mediated interaction with Miz-1. We had previously used the yeast 2-hybrid interaction assay to determine that residues 750-902 in HCF-1 were sufficient for this function (see figure 3.4), and thus created further N- and C-terminal deletions within GAL4-DBD-HCF-1750-902 and tested these for interaction by yeast 2-hybrid analysis with GAL4-AD-Miz-1 to minimize the number of residues we would have to mutate (see figure 3.11). These experiments demonstrate that HCF-1 residues 770-806 are sufficient to interact with Miz-1.

INTERACTION WITH GAL4

GAL4 DBD		MIZ-1
HCF-1750-902		++++
HCF-1750-836		+++
HCF-1750-816		++
HCF-1750-811		+
HCF-1750-806		++
HCF-1750-801		+/-
HCF-1750-796		-
HCF-1770-836		+++
HCF-1 ₇₉₀₋₈₃₆		-
HCF-1 ₇₉₀₋₉₀₂		++

Figure 3.11: Identification of a small region in HCF-1 that mediates binding to Miz-1. Yeast 2-hybrid assay was utilized to detect interaction between HCF-1 constructs and Miz-1. Yeast strain, Y190, was transformed with the indicated plasmids and grown on appropriate media for 3-4 days. β -gal activity was determined qualitatively using β -gal overlay assay with X-gal as substrate. Each plus sign represents 25% of full activity (or 25% of the strongest interaction) as estimated from the intensity of blue.

With this information we next constructed a series of triple alanine mutations or internal deletions within a fragment of HCF-1 encompassing residues 750-902 fused to the GAL4-DBD. The mutants were tested for interaction with GAL4-AD fusions to Miz-1 in a quantitative yeast 2-hybrid assay, as shown in figure 3.12. However, a mutant displaying a reduced ability to bind Miz-1 was not found. We believe that this is the result of the nature of the HCF-1/Miz-1 interaction. Miz-1 may contact several clusters of amino acids over a region of HCF-1 spanning residues 770-902, and an analysis of the data from figure 3.11 reveals that although regions 770-790, 796-806, and 836-902 of HCF-1 are necessary for Miz-1 interaction when assayed within smaller fragments of the HCF-1 basic domain lacking compensatory regions, these regions are not necessary to interact with Miz-1, when only one region is mutated or deleted in the context of the Thus, mutation of one cluster of amino acids in HCF-1 is entire basic domain. insufficient to abrogate binding to Miz-1. Our inability to generate an HCF-1 mutant impaired in its ability to interact with Miz-1 is reminiscent of similar problems reported by others in generating a pRB mutant impaired in its interaction with E2F factors (Dick and Dyson, 2002). Similar to the situation with HCF-1/Miz-1, the crystal structure of an 18 amino acid peptide from the carboxy-terminus of E2F with the small pocket of pRB revealed that several clusters of amino acids in the pRB pocket directly contacted the E2F peptide (Dick and Dyson, 2003). Consequently, mutation of any one of these clusters alone was insufficient to disrupt the pRB/E2F interaction (Dick and Dyson, 2002). Indeed, simultaneous substitution of four clusters of amino acids within the pocket was necessary to disrupt binding (Dick and Dyson, 2002). Thus, the nature of the HCF-

INTERACTION (β -GAL VALUES)

GAL4 DBD HCF-1 CONSTRUCT	MIZ-1	GABP
WILD TYPE	41.2+/-2.8	1.6+/-0.06
769 -771 Ala	44.4+/-2.7	1.0+/-0.07
772 -774Ala	46.2+/-1.3	1.8+/-0.08
775 -777Ala	49.1+/-3.9	1.8+/-0.06
778 -780Ala	54.6+/-4.9	2.1+/-0.13
781 -783Ala	38.6+/-3.8	1.2+/-0.04
784 -786Ala	48.5+/-3.1	2.2+/-0.06
786 -787Ala	44.0+/-4.7	2.2+/-0.07
788 -789Ala	44.0+/-2.6	2.3+/-0.2
790 -792Ala	48.2+/-3.8	2.1+/-0.09
793 - 795Ala	55.4+/-1.6	0.6+/-0.07
796 -798Ala	41.7+/-1.6	2.2+/-0.05
799 -801Ala	50.3+/-2.7	2. 4+/-0.1
∆797 -801	47.9+/-2.3	3.2+/-0.2
∆802 -806	59.2+/-5.2	3.0+/-0.4
∆797 -806	44.6+/-4.0	2.9+/-0.2

Figure 3.12: HCF-1 mutant 793-795Ala is impaired in its interaction with GABP but not Miz-1. Yeast 2-hybrid assay was utilized to detect interaction between HCF-1 mutants and Miz-1 or GABP. Yeast strain Y190 was transformed with the indicated plasmids and grown for 3-4 days on appropriate media. Interaction was detected using quantitative β -galactosidase assay using ONPG as substrate. The values shown represent the average β -galactosidase activity (+/- SD) from three independent transformants assayed in duplicate. Mutations were made by PCR mutagenesis (Stratagene QuikChange Mutagenesis) using HCF-1 (750-902) as the wild type. Nomenclature is as follows: "769-771Ala" indicates that residues 769, 770, and 771 have been changed to alanine within the HCF-1 (750-902) background. Δ 797-801 indicates that residues 797-801 inclusive have been deleted from the HCF-1 (750-902) background.

1/Miz-1 interaction may be similar to the nature of the pRB/E2F interaction, and thus without prior knowledge of the three dimensional structure of the HCF-1/Miz-1 interaction, generation of an HCF-1 mutant impaired in its ability to interact with Miz-1 will prove equally difficult to attain.

Although unable to isolate a mutation that reduced binding to Miz-1, we also tested whether any of the mutations we had created in HCF-1 could influence binding to GABP, another HCF-1 binding partner which also targets the basic domain (Vogel and Kristie, 2000a). In fact, a mutant in which amino acids 793-795 were mutated to alanine exhibited nearly three fold less binding to GABP, whereas binding to Miz-1 was slightly increased, indicating that this mutant fragment of HCF-1 is folding into a functional polypeptide. Therefore, although we have not isolated an HCF-1 mutant compromised in its ability to bind Miz-1, we have found one compromised in its ability to bind GABP. In addition to the 793-795Ala mutant, two other triple alanine mutations, 769-771Ala and 781-783Ala, were shown to have a somewhat reduced capability to bind GABP, although not to the extent of the 793-795Ala mutant (see figure 3.12).

3.2.2 HCF-1 793-795Ala mutant is also compromised in its ability to rescue the tsBN67 cell cycle defect

Having identified an HCF-1 mutant compromised in its ability to bind GABP, we next exploited this finding to determine the importance of GABP in HCF-1-mediated cell cycle progression by testing the ability of this mutant to complement the tsBN67 cell cycle proliferation defect. We thus conducted a commonly used assay for HCF-1 function in which the ability of HCF-1 to rescue cell proliferation in a temperature-

sensitive cell line, tsBN67_{HR1}, was assessed (Wilson et al., 1997; Scarr and Sharp, 2002). tsBN67_{HR1} cells were transfected with pSV2-NEO along with one of the following; HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁, HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁P134S, HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁769-771Ala, HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁781-783Ala, or HCF-1₁₋ 1011793-795Ala as shown in figure 3.13a. Transfected cells were split two days later in media containing G418, to eliminate untransfected cells, and grown at 33.5°C or 40°C for three weeks and visualized by crystal violet staining. Growth at 33.5° C was relatively equivalent in all transfections (figure 3.13a; compare plates a, c, e, g, i, k) indicating equivalent transfection efficiencies. As expected, the P134S mutation served as a negative control, and failed to complement the temperature-sensitive defect (compare plates b, d, and f). The 769-771Ala and 781-783Ala mutants which bound GABP to nearly wild type levels, as shown in figure 3.12, rescued the temperature-sensitive defect to nearly wild type levels although they were somewhat compromised in their ability to complement the temperature-sensitive defect compared to wild type HCF- 1_{1-1011} (compare plates d, h, and j). On the other hand, the 793-795Ala mutant which had a 3fold less ability to bind HCF-1 was also compromised in its ability to complement the tsBN67 defect as considerably fewer colonies were evident on its plate as compared to the wild type HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁ plate (compare plates d and l). A Western blot, shown in figure 3.13b, demonstrates that wild type HCF- 1_{1-1011} and the novel mutants were expressed to comparable levels in tsBN67_{HR1} cells following transfection. Thus, these results indicate that an interaction with GABP is required for HCF-1-mediated rescue of the temperaturesensitive tsBN67 cellular proliferation defect.



Figure 3.13: HCF-1 mutant 793-795Ala, impaired in its interaction with GABP, reduces rescue of the tsBN67 temperature-sensitive cellular proliferation defect. A. tsBN67_{HR1} cells were transfected with pSV2-NEO, HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁, or mutants of HCF-1 as shown. Cells were grown at 33.5° C or 40°C under G418 selection for 3 weeks and visualized by staining with crystal violet. Colonies @ 40°C represents the number of colonies visible on the plate following 3 weeks of growth from the representative experiment. B. The expression levels of HA-tagged HCF-1 constructs were determined by Western blotting with anti-HA antibody. The arrow indicates the position of the HCF-1 constructs. Lysates were produced from tsBN67_{HR1} cells transfected with 1.0µg of the expression vector for the indicated HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁ constructs. The results show representative plates from an experiment performed three times.

3.2.3 Miz-1 does not prevent HCF-1-mediated rescue of the temperature-sensitive cellular proliferation defect in tsBN67_{HR1} cells

The necessity of Miz-1 in tsBN67 cellular proliferation could not be elucidated since we did not selectively disrupt Miz-1 binding to HCF-1. However, we sought additional assays to determine whether Miz-1 was of importance in this process. Having demonstrated that HCF-1 interacts with Miz-1 and reduces the ability of Miz-1 to upregulate the expression of p15^{INK4b}, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, we asked whether overexpression of Miz-1 would affect the ability of HCF-1 to rescue the proliferation defect in tsBN67_{HR1} cells. Miz-1 has been shown to upregulate the expression of p15^{INK4b} (Seoane et al., 2001; Staller et al., 2001), p21^{Cip1} (Seoane et al., 2002; Wu et al., 2003), and p57Kip2 (Adhikary et al., 2003), cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors, and result in cell cycle arrest at G1 in a variety of cell lines (Peukert et al., 1997; Staller et al., 2001; Herold et al., 2002; Zhao et al., 2004). Interestingly, this effect requires the Miz-1 DNA binding domain, indicating that transcriptional control is involved in this mechanism (Peukert et al., 1997). Furthermore, a Miz-1 construct lacking the POZ domain is compromised in its ability to activate transcription and promote cell cycle arrest (Herold *et al.*, 2002). Thus, whereas overexpression of full length Miz-1 results in cell cycle arrest in a variety of cell lines, overexpression of Miz- $1_{\Delta POZ}$ does not (Herold *et al.*, 2002). Together, these results suggest that Miz-1-induced cell cycle arrest occurs by transactivation of Miz-1 target genes, and that the Miz-1 POZ domain is required for transcriptional activation and growth suppression by Miz-1. We therefore wished to determine whether overexpression of Miz-1_{FL} would override HCF-1mediated cell cycle progression in tsBN67_{HR1} cells and whether deleting the POZ domain

from Miz-1 would compromise this function. tsBN67_{HR1} cells were transfected with pSV2-NEO, or HCF- 1_{1-1011} , in combination with wild type Miz-1, Miz- 1_{APOZ} , or the Miz-1 empty vector as shown in figure 3.14. Growth at 33.5°C was relatively equivalent in all transfections (figure 3.14; compare plates a, c, e, g) indicating equivalent transfection efficiencies. As expected, HCF-1 overexpression gave rise to an increase in colony formation at the non-permissive temperature (compare plates b and d), indicating a rescue of temperature-sensitive arrest as shown previously (Wilson et al., 1997; Reilly and Herr, 2002; Scarr and Sharp, 2002). However, unlike previously reported findings in which overexpression of Miz-1 caused arrest of cellular proliferation in a variety of cell lines (Peukert et al., 1997; Staller et al., 2001; Herold et al., 2002), co-transfection of Miz-1_{FL} in conjunction with HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁ did not prevent HCF-1-mediated rescue. Miz- $1_{\Delta POZ}$ acted similarly to full length Miz-1 in this assay, in that it did not prevent rescue by HCF- 1_{1-1011} . These results indicate that Miz-1 cannot overcome an HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation rescue of tsBN67_{HR1} cells at the non-permissive temperature. In fact, the results presented here suggest that the presence of Miz-1 may augment rescue of tsBN67_{HR1} cells in conjunction with HCF-1. This seems paradoxical since Miz-1 is characterized as a cell cycle inhibitory factor that contributes to cell cycle arrest following DNA damage and differentiation signals (Seoane et al., 2001; Herold et al., 2002; Seoane et al., 2002; Wu et al., 2003; Zhao et al., 2004). However, in contrast to studies where Miz-1 overexpression led to growth arrest, more recent results using siRNAs to ablate Miz-1 expression in HepG2 cells indicate that Miz-1 may be required for cellular proliferation (Ziegelbauer *et al.*, 2004). Thus, the function of Miz-1 may be



Figure 3.14: Miz-1 does not prevent HCF-1-mediated rescue of the temperaturesensitive cellular proliferation defect in tsBN67_{HR1} cells. A. tsBN67_{HR1} cells were transfected with pSV2-NEO, or HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁, in conjunction with wild type V5-Miz-1, V5-Miz-1_{ΔPOZ}, or empty vector, as shown. Cells were grown at 33.5°C or 40°C under G418 selection for 3 weeks and visualized by staining with crystal violet. Colonies @ 40°C represents the number of colonies visible on the plate following 3 weeks of growth from the representative experiment. B. The expression levels of wild type V5-Miz-1 and V5-Miz-1_{ΔPOZ} were determined by Western blotting with anti-V5 antibody. Lysates were produced from tsBN67_{HR1} cells transfected with 1.0µg of the expression vector for the indicated Miz-1 construct. The results show representative plates from an experiment performed three times.

cell type specific where its expression level or presence of interaction partners determines whether it results in cell cycle arrest or cellular proliferation. The results presented here suggest that when overexpressed in tsBN67_{HR1} cells, Miz-1 may promote cellular proliferation in conjunction with HCF-1. A Western blot is shown in figure 3.14b demonstrating that both Miz-1_{FL} and Miz-1_{Δ POZ} were expressed to comparable levels in tsBN67_{HR1} cells following transfection.

3.2.4 Fragments of HCF-1 that selectively interact with Miz-1 do not affect rescue of tsBN67_{HR1} cells by HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁

Previous work by Sharp and co-workers has demonstrated an interaction between HCF-1 and PDCD2 (Scarr and Sharp, 2002), the human homologue of a rat protein associated with apoptosis (Kawakami et al., 1995). They have demonstrated that overexpression of PDCD2 overcomes HCF-1-mediated rescue of the tsBN67_{HR1} cellular proliferation defect at the non-permissive temperature and that fragments of HCF-1 that selectively bind PDCD2 augment the rescue by HCF-1, presumably by binding to endogenous PDCD2 and preventing their negative effects on HCF-1 (Scarr and Sharp, 2002). Although, we had been unable to demonstrate an inhibitory effect by Miz-1 on HCF-1-mediated rescue of $tsBN67_{HR1}$ cells, we wished to determine whether fragments of HCF-1 that selectively interact with Miz-1, could influence rescue by co-transfected $HCF-1_{1-1011}$. In order to test this possibility, we first isolated fragments of HCF-1 that selectively bound Miz-1. The HCF-1 basic domain, at the time of these experiments, had been shown to interact with two other cellular transcription factors, GABP (Vogel and Kristie, 2000a) and Sp1 (Gunther et al., 2000). Although the Sp1 interaction site is entirely downstream of the Miz-1 binding site and thus functionally distinct (Gunther et

al., 2000), the GABP interaction site (amino acids 813-847 of HCF-1) (Vogel and Kristie, 2000a) overlaps with the Miz-1 interaction site (amino acids 750-902 of HCF-1). Thus, we further delineated these interaction sites in order to uncover a fragment that selectively bound Miz-1. To accomplish this we utilized the series of deletions within GAL4-DBD-HCF-1750-902 we had constructed previously (see figure 3.11) and tested these for interaction by yeast 2-hybrid analysis with both GAL4-AD-Miz-1 and –GABP. As shown in figure 3.15a, although Miz-1 and GABP both bound to HCF-1 residues 750-902 as expected, they exhibited different requirements as illustrated by a number of key Most importantly, although HCF-1 residues 770-836 and 790-902 were deletions. sufficient to bind Miz-1, residues 790-836 were not, indicating that two regions of HCF-1 within residues 770-902 are important for Miz-1 interaction. Specifically, these results indicate that a region encompassed by residues 770-790, and a separate region encompassing HCF-1 residues 836-902 are both involved in Miz-1 interaction. Conversely, interaction between HCF-1 and GABP was much more sensitive to several of the HCF-1 deletions. The results with GABP are consistent with reports by Vogel and Kristie that HCF-1 residues 813-847 are critical to maintain an HCF-1/GABP interaction (Vogel and Kristie, 2000a). Thus, our results demonstrate that deleting residues 816-836 severely impairs the HCF-1/GABP interaction; allowing us to distinguish regions of the HCF-1 basic domain that contribute to the distinct interactions with Miz-1 and GABP. More importantly, these experiments have uncovered a region (residues 770-836) of HCF-1 that selectively maintains interaction with Miz-1. In order to confirm that a fragment of HCF-1 spanning residues 770-836 was sufficient to interact with Miz-1, we

1	Δ
- 1	

INTERACTION WITH GAL4 AD

GAL4 DBD		MIZ-1	GABP
HCF-1750-902		++++	+++
HCF-1750-836		+++	+
HCF-1750-816		++	+/-
HCF-1 ₇₅₀₋₈₁₁		+	-
HCF-1750-806		++	-
HCF-1750-801		+/-	-
HCF-1750-796		-	-
HCF-1770-836		+++	-
HCF-1790-836		-	-
HCF-1790-902		++	++

В



Figure 3.15: Fine mapping to determine HCF-1 residues involved in binding to Miz-1 and GABP. A. Yeast 2-hybrid assay was utilized to detect interaction between HCF-1 constructs and Miz-1 or GABP. Yeast strain, Y190, was transformed with the indicated plasmids and grown on appropriate media for 3-4 days. β -gal activity was determined qualitatively using β -gal overlay assay with X-gal as substrate. Each plus sign represents 25% of full activity (or 25% of the strongest interaction) as estimated from the intensity of blue. B. *In vitro* GST pull-down assay. S-methionine labelled Miz-1

synthesized *in vitro* was incubated with GST alone or with various GST-fusion proteins as indicated, and bound material was analysed by SDS- polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. The 1/10 load lanes represent 10% of the ³⁵S-methionine labelled protein added to the respective binding assays.

generated a GST fusion to HCF-1 residues 770-836 and tested binding to radiolabelled Miz-1 in GST pull-down assays. As shown in figure 3.15b, radiolabelled full length Miz-1 bound to a GST fusion to HCF-1 residues 750-902 but not to GST alone, as shown previously in figure 3.4. In addition, radiolabelled full length Miz-1 retained interaction with a GST fusion to HCF-1 residues 770-836. These results confirm that HCF-1 residues 770-836 are sufficient to bind to Miz-1 and taken together with results presented in figure 3.15a, suggest that these residues are selective in their interaction with Miz-1. Interestingly, since these experiments were conducted, a third protein, Sin3 HDAC, has been shown to interact with the HCF-1 basic domain (Wysocka *et al.*, 2003). However, this interaction has been mapped to HCF-1 residues 610-722 (Wysocka *et al.*, 2003) and therefore we believe residues 770-836 are selective for Miz-1, although there may exist additional HCF-1 basic domain partners that are not known at this time that may also target these residues.

Thus, to date, we have discovered an HCF-1 fragment that selectively interacts with Miz-1. Our objective was to determine whether this HCF-1 fragment would have any effect on the rescue of the tsBN67_{HR1} temperature-sensitive cellular proliferation defect by HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁, thus indicating the importance of Miz-1 to HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation. To accomplish this, tsBN67_{HR1} cells were transfected with pSV2-NEO, or HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁, in combination with HCF-1₇₅₀₋₉₀₂ (a fragment that binds to both Miz-1 and GABP), HCF-1₇₇₀₋₈₃₆ (a fragment that selectively binds Miz-1), HCF-1₁₋₃₈₀ (the kelch domain that interacts with a number of cellular proteins), or the HCF-1 empty vector as shown in figure 3.16. Curiously, rescue by HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁ was unaffected by co-



Figure 3.16: HCF-1 fragments do not prevent HCF-1-mediated rescue of the temperature-sensitive cellular proliferation defect in tsBN67_{HR1} cells. A. tsBN67_{HR1} cells were transfected with pSV2-NEO, or HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁, in conjunction with Flag-tagged fusions of HCF-1 or empty vector, as shown. Cells were grown at 33.5° C or 40° C under G418 selection for 3 weeks and visualized by staining with crystal violet. Colonies @ 40° C represents the number of colonies visible on the plate following 3 weeks of growth from the representative experiment. B. The expression levels of Flag-tagged HCF-1 fusions were determined by Western blotting with anti-Flag antibody. Lysates were produced from tsBN67_{HR1} cells transfected with 2.0µg of the expression vector for the indicated HCF-1 construct. The results show representative plates from an experiment performed three times.

transfection of any of the HCF-1 fragments (figure 3.16a; compare plates b, d, f, h, and j). However, it is difficult to predict the outcome of overexpressing fragments of HCF-1 that block the interaction of endogeneous full length HCF-1 and its endogeneous interaction partners in tsBN67_{HR1} cells. For instance the kelch domain interacts with a large number of cellular factors and since HCF-1 may be both a co-activator and a co-repressor, overexpression of the kelch domain fragment may deregulate the expression of both growth-inhibitory and growth-promoting genes, with the effects cancelling each other out. In addition, the HCF-1 fragments may interact with additional proteins which we are unaware of and influence unknown target genes, making it difficult to predict the outcome of their overexpression. Lastly, the effect of the overexpressed HCF-1 fragments may be concentration-dependent in $t_{\rm sBN67_{HR1}}$ cells, and thus the amounts expressed in these experiments may be suboptimal. Western blots are shown in figure 3.16b demonstrating that although these HCF-1 fragments did not affect rescue, they were expressed in tsBN67_{HR1} cells following transfection. These results indicate that the subfragments of HCF-1 used here are unable to affect rescue by HCF- 1_{1-1011} unlike the Cterminal fragment of HCF-1 used by Sharp and colleagues (Scarr and Sharp, 2002).

3.2.5 The HCF-2 Fn3 repeats interact with HCF-1 partners including Miz-1

Human cells contain an HCF-1-like protein, termed HCF-2 (Johnson *et al.*, 1999), which shares with HCF-1 conserved amino- and carboxy-terminal domains (Johnson *et al.*, 1999). Although HCF-2 is able to support VP16-induced complex (VIC) formation, it is unable to rescue the temperature-sensitive cell cycle defect in tsBN67_{HR1} cells (Johnson *et al.*, 1999; Lee and Herr, 2001). Interestingly, rescue by HCF-1 is inhibited

by co-expression of HCF-2 (Johnson *et al.*, 1999). This suggests that HCF-1 and HCF-2 represent a pair of regulators of cell proliferation that counteract each other. It has been suggested that HCF-2 antagonizes HCF-1 activity through binding to HCF-1 interaction partners, and displaying different activities with shared partners, such as with VP16 (Johnson et al., 1999; Lee and Herr, 2001). HCF-2 shares with HCF-1 both the aminoterminal kelch domain and the carboxy-terminal Fn3 repeats, both of which fold into protein-protein interaction surfaces (Johnson et al., 1999; Wilson et al., 2000). The presence of Fn3 repeats in HCF-2 has been particularly puzzling since these repeats in HCF-1 serve as self-association sequences allowing for non-covalent re-association of amino- and carboxy-terminal fragments following proteolytic cleavage of HCF-1 (Wilson et al., 2000). Since HCF-2 is not proteolytically processed, the presence of Fn3 repeats in HCF-2 may indicate a dual role for these sequences in HCF-1 function that is conserved in HCF-2 (Wilson et al., 2000). Thus, it has been hypothesized that in HCF-2, the Fn3 repeats may serve as a protein-protein interaction surface with cellular proteins (Wilson *et al.*, 2000).

Although a small fragment of HCF-1 which selectively bound Miz-1 did not influence HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁ complementation of tsBN67 cells, we sought to determine whether HCF-2 interacted with any HCF-1 interaction partners and whether any of these interactions contributed to its antagonistic effect on HCF-1 complementation of tsBN67 cells. These experiments were designed to define regions of HCF-2 and interactions that are important for its function, and indirectly assess the importance of shared interaction partners in HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation. Full length HCF-2 fused to GAL4-

DBD has been shown by Lee and Herr, and in our own observations, to be non-functional in yeast 2-hybrid assays even though it is expressed (Lee and Herr, 2001). However, various HCF-2 fusions to GAL4-DBD were constructed and these were tested for interaction by yeast 2-hybrid analysis with GAL4-AD-Miz-1, -GABP, -Zhangfei (ZF), and -VP16. As shown in figure 3.17, the amino-terminal residues 2-373, which forms the kelch domain in HCF-2 (Johnson et al., 1999), only bound Zhangfei, and not with VP16. The central region of HCF-2 corresponding to residues 373-596, which lacks any homology to HCF-1 (Johnson et al., 1999) failed to interact with any of the proteins tested here. By contrast, the carboxy-terminal domain of HCF-2 which is homologous to the Fn3 repeats in HCF-1 (Johnson et al., 1999; Wilson et al., 2000) interacted with both Miz-1 and GABP. In an attempt to further define subfragments within the carboxyterminal HCF-2 Fn3 repeats that would selectively bind either Miz-1 or GABP, additional mutants were constructed as GAL4-DBD fusions. As shown in figure 3.17, residues 662-792 binds to GABP selectively, whereas residues 727-792 binds to Miz-1 selectively. These results have identified Miz-1, GABP, and Zhangfei as common interaction partners that are shared between HCF-1 and HCF-2, and furthermore, that the Fn3 repeats in HCF-2 do function as a protein-protein interaction surface, recruiting Miz-1 and GABP. In order to confirm the Miz-1/HCF-2 interaction we utilized the in vitro GST pull-down assay with a variety of HCF-2 GST fusions and radiolabelled Miz-1, or a GST fusion to Miz-1 residues 637-803 and radiolabelled HCF-2 fragments. As shown in figure 3.18, radiolabelled full length HCF-2 interacted with GST-Miz-1₆₃₇₋₈₀₃ but not to GST alone confirming an interaction between HCF-2 and Miz-1. In agreement with the



INTERACTION WITH GAL4 AD CONSTRUCT

Figure 3.17: The HCF-2 Fn3 repeats interact with HCF-1 partners. Yeast 2-hybrid assay was utilized to detect interaction between HCF-2 constructs and various HCF-1 interaction partners as shown. Yeast strain Y190 was transformed with yeast expression vectors for the indicated proteins and grown on appropriate media for 3-4 days. β -gal activity was determined qualitatively using the β -gal overlay assay with X-gal as substrate. Interaction is indicated by (+).



Figure 3.18: HCF-2 residues 727-792 are sufficient for Miz-1 interaction. A. *In vitro* GST pull-down assay. A variety of ³⁵S-methionine labelled polypeptides synthesized *in vitro* were incubated with GST alone or with various GST-fusion proteins as indicated, and bound material was analysed by SDS- polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. The 1/10 load lanes represent 10% of the ³⁵S-methionine labelled protein added to the respective binding assays. B. Schematic representation of the HCF-2 deletion constructs used above and summary of the *in vitro* HCF-2 interaction results. +, specific interaction; -, no interaction.

results from the yeast 2-hybrid analysis, a radiolabelled fragment of HCF-2 corresponding to its kelch domain failed to interact with GST-Miz-1₆₃₇₋₈₀₃. Furthermore, radiolabelled full length Miz-1 interacted with both GST-HCF-2₅₉₆₋₇₉₂ and GST-HCF- $2_{727-792}$ but failed to interact with GST-HCF- $2_{373-596}$ and GST-HCF- $2_{662-792}$ in agreement with yeast 2-hybrid results presented in figure 3.17. These results are summarized in figure 3.18b.

3.2.6 A fragment of HCF-2 encompassing residues 662-792, which selectively binds GABP, is sufficient to reduce rescue of the tsBN67 cell cycle defect by HCF- 1_{1-1011}

Although HCF-2 cannot functionally replace HCF-1 in rescuing the tsBN67 cellular proliferation defect, some overlap in function is evident by the fact that coexpression of HCF-2 prevents HCF-1-mediated rescue of the temperature-sensitive defect in tsBN67 cells (Johnson *et al.*, 1999). We sought to determine which domains of HCF-2 retain this trans-dominant inhibitor effect on cell cycle rescue by HCF-1. To determine which, if any, domains of HCF-2 retain the ability of full length HCF-2 to prevent HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation in tsBN67_{HR1} cells, the effect of co-transfection of various HCF-2 fragments on complementation by HCF-1 was determined. Unfortunately, the effect of an HCF-2 fragment, which selectively binds to Miz-1 (HCF-2 residues 727-792), on complementation by HCF-1 remains undetermined since such a fragment could not be stably expressed in tsBN67_{HR1} cells following transfection. However, we were able to test the effect of three HCF-2 fragments, a kelch domain fragment (HCF-2 residues 2-373), the central region which lacks homology to HCF-1



Figure 3.19: A fragment of HCF-2 encompassing residues 662-792, which selectively binds GABP, is sufficient to reduce HCF-1-mediated rescue of tsBN67 cells. A. tsBN67_{HR1} cells were transfected with pSV2-NEO, or HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁, in conjunction with Flag-tagged fusions of HCF-2 or empty vector, as shown. Cells were grown at 33.5° C or 40° C under G418 selection for 3 weeks and visualized by staining with crystal violet. Colonies @ 40° C represents the number of colonies visible on the plate following 3 weeks of growth from the representative experiment. B. The expression levels of Flag-tagged HCF-2 fusions were determined by Western blotting with anti-Flag antibody. Lysates were produced from tsBN67_{HR1} cells transfected with 2.0µg of the expression vector for the indicated HCF-2 constructs. The results show representative plates from an experiment performed three times.

(HCF-2 residues 373-596), and the carboxy-terminal region (HCF-2 residues 662-792) which selectively binds GABP. Thus, tsBN67_{HR1} cells were transfected with pSV2-NEO, or HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁, in conjunction with HCF-2₂₋₃₇₃, HCF-2₃₇₃₋₅₉₆, HCF-2₆₆₂₋₇₉₂, or the HCF-2 empty vector as shown in figure 3.19. Co-transfection of either HCF-2₂₋₃₇₃ or HCF-2₃₇₃. $_{596}$ in conjunction with HCF- 1_{1-1011} did not have an appreciable effect on rescue by HCF- 1_{1-1011} (compare plates d, f, and h) suggesting that these fragments do not interact with any cellular factors required by HCF-1 for rescue. By contrast, co-transfection of HCF-2 662-792, which selectively binds GABP, in conjunction with HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁ greatly reduced colony formation (compare plates d and j) suggesting that the interaction between HCF-2 and GABP may sequester GABP from HCF-1 thereby preventing rescue by HCF-1. A Western blot is shown in figure 3.19b demonstrating expression levels of the HCF-2 fragments in tsBN67_{HR1} cells following transfection. These results are consistent with the results from the HCF-1 mutagenesis complementation experiments, in which a mutant of HCF-1 reduced in its ability to bind GABP was less efficient in complementing tsBN67 cells than wild type HCF-1, and suggest that the HCF-1 interaction with GABP is required for HCF-1-mediated cell cycle progression.

3.3 IDENTIFYING AND CHARACTERIZING HBM-CONTAINING KELCH DOMAIN INTERACTION PARTNERS

3.3.1 The E2F-4 primary sequence contains an HCF-binding motif (HBM)

A plethora of HCF-1-interacting proteins have been described; however, the identity of cellular factors contributing to HCF-1-mediated cell cycle progression remain largely undiscovered. Since the kelch domain is required for cell cycle progression, in addition to the basic domain (Wilson *et al.*, 1997), we sought to discover kelch domain

interacting proteins to provide insights into the mechanisms of action of HCF-1. To this end a yeast 2-hybrid screen with the HCF-1 kelch domain as bait was conducted. Those experiments yielded only previously identified HCF-1 interaction partners; Luman and Zhangfei (Freiman and Herr, 1997; Lu *et al.*, 1997; Lu and Misra, 2000a). Consequently, another approach was utilized whereby we conducted a database search for cellular proteins containing an HCF-binding motif, a motif that has been shown to mediate interaction with the HCF-1 kelch domain (Freiman and Herr, 1997; Lai and Herr, 1997; Lu *et al.*, 1998; Lu and Misra, 2000a; Mahajan *et al.*, 2002a).

The modular nature of the HCF-1 protein is shown in figure 1.5a. The aminoterminal kelch domain interacts with a variety of cellular factors as well as the viral protein VP16 (Wysocka and Herr, 2003). These proteins contain an HBM (figure 3.20a) which targets the kelch domain. Thus, a database search was conducted which has revealed that a variety of additional cellular factors, known to play a role in transcriptional control and cellular proliferation, contain an HBM (figure 3.20b). Most intriguing, was the discovery that 2 members of the E2F family of transcription factors, E2F-1 and E2F-4, known to play a central role in cellular proliferation (DeGregori, 2002; Trimarchi and Lees, 2002), contain an HBM. Schematic diagrams of E2F-1 and E2F-4, indicating the location of the HBM are presented in figure 3.21. The E2F-1 HBM, DHQY, is located at amino acids 96-99 embedded within a domain that interacts with cyclinA/CDK2 (Krek *et al.*, 1994; Xu *et al.*, 1994) and adjacent to the nuclear localization sequence (Muller *et al.*, 1997; Verona *et al.*, 1997). The E2F-4 HBM, DHDY, is located at amino acids 389-392 embedded within the transactivation domain

A	VP16	³⁶¹ E	Н	А	Y^{364}
	LUMAN	⁷⁸ D	Н	Т	Y ⁸¹
KNOWN HCF-1 KELCH DOMAIN-INTERACTION PARTNERS	ZANGFEI	²²¹ D	Н	D	Y^{224}
	PGC-1β	⁶⁸³ D	Н	D	Y^{686}
	Set1/ASH2	¹³⁰¹ E	Н	Ν	Y^{1304}
	HPIP	⁷⁶ D	Н	Ρ	Y^{79}
	KROX20	¹⁶² D	Н	L	Y ¹⁶⁵
D					
В	E2F-4	³⁸⁹ D	Н	D	Y^{392}
	E2F-1	⁹⁶ D	Н	Q	Y^{99}
PUTATIVE HCF-1 KELCH DOMAIN- INTERACTION PARTNERS	RBP2	¹³⁹⁹ E	Н	Α	Y^{1402}
	C-myb	²³ D	Н	D	Y^{26}
	ERα	⁵²¹ E	Н	L	Y 524
	Werners	⁸⁷³ D	Н	С	Y^{876}
	Protein	¹⁰¹⁸ E	Н	С	Y^{1021}
	CONSENS	us D/E	Н	Х	Y

Figure 3.20: E2F-1 and E2F-4 contain an HBM (HCF-Binding Motif). A. List of various proteins known to interact with the HCF-1 kelch domain through an HBM. Letters indicate single amino acid codes and numbers refer to the amino acid coordinates within each protein. B. List of various cell cycle proteins discovered in the database search described here for proteins containing a putative HBM. Letters indicate single amino acid codes and numbers refer to the amino acid coordinates within each proteins discovered in the database search described here for proteins containing a putative HBM. Letters indicate single amino acid codes and numbers refer to the amino acid coordinates within each protein. The database search was conducted by J. Knez.



Figure 3.21: Schematic diagrams of E2F-1 and E2F-4. Diagrams depict the modular domain structure of E2F-1 and E2F-4 and associated functions and interacting proteins. E2F-1, a member of the 'activating E2Fs', is similar in structure to E2F-4, a member of the 'repressive E2Fs' except for some differences: E2F-4 contains NES sequences whereas E2F-1 contains an NLS; E2F-1 has a domain N-terminal to the DNA-binding domain known as the cyclin A/CDK2-binding domain. The HBM in E2F-4 is embedded within the transactivation domain and is adjacent to the pocket protein binding domain. The HBM in E2F-1 is located on the periphery of the cyclin A/cdk2-binding domain and is adjacent to the NLS.

and adjacent to the pocket protein binding site (Beijersbergen et al., 1994; Ginsberg et al., 1994; Sardet et al., 1995; Lang et al., 2001).

The E2F family of transcription factors, which belong to the basic helix-loophelix class of transcription factors, can be divided into 3 distinct subgroups on the basis of their sequence and structural similarities, as well as their functional roles (Trimarchi and Lees, 2002). The first group consists of E2F-1-3 and are termed the 'activating E2Fs'. The key role for these E2Fs is the activation of genes that are essential for cellular proliferation (DeGregori et al., 1995a; Ishida et al., 2001; Muller et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2001). Overexpression of any of these proteins is sufficient to induce quiescent cells to re-enter the cell cycle (Johnson et al., 1993; Shan et al., 1996; DeGregori et al., 1997), lead to transformation of primary cells (Singh et al., 1994; Conner et al., 2000), and overcome growth arrest signals (DeGregori et al., 1995a; DeGregori et al., 1995b; Schwarz et al., 1995). E2F-1 also appears to have a unique function in that it activates genes that contribute to apoptosis (DeGregori et al., 1997; Nahle et al., 2002). In support of this, E2F-1 has been shown to cause both increased proliferation and apoptosis in in vitro studies (DeGregori et al., 1997; Nahle et al., 2002), and E2F-1 deficient mice develop tumours (Yamasaki et al., 1996), which is consistent with a role for E2F-1 in apoptosis as well as proliferation.

By contrast, E2F-4/5 seem to be primarily involved in the active repression of E2F responsive genes at G0/G1 through recruitment of pocket proteins and associated chromatin remodeling activities, and are thus termed the 'repressive E2Fs' (Tommasi and Pfeifer, 1995; Vairo *et al.*, 1995; Li *et al.*, 1997; Iavarone and Massague, 1999;

128

Takahashi et al., 2000; Trimarchi and Lees, 2002). Indeed, the majority of the evidence suggests that E2F-4 is responsible for cell cycle arrest or exit, and differentiation through its ability in G0/G1 to recruit pocket proteins and associated HDAC complexes to certain gene promoters (Paramio et al., 2000; Takahashi et al., 2000). Specifically, E2F-4/5 deficient mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs) failed to arrest in G1 in response to p16^{INK4a} (Gaubatz et al., 2000). Alternatively, under certain experimental conditions E2F-4 can also lead to cellular proliferation and display oncogenic properties (Beijersbergen et al., 1994; Ginsberg et al., 1994; Wang et al., 2000). In support of this, E2F-4, like E2F-1, has been shown to contain an autonomous transactivation domain in its C-terminus that binds the acetyltransferase GCN5 and cofactor TRAPP in vivo (Lang et al., 2001). Thus, although it is hypothesized that E2F-1-3 are transcriptional activators and cell cyle promotors, whereas E2F-4/5 are transcriptional repressors and cell cycle inhibitors, E2F-4 contains a transactivation domain and thus may stimulate transcription in a restricted developmental or cell cycle window at certain target promoters (Lang et al., 2001; Pierce et al., 1998).

3.3.2 E2F-1 and E2F-4, but not E2F-5, interact with HCF-1 in mammalian cells

The E2F family of transcription factors contains 7 members; E2F-1 through E2F-7. Thus, of the 7 E2F family members, only E2F-1 and E2F-4 contain a putative HBM. To determine whether these E2F factors could indeed bind to HCF-1 in mammalian cells *in vivo*, J. Knez carried out co-immunoprecipitation experiments with tsBN67_{HR1} cells cotransfected with expression vectors for HA-tagged E2Fs and Flag-tagged HCF-1₁₋₉₀₂. Cell extracts were immunoprecipitated with anti-Flag antibody. The precipitates were
Α

В





resolved on a SDS polyacrylamide gel and probed with anti-HA, or anti-E2F-4 antibody. As shown in figure 3.22a, HA-E2F-1 was present in immune complexes precipitated with anti-Flag antibody from cells that had been transfected with both Flag-HCF-1₁₋₉₀₂ and HA-E2F-1 expression vectors, but not from control cells that were transfected with HA-E2F-1 alone (compare lanes 1 and 2). In contrast to E2F-1, HA-E2F-5, which lacks the HBM, failed to co-immunoprecipitate with Flag-HCF-1₁₋₉₀₂. Similar to the result with E2F-1, figure 3.22b demonstrates that E2F-4 was present in immune complexes precipitated with anti-Flag antibody from cells that had been transfected with both Flag-HCF-1₁₋₉₀₂. Alternative the HA-E2F-1 and E2F-1 alone (compare lanes 1 and 2). These results show that E2F precipitated with anti-Flag antibody from cells that had been transfected with both Flag-HCF-1₁₋₉₀₂ and HA-E2F-4 alone (compare lanes 1 and 2). These results show that E2F factors that contain an HBM, namely E2F-1 and E2F-4, can form a complex in mammalian cells with HCF-1.

3.3.3 HCF-1_{FL} interacts with both E2F-4_{WT} and an HBM mutant version of E2F-4

We chose to focus our attention on E2F-4 since it is expressed at higher levels than the other E2Fs and accounts for at least half of the *in vivo* E2F activity (Vairo *et al.*, 1995; Moberg *et al.*, 1996). Furthermore, E2F-4 is a 'repressive E2F' which is thought to play an integral role in cell cycle control at the G0/G1 stage (Paramio *et al.*, 2000; Takahashi *et al.*, 2000), the stage at which tsBN67 cells arrest (Goto *et al.*, 1997). To examine the role of the putative HBM in E2F-4 binding to HCF-1, we generated a mutation within the HBM whereby the critical tyrosine was changed to alanine. A similar mutation has been shown to disrupt HBM-dependent binding between HCF-1 and other HBM-containing proteins (Freiman and Herr, 1997; Lu *et al.*, 1998; Lu and Misra,



Figure 3.23: HCF-1_{FL} interacts with wild type E2F-4, as well as an HBM mutant version. tsBN67_{HR1} cells were transfected with expression vectors for Flag-HCF-1_{FL} and wild type E2F-4 or an HBM mutant version, $E2F-4_{Y392A}$, or E2F-4 vectors alone, as indicated. Cell extracts were immunoprecipitated (IP) with anti-Flag antibody and the precipitates were resolved on a SDS-polyacrylamide gel and probed with anti-E2F-4 antibody to detect HA-E2F-4 (top panel). To monitor protein expression, extracts were blotted directly using anti-E2F-4 antibody (bottom panel). These experiments were done in collaboration with J. Knez.

2000a). As shown in figure 3.23, co-immunoprecipitation of E2F-4_{WT} was dependent on co-expression of Flag-HCF-1_{FL} (compare lanes 1 and 3). Surprisingly, the HBM mutant, E2F-4_{Y392A}, retained binding to full length HCF-1 and was dependent on co-expression of Flag-HCF-1_{FL}. We postulated that this result could indicate that another region in E2F-4 contacts a domain within full length HCF-1, and this set of contacts is sufficient to mediate E2F-4/HCF-1 interaction, in addition to the HBM/kelch domain interaction contact. Additional experiments were conducted to test this hypothesis.

3.3.4 E2F-4 interacts with both the HCF-1 kelch and basic domains – HBM mutant retains binding to basic domain but loses interaction with kelch domain

If HCF-1 and E2F-4 each contained 2 sets of interaction motifs then we expected that the HBM mutant version of E2F-4 would fail to bind to the HCF-1 kelch domain but retain binding to the basic domain. To test this possibility, co-immunoprecipitation experiments were conducted between the kelch (HCF-1₁₋₃₈₀) and basic (HCF-1₄₅₀₋₉₀₂) domains and both wild type E2F-4_{WT} and HBM mutant E2F-4 (E2F-4_{Y392A}). E2F-4_{WT} co-immunoprecipitated with both the HCF-1 kelch and basic domains (compare lanes 1 and 3, figure 3.24) supporting the hypothesis that HCF-1 contains 2 domains sufficient to interact with E2F-4. Furthermore, in contrast to wild type E2F-4, the HBM mutant failed to co-immunoprecipitate with the HCF-1 kelch domain (compare lanes 1 and 2) indicating that E2F-4 contains a *bona fide* HBM. In addition, the E2F-4 HBM mutant retained binding to the HCF-1 and E2F-4 can form a complex *in vivo* and that this interaction is mediated by 2 sets of contacts: E2F-4 interacts with the HCF-1 kelch



Figure 3.24: E2F-4 interacts with both the HCF-1 kelch and basic domains – HBM mutant retains binding to basic domain but loses interaction with kelch domain. tsBN67_{HR1} cells were transfected with expression vectors for Flag-HCF-1₁₋₃₈₀ or Flag-HCF-1₄₅₀₋₉₀₂, along with either wild type E2F-4 or E2F-4_{Y392A} as indicated. Cell extracts were immunoprecipitated (IP) with anti-Flag antibody and the precipitates were resolved on a SDS-polyacrylamide gel and probed with anti-E2F-4 antibody to detect HA-E2F-4 (top panel). To monitor protein expression, extracts were blotted directly using anti-E2F-4 antibody (middle panel) or immunoprecipitates were probed with anti-Flag antibody (bottom panel). This figure represents the work of J. Knez, except the Western blots shown in the middle and bottom panels.

domain, in an HBM-dependent manner, and the HCF-1 basic domain interacts with a region of E2F-4 separate from the HBM.

3.3.5 P134S mutation in the context of the kelch domain abrogates binding to E2F-4

The HCF-1 kelch domain has been shown to interact with a number of cellular proteins that contain an HBM (Hayes and O'Hare, 1993; Freiman and Herr, 1997; Lu et al., 1998; Lu and Misra, 2000a; Lin et al., 2002; Mahajan et al., 2002a; Luciano and Wilson, 2003; Wysocka et al., 2003). Mutation of the HBM is sufficient to abrogate binding to these proteins. Conversely, a P134S mutation within the kelch domain, which also results in cell cycle arrest in tsBN67_{HR1} cells, is sufficient to abrogate binding to HBM containing proteins (Freiman and Herr, 1997; Lu and Misra, 2000a; Mahajan et al., 2002a), but not to proteins which bind to other regions of HCF-1 (section 3.1.9). We therefore asked whether a P134S mutation in the context of the kelch domain alone would abrogate binding to E2F-4. J. Knez carried out co-immunoprecipitation experiments with tsBN67_{HR1} cells co-transfected with expression vectors for HA-E2F-4 and Flag-tagged HCF- 1_{1-380} . As shown in figure 3.25, E2F-4 was present in immune complexes precipitated with anti-Flag from cells that were transfected with both Flag-HCF-1₁₋₃₈₀ and HA-E2F-4, but not from cells transfected with Flag-HCF-1_{1-380P134S} and E2F-4. These results support earlier findings showing an interaction between the HCF-1 kelch domain and E2F-4 in mammalian cells and indicate that the P134S mutation, in the context of the kelch domain, abrogates binding to E2F-4, suggesting that E2F-4 may play a role in cell cycle progression mediated by HCF-1.



Figure 3.25: P134S mutation, in the context of the kelch domain, abrogates binding to E2F-4. tsBN67_{HR1} cells were transfected with expression vectors for Flag-HCF-1₁₋₃₈₀ or Flag-HCF-1₁. $_{380P134S}$, along with wild type E2F-4, as indicated. Cell extracts were immunoprecipitated (IP) with anti-Flag antibody and the precipitates were resolved on a SDS-polyacrylamide gel and probed with anti-E2F-4 antibody to detect HA-E2F-4 (top panel). To monitor protein expression, extracts were blotted directly using anti-E2F-4 antibody (middle panel) or immunoprecipitates were probed with anti-Flag antibody (bottom panel). This figure represents the work of J. Knez, except the Western blotting in the middle and bottom panels.

3.3.6 An HBM mutation in E2F-4 abrogates an *in vitro* interaction with HCF-1

We performed additional experiments in order to confirm an interaction between HCF-1 and E2F-4 using in vitro GST pull-down assays with radiolabeled proteins synthesized in vitro. As shown in figure 3.26, in experiments performed by J. Pontoriero, radiolabeled HCF-1₁₋₉₀₂ interacts with a fragment of E2F-4, spanning the carboxyterminal 70 amino acids fused to GST (GST-E2F-4_{C70}), containing the HBM, similar to its interaction with GST-VP16, but not with GST alone. To confirm that E2F-4 contains a functional and *bona fide* HBM we also tested interaction between radiolabeled HCF- 1_1 . ₉₀₂ and an HBM mutant version of the E2F-4 carboxy-terminal fragment fused to GST. In contrast to binding the wild type GST-E2F- 4_{C70} , HCF- 1_{1-902} failed to interact with the HBM mutant version, GST-E2F-4_{C70(Y392A)}. To ensure that this fragment of E2F-4 remained functional, we have also shown that the interaction between E2F-4 and the pocket protein, p130, is unaffected by the Y392A mutation in E2F-4, even though the HBM is adjacent to the pocket protein binding motif in E2F-4. Thus, radiolabelled p130 bound equally efficiently to both GST-E2F-4_{C70} and GST-E2F-4_{C70(Y392A)} but failed to interact with GST alone. These results confirm the interaction between HCF-1 and E2F-4 and further prove that E2F-4 contains a *bona fide* HBM.



Figure 3.26: An HBM mutation in E2F-4 abrogates an *in vitro* interaction with HCF-1. An *in vitro* GST pull-down assay was performed to detect a direct interaction between HCF-1 and E2F-4. ³⁵S-methionine labeled HCF-1₁₋₉₀₂ and p130 synthesized *in vitro* were incubated with GST alone or with various GST fusion proteins as indicated and bound material was analyzed by SDS-PAGE. The 1/10 load lane represents 1/10 of the ³⁵S-methionine labeled protein added to the respective binding assay. This figure represents the work of J. Pontoriero.

3.3.7 E2F-4 interferes with HCF-1-mediated cell cycle rescue of the tsBN67_{HR1} cell cycle progression defect

Finally, we sought to determine a biological significance to the HCF-1/E2F-4 interaction using an assay for HCF-1 function involving in vivo complementation of tsBN67_{HR1} cells (Wilson *et al.*, 1997; Scarr and Sharp, 2002). To determine if E2F-4 is involved in HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation in the tsBN67_{HR1} cell line, the effect of co-transfection with E2F-4 on complementation by HCF-1 was determined. $tsBN67_{HR1}$ cells were transfected with pSV2-NEO, or HCF- 1_{1-1011} , in combination with wild type E2F-4, E2F-4_{Y392A}, or the E2F-4 empty vector as shown in figure 3.27. Interestingly, cotransfection of either E2F-4_{WT} or E2F-4_{Y392A} in conjunction with HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁ greatly decreased colony formation (compare plate d with f and h) suggesting that overexpression of E2F-4 can interfere with HCF-1 function in cellular proliferation. No appreciable difference is seen in the ability of mutant (Y392A) versus wild type E2F-4 to interfere with HCF-1 function in cellular proliferation (compare plates f and h versus d), most likely due to the fact that HCF-1 was shown to bind both wild type E2F-4 and E2F- 4_{Y392A} equally effectively (see figure 3.23; compare lanes 3 and 4). These results indicate that the interaction between HCF-1 and E2F-4 may suppress HCF-1 function in stimulating cellular proliferation. A Western blot is shown in figure 3.27b demonstrating that both wild type E2F-4 and E2F- 4_{Y392A} were expressed to comparable levels in tsBN67_{HR1} cells following transfection.



Figure 3.27: E2F-4 interferes with HCF-1-mediated cell cycle rescue of the temperature-sensitive tsBN67_{HR1} cellular proliferation defect. A. tsBN67_{HR1} cells were transfected with pSV2-NEO, or HCF-1₁₋₁₀₁₁, in conjunction with wild type HA-E2F-4, HA-E2F-4_{Y392A}, or empty vector, as shown. Cells were grown at 33.5°C or 40°C under G418 selection for 3 weeks and visualized by staining with crystal violet. Colonies @ 40°C represents the number of colonies visible on the plate following 3 weeks of growth from the representative experiment. B. The expression levels of HA-E2F-4_{WT} and HA-E2F-4_{Y392A} were determined by Western blotting with anti-HA antibody. Lysates were prepared from tsBN67_{HR1} cells transfected with 1.0µg of the expression vector for the indicated E2F-4 constructs. The results show representative plates from an experiment performed three times.

CHAPTER FOUR

DISCUSSION

HCF-1 is a ubiquitously expressed and evolutionarily conserved protein (Frattini *et al.*, 1994; Kristie *et al.*, 1995; Wilson *et al.*, 1995b; Kristie, 1997; Liu *et al.*, 1999; Mahajan *et al.*, 2002b) that is essential for normal cell cycle progression through the G1/S transition (Goto *et al.*, 1997; Wilson *et al.*, 1997; Julien and Herr, 2003). However, despite a rapidly expanding list of HCF-1 interaction partners, our understanding of the mechanisms of action of HCF-1 is incomplete. In addition to the importance of the kelch domain, the HCF-1 basic domain is also required to complement the temperature-sensitive cellular proliferation defect in tsBN67 cells, suggesting cooperativity between the kelch and basic domains in HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation and the possibility that the basic domain also interacts with key cell cycle regulatory proteins (Wilson *et al.*, 1997). We sought to identify novel interaction partners of HCF-1 that may shed light on the mechanisms of HCF-1-mediated cell cycle progression.

The experiments we present here describe novel interactions between HCF-1 and Miz-1 and E2F-4, and a role for HCF-2 in modulating HCF-1 activity. First, the HCF-1/E2F-4 interaction was discovered through a database search for cellular proteins containing the HBM. Interestingly, both E2F-1 and –4, but not other E2Fs, contain an HBM. E2F-4 physically and functionally interacts with both the kelch and basic domains of HCF-1. We show that E2F-4 antagonizes rescue of the tsBN67 temperature-sensitive defect by HCF-1. Second, the HCF-1/Miz-1 interaction was discovered through yeast 2-hybrid screening for HCF-1 basic domain interaction partners. HCF-1 bound within the

Miz-1 transactivation domain resulting in suppression of Miz-1-dependent expression of p15^{INK4b}, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, suggesting a mechanism for HCF-1mediated cell cycle progression. Third, HCF-2 was found to interact with two HCF-1 basic domain interaction partners, Miz-1 and GABP, and a small carboxy-terminal fragment of HCF-2 which selectively interacted with GABP, mimicked the ability of full length HCF-2 to prevent HCF-1-mediated rescue of the temperature-sensitive cellular proliferation defect in tsBN67 cells. In agreement with this, we demonstrated that an HCF-1 mutant impaired in its ability to bind GABP was also impaired in its ability to rescue the temperature-sensitive defect in tsBN67 cells. Together, these results indicate a role for GABP in this process. Thus, taken together, our findings reveal key cell cycle regulators as novel HCF-1 interaction partners and identify pathways by which HCF-1 may contribute to cellular proliferation.

4.1 IDENTIFYING BASIC DOMAIN INTERACTING PROTEINS

Our findings that HCF-1 physically interacts with Miz-1, a cell cycle regulator that causes cell cycle arrest at G1 (Peukert *et al.*, 1997; Staller *et al.*, 2001; Herold *et al.*, 2002; Zhao *et al.*, 2004), and antagonizes Miz-1-dependent activation of $p15^{INK4b}$, a key cell cycle regulatory protein, provides a provocative new dimension to the activities of these two proteins that may be of consequence to their respective roles in transcription, and their reciprocal effects on cell cycle progression.

4.1.1 HCF-1 may promote cellular proliferation by suppressing Miz-1-dependent expression of p15^{INK4b}

Miz-1 is an integral part of the anti-mitogenic TGF- β signaling pathway and contributes to cell cycle arrest following DNA damage and differentiation signals

(Seoane et al., 2001; Herold et al., 2002; Seoane et al., 2002; Wu et al., 2003). Overexpression of Miz-1 results in G1 arrest via a process mediated in part by the induced expression of genes encoding cell cycle inhibitory proteins. Specifically, p15^{INK4b} (Seoane et al., 2001; Staller et al., 2001), p21^{Cip1} (Seoane et al., 2002; van de Wetering et al., 2002; Wu et al., 2003), p57^{Kip2} (Adhikary et al., 2003), cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors, and Mad4 (Kime and Wright, 2003), a myc antagonist, contain DNA elements within their core promoters which recruit Miz-1 and allow Miz-1-dependent transcriptional activation. Myc interacts with Miz-1 and suppresses Miz-1-dependent transcriptional activation of these genes in the absence of TGF- β or DNA damage and differentiation signals (Seoane et al., 2001; Herold et al., 2002; Wu et al., 2003), by preventing the recruitment of the co-activator, p300, consequently relieving cell cycle arrest and allowing cellular proliferation or apoptosis (Staller et al., 2001; Seoane et al., 2002). Conversely, growth arrest signals relieve myc-mediated repression by causing the dissociation of myc from Miz-1 and allowing expression of cell cycle inhibitory proteins, like p15^{INK4b} (Amati, 2001). Importantly, constructs of myc that are unable to bind to Miz-1 fail to inhibit accumulation of p15^{INK4b} mRNA and are deficient in immortalization (Staller *et al.*, 2001). Thus, growth inhibition pathways stimulated by TGF- β and growth stimulation pathways induced by c-myc converge through Miz-1 on the regulation of p15^{INK4b} gene transcription (Amati, 2001; Gartel and Shchors, 2003; Wanzel et al., 2003). Interestingly, p15^{INK4b} null mice develop tumours and loss of p15^{INK4b} expression due to promoter methylation has frequently been shown in hematopoietic malignancies such as leukemias and lymphomas (Bastova et al., 1997; Herman et al., 1997; Malumbres et al.,

1997; Latres *et al.*, 2000). In addition, although mice lacking $p21^{Cip1}$ do not display a predisposition to cancer development, MEFs lacking $p21^{Cip1}$ are defective in the DNA damage G1 checkpoint and loss of $p21^{Cip1}$ functionally cooperates with Ras transformation in the induction of aggressive tumours *in vivo* (Deng *et al.*, 1995; Missero *et al.*, 1996). $p57^{Kip2}$ null mice have altered differentiation and proliferation and demonstrate an increase in apoptotic cells (Yan *et al.*, 1997; Zhang *et al.*, 1997). These mice display renal medullary dysplasia, adrenal cortical hyperplasia and lens cell hyperproliferation and apoptosis (Zhang *et al.*, 1997). These observations suggest that altering the expression of Miz-1 target genes, including $p15^{INK4b}$, may contribute to tumourigenesis.

Functional analysis indicated that HCF-1 represses transactivation by Miz-1 both on the natural p15^{INK4b} promoter and on artificial GAL4 responsive promoters, in a manner that was associated with recruitment of p300 to Miz-1. This may point to a potential mechanism by which HCF-1 may stimulate cell cycle progression. Thus, as observed with c-myc (Staller *et al.*, 2001), inhibition of Miz-1 activation of p15^{INK4b} by HCF-1 may be expected to result in increased activity of cyclinD1/CDK4 and, thus, progression through the G1/S restriction point. Interestingly, repression of p15^{INK4b} expression was potentiated in the presence of both HCF-1 and c-myc, perhaps reflecting an aggregate response since both c-myc and HCF-1 inhibit recruitment of p300 to Miz-1 (Staller *et al.*, 2001). This suggests that these proteins may function in a cooperative manner to stringently control expression of this pivotal cell cycle regulatory target gene.

4.1.2 HCF-1 targets the Miz-1 POZ and transactivation domains: possible mechanisms of interference with Miz-1 activity

HCF-1 targets two independent regions of Miz-1; the amino-terminal POZ domain, and the carboxy-terminal region spanning residues 637-803. The latter region harbours overlapping but distinguishable determinants for interaction with c-myc and the co-activator p300 (Peukert et al., 1997; Staller et al., 2001), while the POZ domain associates with TopBP1 (Herold et al., 2002), suggesting the possibility of functional interplay among these factors in their interactions with Miz-1. Interestingly, we demonstrated that the 637-803 region functions as a potent autonomous transactivation domain and analysis indicates that the determinants required for binding to HCF-1 and for transactivation overlap. Thus, as in several of its interaction partners (Luciano and Wilson, 2002; Vogel and Kristie, 2000a; Luciano and Wilson, 2003), HCF-1 targets a transactivation function in Miz-1. This underscores a potential general functional property of HCF-1 whereby it modulates the activity of its partner proteins by directly interacting with their respective transactivation domains. Interestingly, transcriptional activation mediated by the isolated carboxy-terminal domain was significantly more robust vis- \dot{a} -vis full length Miz-1 or the ΔPOZ -Miz-1 derivative, suggesting that in the context of the full length protein other regions of Miz-1 lying between residues 109-637 may serve to dampen the activation potential of the carboxy-terminal transactivation domain. The full transcriptional activation potential of Miz-1 may thus only be triggered at times when it has been relieved of this attenuation.

Interference with p300 recruitment is one of several possible mechanisms by which HCF-1 inhibits Miz-1 activity because HCF-1 also independently associates with the Miz-1 POZ domain. POZ domains are conserved protein-protein interaction motifs found at the amino-terminus of many Zn-finger proteins and a group of Poxvirus proteins, and when found as part of transcription factors usually function as negative regulatory domains (Bardwell and Treisman, 1994; Albagli et al., 1995; Collins et al., 2001), in part through recruitment of co-repressors such as N-CoR (nuclear receptor corepressor) and SMRT (silencing mediator for retinoid and thyroid hormone receptor) (Dhordain et al., 1997; Wong and Privalsky, 1998). The Miz-1 POZ domain is thought to be in a latent repressive state and it has been postulated that c-myc serves to convert the Miz-1 POZ domain into an active repressive domain (Peukert et al., 1997). Our findings demonstrate that HCF-1, as well as the minimal Miz-1 interaction sub-region (residues 750-902 of HCF-1), inhibits transactivation of both full length and ΔPOZ GAL4-Miz-1 fusion proteins to a similar degree, suggesting that the POZ domain is not involved in HCF-1-mediated repression. The relevance of HCF-1 interaction with the Miz-1 POZ domain is unclear at present, however, it may be related to a recent report showing that Miz-1 is present in the cytoplasm in association with microtubules (Ziegelbauer et al., 2001). In the presence of drugs that induce expression of the low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR), Miz-1 translocates to the nucleus where it binds to, and activates transcription of the LDLR gene (Ziegelbauer et al., 2001). Translocation under these circumstances required the integrity of the POZ domain, suggesting that the POZ domain may be required for nuclear import of Miz-1 under certain conditions (Ziegelbauer et al., 2001). HCF-1 has been shown to serve as a nuclear import factor for VP16 (LaBoissiere et al., 1999), and thus could potentially play a similar role with Miz1. Native HCF-1 is found almost exclusively in the nucleus (Kristie *et al.*, 1995; Wilson *et al.*, 1995a; LaBoissiere *et al.*, 1999; Wysocka *et al.*, 2001; Izeta *et al.*, 2003b); however, discrete amino-terminal sub-fragments of HCF-1 have been shown to accumulate in the cytoplasm at G0 (Scarr *et al.*, 2000). It is interesting to speculate that these sub-fragments may modulate nuclear translocation of Miz-1, thereby potentiating the repressive effects on Miz-1 activity. In addition, the relevance of the HCF-1/Miz-1 POZ domain interaction may involve regulating the interaction of Miz-1 with TopBP1, another cellular factor shown to associate with the Miz-1 POZ domain (Herold *et al.*, 2002). TopBP1, a cellular protein involved in the cellular response to DNA damage, associates with Miz-1 on the p15^{INK4b} promoter and inhibits transactivation by Miz-1 (Herold *et al.*, 2002). However, upon UV irradiation, TopBP1 is released from Miz-1, freeing active Miz-1, which can activate transcription (Herold *et al.*, 2002). Perhaps, HCF-1 and TopBP1 act cooperatively in regulating Miz-1 activity in the absence of UV irradiation.

4.1.3 HCF-1 possesses the characteristics of a transcriptional co-regulatory factor

We have identified Miz-1 as a novel interaction partner for HCF-1 and illustrate an intriguing new pathway of regulation that potentially links the opposing effects of these two proteins on cell cycle control. Our findings also represent the first example of HCF-1 inhibiting transactivation of an associated transcription factor. Subsequent evidence has been provided by other groups indicating a dual function for HCF-1 in transcriptional control whereby depending on the context, it is expected that HCF-1 will exhibit either co-activation or co-repression properties (Wysocka *et al.*, 2003). Several studies have shown that HCF-1 interacts with the transcriptional activation domain of its interaction partners and contributes to activation (Luciano and Wilson, 2000; Vogel and Kristie, 2000a; Luciano and Wilson, 2003), often contributing its own autonomous transcriptional activation domain (Luciano and Wilson, 2000; Luciano and Wilson, 2003). However, recent reports support a role for HCF-1 interacting either directly (Wysocka *et al.*, 2003) or indirectly (Scarr and Sharp, 2002) with histone deacetylase transcriptional co-repressors and potentially inhibiting transcription activation in certain contexts due to its affects on chromatin structure. Furthermore, Herr and colleagues demonstrated that the ability of HCF-1 to recruit either transcriptional co-activators, like histone methyltransferases, or transcriptional co-repressors, like histone deacetylases, is dependent on its interaction partners, at least in the case with VP16 (Wysocka *et al.*, 2003). Thus, HCF-1 molecules bound to VP16 are selectively bound to histone methyltransferase in the absence of repressive histone deacetylases, thus allowing for transcriptional co-activation of HSV IE genes in this context (Wysocka *et al.*, 2003).

This evidence suggests that HCF-1 shares with several other transcription factors the ability to regulate transcription either positively or negatively. For instance, both cmyc and SMADs are transcription factors with well-defined autonomous transcription activation domains which have been shown to be recruited to DNA by sequence-specific sites in several gene promoters and activate transcription (Dang, 1999; Dijke *et al.*, 2002; Gartel and Shchors, 2003; Shi and Massague, 2003; Wanzel *et al.*, 2003). However, in other cases these proteins are recruited to gene promoters and serve to repress transcription (Dang, 1999; Dijke *et al.*, 2002; Gartel and Shchors, 2003; Shi and Massague, 2003; Wanzel *et al.*, 2003). The transcriptional outcome appears to depend on the context, specifically on the organization of elements within the promoter and proteinprotein interactions (Dang, 1999; Dijke *et al.*, 2002; Gartel and Shchors, 2003; Shi and Massague, 2003; Wanzel *et al.*, 2003; Frederick *et al.*, 2004). Furthermore, a novel HCF-1 related protein called HCLP-1 has been identified and shown to inhibit transactivation by LZIP (Zhou *et al.*, 2001). Thus, HCF-1 and its family members may function as both co-activators and co-repressors of transcription. We believe that this dual nature may be utilized by HCF-1 in cell cycle control since HCF-1 could function as a co-activator of genes which are required for cell cycle progression while also functioning as a corepressor of genes, such as p15^{INK4b}, which serve to inhibit cell cycle progression.

4.1.4 Miz-1 may be one of several effectors in HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation

The discovery of Miz-1 as an HCF-1 interaction partner is intriguing given its role in cell cycle arrest at G1 and since HCF-1 was shown to antagonize its ability to upregulate expression of p15^{INK4b}. Miz-1 targets determinants present in the basic region of HCF-1, a domain that in conjunction with the amino-terminal region, is able to rescue the temperature-sensitive proliferation defect in tsBN67 cells (Wilson *et al.*, 1997). Whether Miz-1 is an important effector in this process remains to be determined. Herr and co-workers demonstrated that the minimal fragment of HCF-1 capable of rescuing the cell cycle defect in tsBN67 cells was residues 1-902, and that further carboxyterminal deletion of this fragment to residue 836 abrogated rescue (Wilson *et al.*, 1997). The Miz-1 minimal binding interface mapped to residues 770-836, and while residues between 836 and 902 enhanced binding with Miz-1, they are neither necessary nor

sufficient for interaction. Moreover, the causative mutation (P134S) in HCF-1 leading to cell cycle arrest does not affect interaction with, or transactivation by, Miz-1. Furthermore, a variety of experiments presented in this thesis indicate that Miz-1 does not play a role in HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation in tsBN67 cells. For instance, coexpression of Miz-1 did not interfere with HCF-1-mediated rescue of tsBN67 cells. Furthermore, a small fragment of HCF-1 specific for Miz-1 binding did not affect HCF-1-mediated rescue of tsBN67 cellular proliferation. There may be a number of possibilities as to why Miz-1 does not affect HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation in tsBN67 cells. First, perhaps the Miz-1/HCF-1 interaction does not play a role in rapidly dividing cells; instead this interaction may be important in cell cycle control at very specific times such as embryogenesis/development or in specific cells. Interestingly, Miz-1 null embryos are not viable, indicating that Miz-1 is required for embryonic development (Adhikary et al., 2003). Perhaps, the Miz-1/HCF-1 interaction is also required during embryogenesis. In addition, Miz-1 may not affect HCF-1-mediated tsBN67 cellular proliferation because HCF-1 is dominant to Miz-1 in these cells. A similar example is seen with the retinoblastoma protein and viral oncoproteins in HeLa cells where wild type pRb does not cause cell cycle arrest whereas mutants of pRb unable to bind to viral oncoproteins do cause cell cycle arrest (Dick and Dyson, 2002). Finally, tsBN67 cells were initially created through a chemical mutagenesis protocol which resulted in the HCF-1 mutation and the consequent temperature-sensitive phenotype (Goto et al., 1997). There is evidence that this cell line may have received additional mutations (LaBoissiere and O'Hare, 2000). Therefore, it is possible that Miz-1 is

ineffective in tsBN67 cells due to a mutation(s) in downstream effectors of the Miz-1 pathway. In any case, our results suggest that the Miz-1/HCF-1 interaction is not critical in HCF-1-mediated rescue of the tsBN67 temperature-sensitive cellular proliferation defect, but may play a role in specific cells and/or at specific times in embryogenesis or development. The foregoing implies that Miz-1 may not be necessary for HCF-1-mediated cell cycle control and that the phenotypic basis of the P134S mutation may be related to as yet unidentified proteins that target the amino terminal and/or basic regions. However, this does not necessarily negate a role for Miz-1 since cell cycle control by HCF-1 is likely a highly complex process that involves the cooperative interplay with many effector targets that recognize both the amino-terminal kelch domain and the adjacent basic region. Thus, Miz-1 interaction may prove to be necessary in HCF-1-mediated cell cycle progression thus explaining the requirement of the HCF-1 basic domain in the rescue of the temperature-sensitive proliferation defect in tsBN67 cells.

4.1.5 A role for GABP in HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation

In contrast to Miz-1, various experiments presented in this thesis suggest that the GABP/HCF-1 interaction is important in HCF-1-mediated rescue of tsBN67 cellular proliferation. For instance, a triple alanine substitution at HCF-1 amino acids 793-795 reduced binding to GABP by 3-fold as determined by a quantitative β -galactosidase activity assay. This mutation also compromised the ability of HCF-1 to rescue the tsBN67 cellular proliferation defect. In addition, a fragment of HCF-2 which only bound GABP diminished rescue of the tsBN67 cellular proliferation defect by HCF-1 thus functioning as a trans-dominant inhibitor in this assay.

function as a co-activator of GABP (Vogel and Kristie, 2000a). Given the fact that GABP has been shown to be involved in the transcriptional activation of several growthpromoting genes (Scott *et al.*, 1994; Imaki *et al.*, 2003) we propose that the GABP/HCF-1 interaction is important in HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation since HCF-1 must contribute to GABP-directed activation of required growth-promoting genes. The fact that HCF-2 inhibits HCF-1-mediated rescue of tsBN67 cellular proliferation and binds GABP further supports a role for a GABP/HCF-1 interaction in this process.

4.1.6 Basic domain interaction partners are also targeted by HCF-2

Our findings that HCF-2 shares common interaction partners with HCF-1 provides an additional commonality between these related proteins. Although these proteins share much in common, they have been shown to be functionally antagonistic in their roles in cellular proliferation (Johnson *et al.*, 1999) and HSV gene expression (Lee and Herr, 2001). Our finding that an HCF-2 fragment which selectively interacts with GABP retains the ability of full length HCF-2 to inhibit HCF-1-mediated rescue of the temperature-sensitive defect in tsBN67 cells provides insight into HCF-2's role in cell cycle control and suggests that the shared interaction with GABP may contribute to the antagonistic roles HCF-1 and HCF-2 play in cellular proliferation. HCF-2 shares homology with the carboxy-terminal domain of HCF-1, known as the Fn3 repeats, which fold into two β sheets packed against each other to form an extended groove that can form an attractive docking site for interacting proteins (Wilson *et al.*, 2000). The repeats function as a self-association domain in HCF-1 in which association between the carboxy-terminal Fn3 repeats and amino-terminal residues 360-402 allows for non-

covalent association of amino- and carboxy-terminal fragments following proteolytic cleavage of the HCF-1 precursor polypeptide (Wilson et al., 2000). HCF-2 lacks the HCF_{PRO} repeats and is not proteolytically processed (Johnson *et al.*, 1999) therefore, it is surprising that the SAS1 elements of HCF-1 are conserved in HCF-2 and ceHCF (Wilson et al., 2000). Herr and co-workers (Wilson et al., 2000) suggested that the presence of SAS1 sequences in ceHCF and HCF-2 may indicate a dual role for these sequences in HCF-1 function that is conserved in ceHCF and HCF-2. Thus, these sequences (SAS1) are conserved in ceHCF and HCF-2, not for self-association, but presumably for proteinprotein interactions with shared cellular factors (Wilson et al., 2000). Consistent with the hypothesis that the Fn3 repeats may interact with cellular proteins in addition to functioning as self-association sequences, we found that this domain interacts with Miz-1 and GABP. Although it has been anticipated that the Fn3 repeats of HCF-2 may serve as a protein-protein interaction surface and that HCF-1 and HCF-2 share common interaction partners (Johnson et al., 1999; Wilson et al., 2000), it was not expected that the HCF-2 Fn3 repeats would bind to proteins that bound the HCF-1 basic domain. Interestingly, although GABP was found to initially interact with the HCF-1 basic domain (Vogel and Kristie, 2000a), we have shown that the HCF-1 Fn3 repeats are also sufficient to interact with GABP in a yeast 2-hybrid assay (data not shown). However, the reason why Miz-1 is able to interact with the basic domain in HCF-1 and the Fn3 repeats in HCF-2 is not known. Perhaps Miz-1 contains separate regions which mediate binding to these distinct domains or perhaps the HCF-1 basic domain shares with the HCF-2 Fn3 repeats a small motif responsible for Miz-1 binding. In any case, we have

identified Miz-1 and GABP to be common interaction partners for HCF-1 and HCF-2. Moreover, a fragment sufficient to bind GABP retained the ability of full length HCF-2 to interfere with HCF-1-mediated rescue, demonstrating that this shared interaction contributes to the ability of HCF-2 to prevent complementation of the temperaturesensitive defect in tsBN67 cells. Thus, HCF-2 may sequester GABP from HCF-1, preventing a critical function required for cellular proliferation. HCF-2/GABP interaction likely will not mimic the function of HCF-1/GABP interaction since HCF-2 has different properties and displays different functions than HCF-1 (Johnson et al., 1999; Lee and Herr, 2001). For instance, both HCF-1 and HCF-2 can form a VP16induced complex on IE gene promoters, however, only HCF-1 results in transcriptional activation of these genes (Lee and Herr, 2001). In addition, whereas HCF-1 is predominantly nuclear (Kristie et al., 1995; Wilson et al., 1995a; LaBoissiere et al., 1999; Wysocka et al., 2001; Izeta et al., 2003b), HCF-2 can be both nuclear and cytosolic and may shuttle between compartments in a cell cycle-dependent manner (Johnson et al., 1999). Thus, HCF-2 may bind GABP, but lack the co-activation function, thus preventing expression of key GABP/HCF-1-growth-promoting genes. In addition, HCF-2 may re-localize GABP to the cytosol, again preventing expression of key GABP/HCF-1-growth-promoting genes. In summary, we have shown that HCF-2 shares interaction partners with HCF-1, and through its interaction with GABP may antagonize HCF-1mediated cellular proliferation.

4.2 IDENTIFYING KELCH DOMAIN INTERACTING PROTEINS

Our findings that E2F-4, an integral regulator of cell cycle control, physically interacts with HCF-1 and suppresses HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation, provides insight into the cellular function of HCF-1 and expands the list of its interaction partners that may be of consequence to its role in cell cyle control.

4.2.1 E2F-4 targets the HCF-1 kelch and basic domains

Since all known kelch binding proteins contain an HBM, a database search was conducted for cellular proteins that contain an HBM. This search has revealed that 2 members of the E2F family of transcription factors, E2F-1 and E2F-4 contain the HBM. Given the central role played by E2F factors in cell cycle control (DeGregori, 2002; Trimarchi and Lees, 2002), we pursued this finding further. In addition to demonstrating an interaction we found that the HCF-1/E2F-4 association was mediated by determinants in both the HCF-1 kelch and basic domains. Thus, E2F-4 is the first example of an HCF-1 interaction partner that targets both domains. The significance of this is not yet clear, however it may provide a mechanism to explain the apparent paradox of multiple HBMcontaining proteins simultaneously associating with HCF-1 (Wysocka et al., 2003). The separate, independent binding sites may accommodate the recruitment of a distinct set of HCF-1 accessory factors under different physiological conditions or in response to different biological cues (Wysocka et al., 2003) that allow for a variety of functions or outcomes. Similarly, the activity of E2F-4 and HCF-1 may be differentially modulated depending on whether E2F-4 is bound to the kelch domain, the basic domain, or both. In addition, this finding may be relevant to previous findings concerning HCF-1-dependent

rescue of the tsBN67 cell cycle progression defect. It has been shown that cell cycle arrest occurs as a result of a mutation in the kelch domain, implying that an interaction with an HBM-containing protein is required (Wilson *et al.*, 1997). However, the kelch domain is not sufficient, as the adjacent basic domain is also required (Wilson *et al.*, 1997). It has been hypothesized that this is due to the fact that cell cycle control by HCF-1 is a highly complex process that involves the cooperative interplay with many effector targets that recognize the kelch and basic domains. However, the findings presented here highlight the possibility that a single factor, in this case E2F-4, may bind simultaneously to both domains, and it is the binding to both domains that is required for cell cycle progression, thus explaining why both domains must be present for HCF-1-mediated cell cycle progression.

Incidentally, our finding that E2F-4 interacts with HCF-1 through its HBM and a distinct second region is not without precedent in the literature. In fact, the ability of two proteins to interact through a conserved motif as well as additional contacts has been demonstrated previously with protein phosphatase PP1c and its targeting subunits which contain a well defined RVxF motif (Cohen, 2002). For example, mutation of the RVxF motif in AKAP220 does not abrogate binding to PP1c (Schillace *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, an interaction independent of the RVxF motif has been demonstrated between NIPP1 and PP1c (Beullens *et al.*, 2000). These additional contacts not only stabilize binding but are speculated to modulate the activity and/or specificity of PP1c.

4.2.2 Possible mechanisms by which E2F-4 antagonizes HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation

Interaction of E2F-4 with HCF-1 via the kelch domain is sensitive to the P134S mutation that is responsible for the cell cycle arrest phenotype in tsBN67 cells (Goto et al., 1997), suggesting that E2F-4 may play an important role in this context. However, it is unlikely that E2F-4 on its own serves as a critical regulator of HCF-1-mediated cell cycle control in tsBN67 cells. This is suggested by our findings that the P134S mutation does not abrogate binding to E2F-4 in the context of full length HCF-1 since the loss of binding to the kelch domain is compensated by binding via the basic domain. Nevertheless, given its prominent role in G1 progression, it is probable that E2F-4, in conjunction with other factors, does play an important role in cell cycle control by HCF-1. In fact, we have demonstrated that E2F-4 acts in opposition to HCF-1 in tsBN67 cells. Specifically, the biological outcome of the HCF-1/E2F-4 interaction was to prevent rescue of the tsBN67 cell proliferation defect by HCF-1 in the presence of E2F-4. This, along with other reports demonstrating that HCF-1 interacts with a variety of cellular factors reinforces the hypothesis that cellular proliferation mediated by HCF-1 is due to multiple effectors that bind to both the kelch and basic domains.

E2F-4 is a complex and dynamic protein, therefore, it may prevent rescue by HCF-1 in a number of ways. Since the E2F-4 Y392A mutant retained the ability to repress HCF-1-mediated cell cycle rescue, it is possible that E2F-4 prevents rescue by HCF-1 in a manner that is independent of their interaction. However, we do not favour this possibility and believe that the E2F-4 Y392A mutant retained the repressive phenotype because it retained the ability to bind HCF-1.

One mechanism by which E2F-4 and HCF-1 may antagonize each other's activities is by reciprocally affecting each other's transcriptional abilities. E2F-4 is considered a 'repressive E2F' because it binds to E2F sites in E2F-responsive promoters in quiescent or GO-early G1 cells, in association with pocket proteins and HDAC to negatively regulate transcription of growth-promoting genes (Tommasi and Pfeifer, 1995; Vairo et al., 1995; Li et al., 1997; Iavarone and Massague, 1999; Takahashi et al., 2000). Thus, when overexpressed in tsBN67 cells, E2F-4 and associated histone modifying complexes, may be recruited to HCF-1 responsive promoters in growth promoting genes and prevent expression of genes that are necessary for cellular proliferation. Alternatively, in cellular proliferation, HCF-1 may be recruited to E2F sites through E2F-4, thereby converting E2F repressive complexes to activating complexes leading to increased expression of growth promoting factors, including cdc25A and c-myc at the appropriate time (Iavarone and Massague, 1997; Li et al., 1997; Iavarone and Massague, 1999; Chen et al., 2002; Frederick et al., 2004; Yoshida and Inoue, 2004). Thus, although E2F-4 is considered a 'repressive E2F', it contains an autonomous transactivation domain in its C-terminus that binds the acetyltransferase GCN5 and cofactor TRAPP in vivo (Lang et al., 2001), and thus may stimulate transcription in a restricted developmental or cell cycle window at certain target promoters. Interestingly, the HBM of E2F-4 is embedded within the E2F-4 transactivation domain (Lang et al., 2001), and a recent report has demonstrated that HCF-1 augments the activity of the E2F-4 activation domain (Luciano and Wilson, 2003). The mechanism by which this occurs is not clear but since the HBM is adjacent to the pocket protein binding site in the E2F-4

transactivation domain (Beijersbergen *et al.*, 1994; Ginsberg *et al.*, 1994), it seems possible that HCF-1 may promote E2F-4 activity by displacing the pocket protein repressor complex (Luciano and Wilson, 2003). Alternatively, HCF-1 may also provide a transactivation function to E2F-4 complexes through its own carboxy-terminal transactivation domain (Luciano and Wilson, 2002).

In addition, E2F-4 could de-regulate HCF-1 activity through altering its subcellular localization. E2F-4 contains 2 closely spaced NES which result in a dynamic subcellular localization throughout the cell cycle (Lindeman *et al.*, 1997; Verona *et al.*, 1997; Gaubatz *et al.*, 2001). In quiescent or G0–early G1 cells, E2F-4 is associated with pocket proteins and localized to the nucleus (Lindeman *et al.*, 1997; Gaubatz *et al.*, 2001). As cells move to mid G1, E2F-4 dissociates from pocket proteins, exposing its NES and translocates to the cyosol (Lindeman *et al.*, 1997; Gaubatz *et al.*, 2001). HCF-1 had been considered to be constitutively nuclear (Kristie *et al.*, 1995; Wilson *et al.*, 1995a; LaBoissiere *et al.*, 1999; Wysocka *et al.*, 2001; Izeta *et al.*, 2003b), but a recent finding illustrates that interaction with HPIP, a protein with an NES, is sufficient to relocate it to the cytosol (Mahajan *et al.*, 2002a). Therefore, a similar mechanism with E2F-4 at mid G1 in tsBN67 cells could be at play, preventing functions of HCF-1 in the nucleus which are necessary for cellular proliferation.

4.2.3 HCF-1 may regulate 'activating' and 'repressive' E2Fs

E2F-4 was discovered to be an HCF-1 interaction partner based on the presence of an HBM. Interestingly, E2F-1, but not other E2Fs, also contains an HBM. Accordingly, we showed that E2F-1 also interacts with HCF-1. This highlights the possibility that HCF-1 functions in tandem with both a member of the 'activating E2Fs' as well as a member of the 'repressive E2Fs' to execute cellular proliferation. The recent finding that HCF-1 interacts with both HMT and HDAC proteins underscores the possibility that HCF-1 can broadly control transcriptional outcomes (Wysocka *et al.*, 2003) with E2F and other transcription factors to both activate expression of growth promoting genes while also decreasing expression of growth inhibitory genes. Interestingly, the HBM in E2F-1 is located at the amino-terminus, adjacent to the cyclin A/CDK2 binding site (Krek *et al.*, 1994; Xu *et al.*, 1994). Thus, HCF-1 may positively regulate E2F-1 function through interference with cyclinA/CDK2 binding, thereby preventing phosphorylation of the E2F-1 DNA binding domain, a negative regulatory event which diminishes the affinity of the E2F-1/DP heterodimer for DNA (Krek *et al.*, 1994; Xu *et al.*, 1994; Xu *et al.*, 1994). Further studies to elucidate the functional interplay with these, and other, factors involved in cellular proliferation will be of interest.

4.3 CONCLUSIONS

The work presented in this thesis has sought to further characterize the cellular roles of HCF-1 and build on the evidence pointing to a role for HCF-1 in cellular proliferation. We describe two key cell cycle regulatory proteins, Miz-1 and E2F-4, as novel HCF-1 interaction partners, and illustrate how these interactions may mechanistically contribute to HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation. We have shown that HCF-1 binds to and antagonizes the activity of Miz-1, a transcription factor that induces expression of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors that prevent inactivation of pocket proteins, thereby blocking cell cycle progression (Seoane *et al.*, 2001; Staller *et*

al., 2001; Seoane *et al.*, 2002; Adhikary *et al.*, 2003; Wu *et al.*, 2003). We speculate that by antagonizing Miz-1 activity, HCF-1 may indirectly promote pocket protein inactivation and thus cellular proliferation. In addition, we have shown that E2F-4 interacts with both the HCF-1 kelch and basic domains and that overexpression of E2F-4 antagonizes the ability of HCF-1 to promoter cellular proliferation in tsBN67 cells.

In support of the hypothesis that HCF-1 contributes to cell cycle progression by controlling the phosphorylation status of pRb family proteins, Herr and colleagues demonstrated that inactivation of pRb family proteins with SV40 large T antigen and adenovirus E1A can bypass the HCF-1 requirement, and rescue the tsBN67 defect (Reilly et al., 2002) although this is not sufficient to fully overcome a cell cycle block in HCF-1depleted HeLa cells (Julien and Herr, 2003). Therefore, HCF-1 indirectly promotes cellular proliferation by pRb family protein inactivation, in addition to another distinct function. The research presented here suggests ways in which HCF-1 may control cellular proliferation through pocket protein-dependent and --independent pathways. Specifically, the functional interaction with Miz-1 places HCF-1 upstream of pRb family proteins, whereby HCF-1 controls pRb phosphorylation, and thus, functional status. However, through its interaction with E2F-4, HCF-1 may promote cellular proliferation in a mechanism independent of pRb phosphorylation status. Specifically, recent reports describe how E2F-4/HDAC complexes can act as transducers of TGF- β signals to mediate transcriptional repression of growth promoting genes such as c-myc, cdc25A, E2F-1, B-myb, and HsORC1 (Li et al., 1997; Iavarone and Massague, 1999; Chen et al., 2002). HCF-1 may prevent the formation of repressive E2F-4/HDAC complexes or

convert these to activating complexes. Thus, an E2F-4/HCF-1 complex could provide a mechanism, independent of pRb phosphorylation status, to contribute to cellular proliferation.

Significantly, both Miz-1 and E2F-4 are transducers of TGF- β signals. Upon TGF- β exposure, Miz-1 is relieved of myc-repression and stimulates transcription of growth arrest genes (Amati, 2001), while E2F-4 in association with histone deacetylase complexes represses the transcription of growth promoting genes (Li et al., 1997; Iavarone and Massague, 1999; Chen *et al.*, 2002). Thus, TGF- β causes growth arrest in most cell types by altering the transcriptional profile of both growth promoting and growth arrest genes resulting in hypophosphorylation of pRb which sequesters E2F factors needed for progression into S phase of the cell cycle, thereby leading to cell cycle arrest at G1 (Massague, 2000; Massague et al., 2000; Dijke et al., 2002; Shi and Massague, 2003; Siegel and Massague, 2003). HCF-1 may counteract these effects and promote cellular proliferation through its interactions with Miz-1 and E2F-4. For instance, it is envisioned that HCF-1 induces cell cycle progression by repressing the activation of growth-inhibitory genes (p15^{INK4b}, p21^{Cip1}, and p57^{Kip2}) by interacting with Miz-1, while also activating the expression of growth-promoting genes (c-myc and cdc25A) by interacting with E2F-4 and converting E2F-4 repressive complexes to E2F-4 activating complexes (see figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1: A model depicting a mechanism for HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation. The model describes a mechanism by which HCF-1, through its interactions with Miz-1 and E2F-4, may modulate the levels of expression, through transcriptional control, of both growth-promoting and growth-inhibitory genes. It is proposed that HCF-1 exploits its ability to function as both co-activator and co-repressor to augment expression of growth-promoting genes, while attenuating expression of growth-inhibitory genes.

HCF-1 may promote cellular proliferation and completion of cytokinesis through the association with several interaction partners with effects on multiple independent and synergistic pathways including transcriptional control of gene expression, chromatin association and modification, as well as post-transcriptional effects through control of pre-mRNA processing that are required for cell cycle progression (Wysocka and Herr, 2003). Our identification of Miz-1 and E2F-4, key cell cycle regulatory proteins, as HCF-1 interacting partners provides insight on the mechanism of HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation and suggests a possible role for HCF-1 in tumour development. Tumour development proceeds via a process in which a succession of genetic changes lead to a progressive conversion of normal cells into cancer cells in which regulatory circuits that govern normal cellular proliferation have become deregulated (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000; Hahn and Weinberg, 2002). Cancer cells may accumulate defects in regulatory circuits that allow self-sufficiency in growth signals, limitless replicative potential, sustained angiogenesis, and metastasis, and result in insensitivity to growthinhibitory signals and resistance to apoptosis (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000; Hahn and Weinberg, 2002). The accumulation of these defects results from the disruption of an anticancer mechanism programmed into cells and are hypothesized to depend on deregulated transcription (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000; Darnell, 2002; Hahn and Weinberg, 2002). Molecular analysis of human tumours has shown that cell cycle regulators are frequently mutated in cancer which underscores how important the maintenance of cell cycle control is in the prevention of human cancer (Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). Furthermore, human cancers harbour genomes often containing an

abnormal number of chromosomes, a condition termed aneuploidy (Hahn and Weinberg, 2002; Storchova and Pellman, 2004). Since loss of HCF-1 activity in cells prevents G1/S transition, in addition to a cytokinesis defect which results in polyploidy (Goto *et al.*, 1997; Reilly and Herr, 2002; Julien and Herr, 2003), HCF-1 is emerging as a novel factor which could contribute to the process of cancer development.

Future challenges to unraveling the complex roles of HCF-1 in the cell include ascertaining the interplay of a variety of interactions in HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation and how these interactions and HCF-1 function are regulated throughout the cell cycle to ensure regulated proliferation. Contemporaneous with our identification and analysis of E2F-4 and other novel HBM-containing HCF-1 interaction partners, Luciano and Wilson published a study identifying a similar list of HBM containing proteins (Luciano and Wilson, 2003). Thus, through these and other studies over the past five years, a large set of cellular proteins have been found that contain the HBM and interact with the HCF-1 kelch domain. However, several important questions remain unanswered. Most importantly, it remains to be determined what role, if any, these proteins play in HCF-1-mediated cell cycle progression. Mahajan and Wilson constructed various mutations within the loops of the HCF-1 kelch domain, some of which abrogated binding to Luman; however, these experiments demonstrated that Luman was neither necessary nor sufficient in HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation (Mahajan and Wilson, 2000). It will be illuminating to correlate the ability of the mutants to rescue tsBN67 cellular proliferation with their ability to bind the various kelch domain interaction partners. In addition to determining the role played by E2F-4 and

165
other novel HBM containing partners in HCF-1 function, several other intriguing questions remain. For instance, does HCF-1 interact with the entire set of HBM containing partners simultaneously during G1/S progression, presumably regulating the expression of a large set of target genes, owing to the abundance of HCF-1 in the cell (Wysocka *et al.*, 2001), or rather, are there control mechanisms regulating the binding to HCF-1. For example, are the interactions regulated in a temporal or spatial pattern, and/or is there competition among the various HBM containing partners for HCF-1. Answers to these questions will add to our understanding of the mechanisms by which a large set of HBM containing partners contributes to HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation.

In addition to numerous kelch domain-interaction partners, the basic domain associates with a variety of cellular proteins in addition to Miz-1. It will be of interest to determine the role played by each of these proteins, and the interplay among them, in HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation. Linking protein-protein interactions to cell cycle signals that may regulate these interactions at specific phases of the cell cycle also remains to be investigated. For instance, do cell cycle arrest signals, such as TGF- β or DNA damage, cause dissociation of HCF-1 from Miz-1 as a result of post-translational modifications of either, or both, proteins, thereby freeing Miz-1 and allowing cell cycle arrest at appropriate times, as shown to regulate the Miz-1/myc interaction (Seoane *et al.*, 2001; Herold *et al.*, 2002; Wu *et al.*, 2003)? Only through an understanding of the full repertoire of HCF-1 interaction partners, the function and interplay of these interactions, and the signaling pathways which regulate these interactions, will we approach a more

complete appreciation of the complex mechanisms at play in HCF-1-mediated cellular proliferation. Ultimately, the efforts of several research groups will provide us with the answers to several of these questions and propose new avenues of research to unravel the complex roles of HCF-1 in the cell.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Adams, J., R. Kelso, and L. Cooley. 2000. The kelch repeat superfamily of proteins: propellers of cell function. *Trends in Cell Biology* **10**: 17-24.

Adhikary, S., K. Peukert, H. Karsunky, V. Beuger, W. Lutz, H-P. Elsasser, T. Moroy, and M. Eilers. 2003. Miz1 is Required for Early Embryonic Development during Gastrulation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 23: 7648-7657.

Ajuh, P.M., G.J. Browne, N.A. Hawkes, P.T.W. Cohen, S.G.E. Roberts, and A.I. Lamond. 2000. Association of a protein phosphatase 1 activity with the human factor C1 (HCF) complex. *Nucleic Acids Research* **28**: 678-686.

Ajuh, P., J. Chusainow, U. Ryder, and A.I. Lamond. 2002. A novel function for human factor C1 (HCF-1), a host protein required for herpes simplex virus infection, in pre-mRNA splicing. *EMBO J.* **21:** 6590-6602.

Albagli, O., P. Dhordain, C. Deweindt, G. Lecocq, and D. Leprince. 1995. The BTB/POZ Domain: A New Protein-Protein Interaction Motif Common to DNA- and Actin-binding Proteins. *Cell Growth and Differentiation* 6: 1193-1198.

Albright, S.R., and R. Tjian. 2000. TAFs revisited: more data reveal new twists and confirm old ideas. *Gene* 242: 1-13.

Amati, B. 2001. Integrating Myc and TGF- β signalling in cell-cycle control. *Nature Cell Biology* **3:** E112-E113.

Ausubel, F., R. Brent, R.E. Kingston, D.D. Moore, J.G. Seidman, J.A. Smith, and K. Struhl (eds) 1994. *Current Protocols in Molecular Biology*. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York.

Bardwell, V.J., and R. Treisman. 1994. The POZ domain: A conserved protein-protein interaction motif. *Genes and Development* 8: 1664-1677.

Barsyte-Lovejoy, D., D.Y.L. Mao, and L.Z. Penn. 2004. c-Myc represses the proximal promoters of GADD45a and GADD153 by a post-RNA polymerase II recruitment mechanism. *Oncogene* 23: 3481-3486.

Bastova, A., M.B. Diccianni, J.C. Yu, T. Nobori, M.P. Link, J. Pullen, and A.L. Yu. 1997. Frequent and Selective Methylation of p15 and Deletion of Both p15 and p16 in T-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Cancer Research* **57**: 832-836.

Batchelor, A.H., D.E. Piper, F.C. de la Brousse, S.L. McKnight, and C. Wolberger. 1998. The Structure of GABP α/β : An ETS Domain-Ankyrin Repeat Heterodimer Bound to DNA. *Science* **279**: 10371041.

Beijersbergen, R.L., R.M. Kerkhoven, L. Zhu, L. Carlee, P.M. Voorhoeve, and R. Bernards. 1994. E2F-4, a new member of the E2F gene family, has oncogenic activity and associates with p107 in vivo. *Genes and Development* 8: 2680-2690.

Beijersbergen, R.L., L. Carlee, R.M. Kerkhoven, and R. Bernards. 1995. Regulation of the retinoblastoma protein-related p107 by G1 cyclin complexes. *Genes and Development* **9**: 1340-1353.

Berger, S.L. 2002. Histone modifications in transcriptional regulation. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development* 12: 142-148.

Beullens, M., V. Vulsteke, A. Van Eynde, I. Jagiello, W. Stalmans, and M. Bollen. 2000. The C-terminus of NIPP1 (nuclear inhibitor of protein phosphatase-1) contains a novel binding site for protein phosphatase-1 that is controlled by tyrosine phosphorylation and RNA binding. *Biochemical Journal* **352**: 651-658.

Birnboim, H.C. 1983. A rapid alkaline extraction method for the isolation of plasmid DNA. *Methods in Enzymology*. **100:** 243-255.

Black, A.R., J.D. Black, and J. Azizkhan-Clifford. 2001. Sp1 and Kruppel-Like Factor Family of Transcription Factors in Cell Growth Regulation and Cancer. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* **188**: 143-160.

Blobel, G.A. 2002. CBP and p300: versatile coregulators with important roles in hematopoietic gene expression. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* **71**: 545-556.

Bohen, S.P., and K.R. Yamamoto. 1993. Isolation of HSP90 mutants by screening for decreased steroid receptor function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**: 11424-11428.

Butler, J.E.F., and J.T. Kadonaga. 2002. The RNA polymerase II core promoter: a key component in the regulation of gene expression. *Genes and Development* 16: 2583-2592.

Campbell, I.D., and C. Spitzfaden. 1994. Building proteins with fibronectin type III modules. *Structure* 2: 333-337.

Chan, H.M., and N.B. La Thangue. 2001. p300/CBP proteins: HATs for transcriptional bridges and scaffolds. *Journal of Cell Science* 114: 2363-2373.

Chavrier, P., M. Zerial, P. Lemaire, J. Almendral, R. Bravo, and P. Charnay. 1988a. A gene encoding a protein with zinc fingers is activated during G0/G1 transition in cultured cells. *EMBO J.* **7:** 29-35.

Chavrier, P., P. Lemaire, O. Revelant, R. Bravo, and P. Charnay. 1988b. Characterization of a Mouse Multigene Family That Encodes Zinc Finger Structures. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 8: 1319-1326.

Chellappan, S., S. Hiebert, M. Mudryj, J.M. Horowitz, and J.R. Nevins. 1991. The E2F Transcription Factor Is a Cellular Target for the RB Protein. *Cell* **65**: 1053-1061.

Chen, C-R., Y. Kang, P.M. Siegel, and J. Massague. 2002. E2F4/5 and p107 as Smad Cofactors Linking the TGF β Receptor to c-myc Repression. *Cell* **110:** 19-32.

Cleary, M.A., P.S. Pendergrast, and W. Herr. 1997. Structural flexibility in transcription complex formation revealed by protein-DNA photocrosslinking. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94: 8450-8455.

Cohen, P.T.W. 2002. Protein phosphatase 1 – targeted in many directions. *Journal of Cell Science* **115**: 241-256.

Collins, T., J.R. Stone, and A.J. Williams. 2001. All in the Family: the BTB/POZ, KRAB, and SCAN Domains. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **21**: 3609-3615.

Conner, E.A., E.R. Lemmer, M. Omori, P.J. Wirth, V.M. Factor, and S.S. Thorgeirsson. 2000. Dual functions of E2F-1 in a transgenic mouse model of liver carcinogenesis. *Oncogene* 19: 5054-5062.

Coulthard, V.H., S. Matsuda, and D.M. Heerry. 2003. An Extended LXXLL Motif Sequence Determines the Nuclear Receptor Binding Specificity of TRAP220. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **278**: 10942-10951.

Cousens, D.J., R. Greaves, C.R. Goding, and P. O'Hare. 1989. The C-terminal 79 amino acids of the herpes simplex virus regulatory protein, Vmw65, efficiently activate transcription in yeast and mammalian cells in chimeric DNA-binding proteins. *EMBO J.* **8**: 2337-2342.

Dang, C.V. 1999. c-Myc Target Genes Involved in Cell Growth, Apoptosis, and Metabolism. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **19**: 1-11.

Darnell, J.E. 2002. Transcription Factors As Targets For Cancer Therapy. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2: 740-749.

DeGregori, J., T. Kowalik, and J.R. Nevins. 1995a. Cellular Targets for Activation by the E2F1 Transcription Factor Include DNA Synthesis- and G1/S-Regulatory Genes. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **15**: 4215-4224.

DeGregori, J., G. Leone, K. Ohtani, A. Miron, and J. R. Nevins. 1995b. E2F-1 accumulation bypasses a G_1 arrest resulting from the inhibition of G_1 cyclin-dependent kinase activity. *Genes and Development* **9**: 2873-2887.

DeGregori, J., G. Leone, A. Miron, L. Jakoi, and J.R. Nevins. 1997. Distinct roles for E2F proteins in cell growth control and apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **94:** 7245-7250.

DeGregori, J. 2002. The genetics of the E2F family of transcription factors: shared functions and unique roles. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* **1602**: 131-150.

de la Brousse, F.C., E.H. Birkenmeier, D.S. King, L.B. Rowe, and S.L. McKnight. 1994. Molecular and genetic characterization of GABPβ. *Genes and Development* 8: 1853-1865.

Deng, C., P. Zhang, J.W. Harper, S.J. Elledge, and P. Leder. 1995. Mice Lacking p21^{CIP/WAF1} Undergo Normal Development, but Are Defective in G1 Checkpoint Control. *Cell* **82:** 675-684.

deWet, J.R., K.V. Wood, M. DeLuca, D.R. Helinski, and S. Subramani. 1987. Firefly Luciferase Gene: Structure and Expression in Mammalian Cells. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **7**: 725-737.

Dhordain, P., O. Albagli, R.J. Lin, S. Ansieau, S. Quief, A. Leutz, J-P. Kerckaert, R.M. Evans, and D. Leprince. 1997. Corepressor SMRT binds the BTB/POZ repressing domain of the LAZ3/BCL6 oncoprotein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94: 10762-10767.

Dick, F.A., and N. Dyson. 2002. Three Regions of the pRB Pocket Domain Affect Its Inactivation by Human Papillomavirus E7 Proteins. *Journal of Virology* **76:** 6224-6234.

Dick, F.A., and N. Dyson. 2003. pRB Contains an E2F1-Specific Binding Domain that Allows E2F1-Induced Apoptosis to Be Regulated Separately from Other E2F Activities. *Molecular Cell* **12**: 639-649.

Dijke, P.T., M.-J. Goumans, F. Itoh, and S. Itoh. 2002. Regulation of Cell Proliferation by Smad Proteins. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* **191:** 1-16.

Douville, P., M. Hagmann, O. Georgiev, and W. Schaffner. 1995. Positive and Negative Regulation at the Herpes Simplex Virus ICP4 and ICP0 TAATGARAT Motifs. *Virology* **207:** 107-116.

Dyson, N. 1998. The regulation of E2F by pRB-family proteins. *Genes and Development* **12:** 2245-2262.

Elble, R. 1992. A simple and efficient procedure for transformation of yeasts. *Biotechniques* 13: 18-20.

Evans, R.M., and S.M. Hollenberg. 1988. Zinc Fingers: Gilt by Association. *Cell* 52: 1-3.

Featherstone, M. 2002. Coactivators in transcription initiation: here are your orders. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development* 12: 149-155.

Feilotter, H.E., G.J. Hannon, C.J. Ruddell, and D. Beach. 1994. Construction of an improved host strain for two hybrid screening. *Nucleic Acids Research* 22: 1502-1503.

Feng, X.-H., X. Lin, and R. Derynck. 2000. Smad2, Smad3 and Smad4 cooperate with Sp1 to induce $p15^{INK4B}$ transcription in response to TGF- β . *EMBO J.* **19:** 5178-5193.

Fields, S., and O. Song. 1989. A novel genetic system to detect protein-protein interactions. *Nature* 340: 245-246.

Frattini, A., S. Faranda, E. Redolfi, I. Zucchi, A. Villa, M.C. Patrosso, D. Strina, L. Susani, and P. Vezzoni. 1994. Genomic Organization of the Human VP16 Accessory Protein, a Housekeeping Gene (HCFC1) Mapping to Xq28. *Genomics* 23: 30-35.

Frederick, J.P., N.T. Liberati, D.S. Waddell, Y. Shi, and X.-F. Wang. 2004. Transforming Growth Factor β -Mediated Transcriptional Repression of *c-myc* Is Dependent on Direct Binding of Smad3 to a Novel Repressive Smad Binding Element. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **24**: 2546-2559.

Freiman, R. N., and W. Herr. 1997. Viral mimicry: common mode of association with HCF by VP16 and the cellular protein LZIP. *Genes and Development* **11**: 3122-3127.

Frolov, M.V., and N.J. Dyson. 2004. Molecular mechanisms of E2F-dependent activation and pRB-mediated repression. *Journal of Cell Sciences* **117**: 2173-2181.

Gartel, A.L., and K. Shchors. 2003. Mechanisms of c-myc-mediated transcriptional repression of growth arrest genes. *Experimental Cell Research* 283: 17-21.

Gaubatz, S., G.J. Lindeman, S. Ishida, L. Jakoi, J.R. Nevins, D.M. Livingston, and R.E. Rempel. 2000. E2F4 and E2F5 Play an Essential Role in Pocket Protein-Mediated G1 Control. *Molecular Cell* 6: 729-735.

Gaubatz, S., J.A. Lees, G.J. Lindeman, and D.M. Livingston. 2001. E2F4 Is Exported from the Nucleus in a CRM1-Dependent Manner. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 21: 1384-1392.

Gerster, T., and R.G. Roeder. 1988. A herpesvirus trans-activating protein interacts with transcription factor OTF-1 and other cellular proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85: 6347-6351.

Ginsberg, D., G. Vairo, T. Chittenden, Z-X. Xiao, G. Xu, K.L. Wydner, J.A. DeCaprio, J.B. Lawrence, and D.M. Livingston. 1994. E2F-4, a new member of the E2F transcription factor family, interacts with p107. *Genes and Development* 8: 2665-2679.

Gluzman, Y. 1981. SV40-transformed simian cells support the replication of early SV40 mutants. *Cell* **23**: 175-182.

Goodman, R.H., and S. Smolik. 2000. CBP/p300 in cell growth, transformation, and development. Genes and Development 14: 1553-1577.

Goodrich, J.A., G. Cutler, and R. Tjian. 1996. Contacts in Context: Promoter Specificity and Macromolecular Interactions in Transcription. *Cell* 84: 825-830.

Goto, H., S. Motomura, A. C. Wilson, R. N. Freiman, Y. Nakabeppu, K. Fukushima, M. Fujishima, W. Herr, and T. Nishimoto. 1997. A single-point mutation in HCF causes temperature-sensitive cell-cycle arrest and disrupts VP16 function. *Genes and Development* 11: 726-737.

Greaves, R., and P. O'Hare. 1989. Separation of Requirements for Protein-DNA Complex Assembly from Those for Functional Activity in the Herpes Simplex Virus Regulatory Protein Vmw65. *Journal of Virology* **63**: 1641-1650.

Greaves, R.F., and P. O'Hare. 1990. Structural Requirements in the Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Transactivator Vmw65 for Interaction with the Cellular Octamer-Binding Protein and Target TAATGARAT Sequences. *Journal of Virology* **64:** 2716-2724.

Gunther, M., M. Laithier, and O. Brison. 2000. A set of proteins interacting with transcription factor Sp1 identified in a two-hybrid screening. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* **210**: 131-142.

Hahn, W.C., and R.A. Weinberg. 2002. Modelling The Molecular Circuitry of Cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2: 331-341.

Hall, D.B., and K. Struhl. 2002. The VP16 Activation Domain Interacts with Multiple Transcriptional Components as Determined by Protein-Protein Cross-linking *in Vivo. Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277: 46043-46050.

Hanahan, D., and R.A. Weinberg. 2000. The Hallmarks of Cancer. Cell 100: 57-70.

Hansen, K., T. Farkas, J. Lukas, K. Holm, L. Ronnstrand, and J. Bartek. 2001. Phosphorylation-dependent and –independent functions of p130 cooperate to evoke a sustained G1 block. *EMBO J.* 20: 422-432.

Harbour, J.W., and D.C. Dean. 2000. Rb function in cell-cycle regulation and apoptosis. *Nature Cell Biology* **2**: E65-E67.

Hayes, S., and P. O'Hare. 1993. Mapping of a Major Surface-Exposed Site in Herpes Simplex Virus Protein Vmw65 to a Region of Direct Interaction in a Transcription Complex Assembly. *Journal of Virology* 67: 852-862.

Heery, D.M., E. Kalkhoven, S. Hoare, and M.G. Parker. 1997. A signature motif in transcriptional co-activators mediates binding to nuclear receptors. *Nature* **387**: 733-736.

Helin, K., E. Harlow, and A. Fattaey. 1993. Inhibition of E2F-1 Transactivation by Direct Binding of the Retinoblastoma Protein. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **13**: 6501-6508.

Heibert, S.W., S.P. Chellappan, J.M. Horowitz, and J.R. Nevins. 1992. The interaction of RB with E2F coincides with an inhibition of the transcriptional activity of E2F. *Genes and Development* 6: 177-185.

Herman, J.G., C.I. Civin, J.-P.J. Issa, M.I. Collector, S.J. Sharkis, and S.B. Baylin. 1997. Distinct Patterns of Inactivation of p15^{INK4B} and p16^{INK4A} Characterize the Major Types of Hematological Malignancies. *Cancer Research* **57**: 837-841.

Herold, S., M. Wanzel, V. Beuger, C. Frohme, D. Beul, T. Hillukkala, J. Syvaoja, H-P. Saluz, F. Haenel, and M. Eilers. 2002. Negative Regulation of the Mammalian UV Response by Myc through Association with Miz-1. *Molecular Cell* **10**: 509-521.

Herr, W. 1998. The Herpes Simplex Virus VP16-induced Complex: Mechanisms of Combinatorial Transcriptional Regulation. *Cold Spring Harbor Symposium Quantitative Biology* **63**: 599-607.

Hoccheimer, A., and R. Tjian. 2003. Diversified transcription initiation complexes expand promoter selectivity and tissue-specific gene expression. *Genes and Development* 17: 1309-1320.

Hughes, T.A., S. LaBoissiere, and P. O'Hare. 1999. Analysis of Functional Domains of the Host Cell Factor Involved in VP16 Complex Formation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274: 16437-16443.

Iavarone, A., and J. Massague. 1997. Repression of the CDK activator Cdc25A and cell-cycle arrest by cytokine TGF- β in cells lacking the CDK inhibitor p15. *Nature* **387**: 417-422.

Iavarone, A., and J. Massague. 1999. E2F and Histone Deacetylase Mediate Transforming Growth Factor β Repression of *cdc25A* during Keratinocyte Cell Cycle Arrest. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **19:** 916-922.

Imaki, H., D. Nakayama, S. Delehouzee, H. Handa, M. Kitagawa, T. Kamura, and K.I. Nakayama. 2003. Cell Cycle-dependent Regulation of the *Skp2* Promoter by GA-binding Protein. *Cancer Research* 63: 4607-4613.

Ingles, C.J., M. Shales, W.D. Cress, S.J. Triezenberg, and J. Greenblatt. 1991. Reduced binding of TFIID to transcriptionally compromised mutants of VP16. *Nature* **351**: 588-590.

Ishida, S., E. Huang, H. Zuzan, R. Spang, G. Leone, M. West, and J.R. Nevins. 2001. Role for E2F in Control of Both DNA Replication and Mitotic Functions as Revealed from DNA Microarray Analysis. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **21**: 4684-7699.

Izeta, A., S. Malcomber, and P. O'Hare. 2003a. Primary structure and compartmentalization of *Drosophila melanogaster* host cell factor. *Gene* **305**: 175-183.

Izeta, A., S. Malcomber, D. O'Rourke, J. Hodgkin, and P. O'Hare. 2003b. A C-terminal targeting signal controls differential compartmentalization of *Caenorhabditis elegans* host cell factor (HCF) to the nucleus or mitochondria. *European Journal of Cell Biology* **82:** 495-504.

Johnson, D. G., J.K. Schwarz, W.D. Cress, and J.R. Nevins. 1993. Expression of transcription factor E2F1 induces quiescent cells to enter S phase. *Nature* **365**: 349-352.

Johnson, K.M., S.S. Mahajan, and A.C. Wilson. 1999. Herpes Simplex Virus Transactivator VP16 Discriminates between HCF-1 and a Novel Family Member, HCF-2. *Journal of Virology* **73**: 3930-3940.

Julien, E., and W. Herr. 2003. Proteolytic processing is necessary to separate and ensure proper cell growth and cytokinesis functions of HCF-1. *EMBO J.* 22: 2360-2369.

Kadonaga, J.T. 2004. Regulation of RNA Polymerase II Transcription by Sequence-Specific DNA Binding Factors. *Cell* **116**: 247-257.

Katan, M., A. Haigh, C.P. Verrijzer, P.C. van der Vliet, and P. O'Hare. 1990. Characterization of a cellular factor which interacts functionally with Oct-1 in the assembly of a multicomponent transcription complex. *Nucleic Acids Research* 18: 6871-6879.

Kawakami, T., Y. Furukawa, K. Sudo, H. Saito, S. Takami, E. Takahashi, and Y. Nakamura. 1995. Isolation and mapping of a human gene (PDCD2) that is highly homologous to Rp8, a rat gene associated with programmed cell death. *Cytogenetics and Cell Genetics* **71**: 41-43.

Kime, L., and S.C. Wright. 2003. *Mad4* is regulated by a transcriptional repressor complex that contains Miz-1 and c-Myc. *Biochemical Journal* **370**: 291-298.

Knez, J., P.T. Bilan, and J.P. Capone. 2003. A Single Amino Acid Substitution in Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 VP16 Inhibits Binding to the Virion Host Shutoff Protein and Is Incompatible with Virus Growth. *Journal of Virology* **77**: 2892-2902.

Krek, W., M.E. Ewen, S. Shirodkar, Z. Arany, W.G. Kaelin Jr., and D.M. Livingston. 1994. Negative Regulation of the Growth-Promoting Transcription Factor E2F-1 by a Stably Bound Cyclin A-Dependent Protein Kinase. *Cell* **78**: 161-172.

Kristie, T.M., J.H. LeBowitz, and P.A. Sharp. 1989. The octamer-binding proteins form multi-protein-DNA complexes with the HSV α TIF regulatory protein. *EMBO J.* 8: 4229-4238.

Kristie, T.M., and P.A. Sharp. 1990. Interactions of the Oct-1 POU subdomains with specific DNA sequences and with the HSV α -trans-activator protein. Genes and Development 4: 2383-2396.

Kristie, T.M., and P.A. Sharp. 1993. Purification of the cellular C1 factor required for the stable recognition of the Oct-1 homeodomain by the Herpes Simplex Virus α -transinduction factor (VP16). *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **268**: 6525-6534.

Kristie, T.M., J.L. Pomerantz, T.C. Twomey, S.A. Parent, and P.A. Sharp. 1995. The cellular C1 factor of the Herpes Simplex Virus enhancer complex is a family of polypeptides. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **270**: 4387-4394.

Kristie, T.M. 1997. The Mouse Homologue of the Human Transcription Factor C1 (Host Cell Factor): Conservation of Forms and Function. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **272**: 26749-26755.

Kristie, T.M., J.L. Vogel, and A.E. Sears. 1999. Nuclear localization of the C1 factor (host cell factor) in sensory neurons correlates with reactivation of herpes simplex virus from latency. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 96: 1229-1233.

LaBoissiere, S., S. Walker, and P. O'Hare. 1997. Concerted Activity of Host Cell Factor Subregions in Promoting Stable VP16 Complex Assembly and Preventing Interference by the Acidic Activation Domain. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **17**: 7108-7118.

LaBoissiere, S., T. Hughes, and P. O'Hare. 1999. HCF-dependent nuclear import of VP16. *EMBO J.* 18: 480-489.

LaBoissiere, S., and P. O'Hare. 2000. Analysis of HCF, the Cellular Cofactor of VP16, in Herpes Simplex Virus-Infected Cells. *Journal of Virology* **74:** 99-109.

Lai, J.S. and W. Herr. 1997. Interdigitated residues within a small region of VP16 interact with Oct-1, HCF, and DNA. *Molecular and Celluluar Biology* 17:3937-3946.

Laity, J.H., B.M. Lee, and P.E. Wright. 2001. Zinc finger proteins: new insights into structural and functional diversity. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology* **11**: 39-46.

LaMarco, K.L., and S.L. McKnight. 1989. Purification of a set of cellular polypeptides that bind to the purine-rich cis-regulatory element of herpes simplex virus immediate early genes. *Genes and Development* **3:** 1372-1383.

Lang, S.E., S.B. McMahon, M.D. Cole, and P. Hearing. 2001. E2F Transcriptional Activation Requires TRRAP and GCN5 Cofactors. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276: 32627-32634.

Lania, L., B. Majello, and G. Napolitano. 1999. Transcriptional Control by Cell-Cycle Regulators: A Review. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* **179**: 134-141.

Latres, E., M. Malumbres, R. Sotillo, J. Martin, S. Ortega, J. Martin-Caballero, J.M. Flores, C. Cordon-Cardo, and M. Barbacid. 2000. Limited overlapping roles of p15^{INK4b} and p18^{INK4c} cell cycle inhibitors in proliferation and tumorigenesis. *EMBO J.* 19: 3496-3506.

Lee, S., and W. Herr. 2001. Stabilization but Not the Transcriptional Activity of Herpes Simplex Virus VP16-Induced Complexes Is Evolutionarily Conserved among HCF Family Members. *Journal of Virology* **75**: 12402-12411.

Lees, E. 1995. Cyclin dependent kinase regulation. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 7: 773-780.

Lemon, B., and R. Tjian. 2000. Orchestrated response: a symphony of transcription factors for gene control. *Genes and Development* 14: 2551-2569.

Levine, M., and R. Tjian. 2003. Transcription regulation and animal diversity. *Nature* **424**: 147-151.

Li, J.-M., M.A. Nichols, S. Chandrasekharan, Y. Xiong, and X.-F. Wang. 1995. Transforming Growth Factor β Activates the Promoter of Cyclin-dependent Kinase Inhibitor p15^{INK4B} through an Sp1 Consensus Site. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 270: 26750-26753.

Li, J-M., P. Pei-Chih, X. Shen, Y. Yu, and X-F. Wang. 1997. E2F-4-RB and E2F-4-p107complexes suppress gene expression by transforming growth factor β through E2F binding sites. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94: 4948-4953.

Lin, Y.-S., I. Ha, E. Maldonado, D. Reinberg, and M.R. Green. 1991. Binding of general transcription factor TFIIB to an acidic activating region. *Nature* **353**: 569-571.

Lin, J., P, Puigserver, J. Donovan, P. Tarr, and B. M. Spiegelman. 2002. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ coactivator 1 β (PGC-1 β), a novel PGC-1-related transcription coactivator associated with Host Cell Factor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277: 1645-1648.

Lindeman, G.J., S. Gaubatz, D.M. Livingston, and D. Ginsberg. 1997. The subcellular localization of E2F-4 is cell cycle dependent. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94: 5095-5100.

Liu, Y., O. Hengartner, and W. Herr. 1999. Selected Elements of Herpes Simplex Virus Accessory Factor HCF Are Highly Conserved in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **19**: 909-915.

Lu, R., P. Yang, P. O'Hare, and V. Misra. 1997. Luman, a new member of the CREB/ATF family, binds to Herpes Simplex Virus VP16-associated Host Cell Factor. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 17: 5117-5126.

Lu, R., P. Yang, S, Padmakunar, and V. Misra. 1998. The Herpesvirus transactivator VP16 mimics a human basic domain leucine zipper protein, Luman, in its interaction with HCF. *Journal of Virology* **72**: 6291-6297.

Lu, R., and V. Misra. 2000a. Zhangfei: a second cellular protein interacts with herpes simplex virus accessory factor HCF in a manner similar to Luman and VP16. *Nucleic Acids Research* 28: 2446-2454.

Lu, R., and V. Misra. 2000b. Potential Role for Luman, the Cellular Homologue of Herpes Simplex Virus VP16 (α Gene *trans*-Inducing Factor), in Herpesvirus Latency. *Journal of Virology* **74:** 934-943.

Luciano, R.L., and A.C. Wilson. 2000. N-terminal transcriptional activation domain of LZIP comprises two LxxLL motifs and the Host Cell Factor-1 binding motif. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 97: 10757-10762.

Luciano, R.L., and A.C. Wilson. 2002. An activation domain in the C-terminal subunit of HCF-1 is important for transactivation by VP16 and LZIP. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 99: 13403-13408.

Luciano, R.L., and A.C. Wilson. 2003. HCF-1 Functions as a Coactivator for the Zinc Finger Protein Krox20. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **278:** 51116-51124.

Mahajan, S.S., and A.C. Wilson. 2000. Mutations in Host Cell Factor 1 separate its role in cell proliferation from recruitment of VP16 and LZIP. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **20:** 919-928.

Mahajan, S.S., M.M. Little, R. Vazquez, and A.C. Wilson. 2002a. Interaction of HCF-1 with a cellular nuclear export factor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277: 44292-44299.

Mahajan, S.S., K.M. Johnson, and A.C. Wilson. 2002b. Molecular Cloning of Drosophila HCF Reveals Proteolytic Processing and Self-Association of the Encoded Protein. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* **194:** 117-126.

Malumbres, M., I.P. de Castro, J. Santos, B. Melendez, R. Mangues, M. Serrano, A. Pellicer, and J. Fernandez-Piqueras. 1997. Inactivation of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p15^{INK4b} by deletion and *de novo* methylation with independence of p16^{INK4a} alterations in murine primary T-cell lymphomas. *Oncogene* 14: 1361-1370.

Malumbres, M., and M. Barbacid. 2001. To Cycle Or Not To Cycle: A Critical Decision In Cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 1: 222-231.

Massague, J. 2000. How Cells Read TGF- β Signals. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **1**: 169-178.

Massague, J., S.W. Blain, and R.S. Lo. 2000. TGF β Signaling in Growth Control, Cancer, and Heritable Disorders. *Cell* 103: 295-309.

Mayol, X., J. Garriga, and X. Grana. 1995. Cell cycle-dependent phosphorylation of the retinoblastoma-related protein p130. *Oncogene* **11**: 801-808.

Meertens, L.M., Miyata, K.S., Cechetto, J.D., Rachubinski, R.A., and J.P. Capone. 1998. A mitochondrial ketogenic enzyme regulates its gene expression by association with the nuclear hormone receptor PPARalpha. *EMBO J.* **17:** 6972-6978.

Misra, V., S. Walker, P. Yang, S. Hayes, and P. O'Hare. 1996. Conformational Alteration of Oct-1 upon DNA Binding Dictates Selectivity in Differential Interactions with Related Transcriptional Coactivators. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 16: 4404-4413.

Missero, C., F. Di Cunto, H. Kiyokawa, A. Koff, and G.P. Dotto. 1996. The absence of p21^{Cip1/WAF1} alters keratinocyte growth and differentiation and promotes ras-tumor progression. *Genes and Development* **10:** 3065-3075.

Moberg, K., M.A. Starz, and J.A. Lees. 1996. E2F-4 Switches from p130 to p107 and pRB in Response to Cell Cycle Reentry. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 16: 1436-1449.

Monsalve, M., Z. Wu, G. Adelmant, P. Puigserver, M. Fan, and B.M. Spiegelman. 2000. Direct Coupling of Transcription and mRNA Processing through the Thermogenic Coactivator PGC-1. *Molecular Cell* 6: 307-316.

Muller, H., M.C. Moroni, E. Vigo, B.O. Petersen, J. Bartek, and K. Helin. 1997. Induction of S-Phase Entry by E2F Transcription Factors Depends on Their Nuclear Localization. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **17**: 5508-5520.

Muller, H., A.P. Bracken, R. Vernell, M.C. Moroni, F. Christians, E. Grassilli, E. Prosperini, E. Vigo, J.D. Oliner, and K. Helin. 2001. E2Fs regulate the expression of genes involved in differentiation, development, proliferation, and apoptosis. *Genes and Development* 15: 267-285.

Naar, A.M., B.D. Lemon, and R. Tjian. 2001. Transcriptional Coactivator Complexes. Annual Review Biochemistry **70**: 475-501.

Nagarajan, R., J. Svaren, N. Le, T. Araki, M. Watson, and J. Milbrandt. 2001. EGR2 Mutations in Inherited Neuropathies Dominant-Negatively Inhibit Myelin Gene Expression. *Neuron* **30**: 355-368.

Nahle, Z., J. Polakoff, R.V. Davuluri, M.E. McCurrach, M.D. Jacobson, M. Narita, M.Q. Zhang, Y. Lazebnik, D. Bar-Sagi, and S.W. Lowe. 2002. Direct coupling of the cell cycle and cell death machinery by E2F. *Nature Cell Biology* **4**: 859-864.

Nakayama, K., and K. Nakayama. 1998. Cip/Kip cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors: brakes of the cell cycle engine during development. *BioEssays* **20**: 1020-1029.

Nevins, J.R. 1992. E2F: A Link Between the Rb Tumor Suppressor Protein and Viral Oncoproteins. *Science* 258: 424-429.

O'Hare, P., C.R. Goding, and A. Haigh. 1988. Direct combinatorial interaction between a herpes simplex virus regulatory protein and a cellular octamer-binding factor mediates specific induction of virus immediate-early gene expression. *EMBO J.* **7:** 4231-4238.

Ortega, S., M. Malumbres, and M. Barbacid. 2002. Cyclin D-dependent kinases, INK4 inhibitors and cancer. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1602: 73-87.

Pagliuca, A., P. Gallo, and L. Lania. 2000. Differential Role for Sp1/Sp3 Transcription Factors in the Regulation of the Promoter Activity of Multiple Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Inhibitor Genes. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry* **76:** 360-367.

Paramio, J.M., C. Segrelles, M.L. Casanova, and J.L. Jorcano. 2000. Opposite Functions for E2F1 and E2F4 in Human Epidermal Keratinocyte Differentiation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **275**: 41219-41226.

Pardali, K., A. Kurisaki, A. Moren, P. ten Dijke, D. Kardassis, and A. Moustakas. 2000. Role of Smad Proteins and Transcription Factor Sp1 in p21^{Waf1/Cip1} Regulation by Transforming Growth Factor- β . *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **275**: 29244-29256.

Peukert, K., P. Staller, A. Schneider, G. Carmichael, F. Hanel, and M. Eilers. 1997. An alternative pathway for gene regulation by Myc. *EMBO J.* **16:** 5672-5686.

Philipsen, S., and G. Suske. 1999. A tale of three fingers: the family of mammalian Sp/XKLF transcription factors. *Nucleic Acids Research* **27**: 2991-3000.

Pierce, A.M., R. Schneider-Broussard, J.L. Philhower, and D.G. Johnson. 1998. Differential Activities of E2F Family Members: Unique Functions in Regulating Transcription. *Molecular Carcinogenesis* **22**: 190-198.

Popova, B., P. Bilan, P. Xiao, M. Faught, and J.P. Capone. 1995. Transcriptional Activation by DNA-Binding Derivatives of HSV-1 VP16 That Lack the Carboxyl-Terminal Acidic Activation Domain. *Virology* **209**: 19-28.

Puigserver, P., and B.M. Spiegelman. 2003. Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor- γ Coactivator 1 α (PGC-1 α): Transcriptional Coactivator and Metabolic Regulator. *Endocrine Reviews* **24**: 78-90.

Raggo, C., N. Rapin, J, Stirling, P. Gobeil, E. Smith-Windsor, P. O'Hare, and V. Misra. 2002. Luman, the Cellular Counterpart of Herpes Simplex Virus VP16, Is

Processed by Regulated Intramembrane Proteolysis. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 22: 5639-5649.

Reilly, P.T., and W. Herr. 2002. Spontaneous reversion of tsBN67 cell proliferation and cytokinesis defects in the absence of HCF-1 function. *Experimental Cell Research* **277**: 119-130.

Reilly, P.T., J. Wysocka, and W. Herr. 2002. Inactivation of the Retinoblastoma Protein Family Can Bypass the HCF-1 Defect in tsBN67 Cell Proliferation and Cytokinesis. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **22**: 6767-6778.

Reynisdottir, I., K. Polyak, A. Iavarone, and J. Massague. 1995. Kip/Cip and Ink4 Cdk inhibitors cooperate to induce cell cycle arrest in response to TGF- β . *Genes and Development* **9**: 1831-1845.

Rosenfeld, M.G., and C.K. Glass. 2001. Coregulator Codes of Transcriptional Regulation by Nuclear Receptors. Journal of Biological Chemistry 276: 36865-36868.

Sadowski, I., and M. Ptashne. 1989. A vector for expressing GAL4(1-147) fusions in mammalian cells. *Nucleic Acids Research* 17: 7539.

Sambrook, J., E.F. Fritsch, and T. Maniatis. 1989. Molecular Cloning: a laboratory manual. Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory Press. Cold Spring Harbour, New York.
Sakurai, T., K. Itoh, H. Higashitsuji, T. Nagao, K. Nonoguchi, T. Chiba, and J. Fugita. 2004. A Cleaved Form of MAGE-A4 Binds to Miz-1 and Induces Apoptosis in Human Cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry 279: 15505-15514.

Sandhu, C., J. Garbe, N. Bhattacharya, J. Daksis, C.-H. Pan, P. Yaswen, J. Koh, J.M. Slingerland, and M.R. Stampfer. 1997. Transforming Growth Factor β Stabilizes p15^{INK4B} Protein, Increases p15^{INK4B}-cdk4 Complexes, and Inhibits Cyclin D1-cdk4 Association in Human Mammary Epithelial Cells. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 17: 2458-2467.

Sardet, C., M. Vidal, D. Cobrink, Y. Geng, C. Onufryk, A. Chen, and R.A. Weinberg. 1995. E2F-4 and E2F-5, two members of the E2F family, are expressed in the early phases of the cell cycle. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **92**: 2403-2407.

Sawa, C., M. Goto, F. Suzuki, J. Watanabe, J.-I. Sawada, and H. Handa. 1996. Functional domains of transcription factor hGABP β 1/E4TF1-53 required for nuclear localization and transcription activation. *Nucleic Acids Research* **24**: 4954-4961.

Scarr, R.B., M.R. Smith, M. Beddall, and P.A. Sharp. 2000. A Novel 50-Kilodalton Fragment of Host Cell Factor (C1) in G₀ Cells. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 20: 3568-3575.

Scarr, R.B., and P.A. Sharp. 2002. PDCD2 is a negative regulator of HCF-1 (C1). *Oncogene* 21: 5245-5254.

Schiestl, R.H., P. Manivasakam, R.A. Woods, and R.D. Gietz. 1993. Introducing DNA into yeast by transformation. *Methods* 5: 79-85.

Schillace, R.V., J.W. Voltz, A.T. Sim, S. Shenolikar, and J.D. Scott. 2001. Multiple interactions with AKAP220 signaling complex contribute to protein phosphatase 1 regulation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **276**: 12128-12134.

Schmelter, J., J. Knez, J.R. Smiley, and J.P. Capone. 1996. Identification and Characterization of a Small Modular Domain in the Herpes Simplex Virus Host Shutoff Protein Sufficient for Interaction with VP16. *Journal of Virology* **70**: 2124-2131.

Schneider, A., K. Peukert, M. Eilers, and F. Hanel. 1997. Association of Myc with the Zinc-finger Protein Miz-1 Defines a Novel Pathway for Gene Regulation by Myc. *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology* **224**: 137-146.

Schneider-Maunoury, S., P. Topilko, T. Seitanidou, G. Levi, M. Cohen-Tannoudji, S. Pournin, C. Babinet, and P. Charnay. 1993. Disruption of Krox-20 Results in Alteration of Rhombomeres 3 and 5 in the Developing Hindbrain. *Cell* **75**: 1199-1214.

Schneider-Maunoury, S., T. Seitanidou, P. Charnay, and A. Lumsden. 1997. Segmental and neuronal architecture of the hindbrain of Krox-20 mouse mutants. *Development* 124: 1215-1226.

Schwarz, J.K., C.H. Bassing, I. Kovesdi, M.B. Datto, M. Blazing, S. George, X-F. Wang, and J.R. Nevins. 1995. Expression of the E2F1 transcription factor overcomes type β transforming growth factor-mediated growth suppression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92: 483-487.

Scott, G.K., J.C. Daniel, X. Xiong, R.A. Maki, D. Kabat, and C.C. Benz. 1994. Binding of an ETS-related Protein within the DNase I Hypersensitive Site of the HER2/neu Promoter in Human Breast Cancer Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 269: 19848-19858.

Secone, J., C. Pouponnot, P. Staller, M. Schader, M. Eilers, and J. Massague. 2001. TGF β influences Myc, Miz-1 and Smad to control the CDK inhibitor p15 ^{INK4b}. *Nature Cell Biology* **3**: 400-408.

Seoane, J., H-V. Le, and J. Massague. 2002. Myc suppression of the p21^{Cip1} Cdk inhibitor influences the outcome of the p53 response to DNA damage. *Nature* **419**: 729-734.

Shan, B.S., T. Durfee, and W.-H. Lee. 1996. Disruption of RB/E2F-1 interaction enhances S-phase entry and apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93: 679-684.

Sherr, C.J., and J.M. Roberts. 1999. CDK inhibitors: positive and negative regulators of G₁-phase progression. *Genes and Development* **13**: 1501-1512.

Shi, Y., and J. Massague. 2003. Mechanisms of TGF- β Signaling from Cell Membrane to the Nucleus. *Cell* **113**: 685-700.

Siegel, P.M., and J. Massague. 2003. Cytostatic and Apoptotic Actions of TGF- β in Homeostasis and Cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer* **3**: 807-820.

Simmen, K.A., A. Newell, M. Robinson, J.S. Mills, G. Canning, R. Handa, K. Parkes, N. Borkakoti, and R. Jupp. 1997. Protein Interactions in the Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 VP16-Induced Complex: VP16 Peptide Inhibition and Mutational Analysis of Host Cell Factor Requirements. *Journal of Virology* **71**: 3886-3894.

Singh, P., S.H. Wong, and W. Hong. 1994. Overexpression of E2F-1 in rat embryo fibroblasts leads to neoplastic transformation. *EMBO J.* 13: 3329-3338.

Smale, S.T., and J.T. Kadonaga. 2003. The RNA Polymerase II Core Promoter. *Annual Review in Biochemistry* 72: 449-479.

Staller, P., K. Peukert, A. Kiermaier, J. Seoane, J. Lukas, H. Kaesunky, R. Moroy, J. Bartek, J. Massague, F. Hanel, and M. Eilers. 2001. Repression of p15^{INK4b} expression by Myc through assocation with Miz-1. *Nature Cell Biology* **3**: 392-399.

Stern, S., M. Tanaka, and W. Herr. 1989. The Oct-1 homeodomain directs formation of a multiprotein-DNA complex with the HSV transactivator VP16. *Nature* **341**: 624-630.

Stern, S., and W. Herr. 1991. The herpes simplex virus *trans*-activator VP16 recognizes the Oct-1 homeodomain: evidence for a homeodomain recognition subdomain. *Genes and Development* **5**: 2555-2566.

Stevaux, O., and N.J. Dyson. 2002. A revised picture of the E2F transcriptional network and RB function. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 14: 684-691.

Storchova, Z., and D. Pellman. 2004. From Polyploidy To Aneuploidy, Genome Instability and Cancer. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **5**: 45-54.

Sturm, R.A., and W. Herr. 1988. The POU domain is a bipartite DNA-binding structure. *Nature* 336: 601-604.

Sturm, R.A., G. Das, and W. Herr. 1988. The ubiquitous octamer-binding protein Oct-1 contains a POU domain with a homeo box subdomain. *Genes and Development* 2: 1582-1599.

Swiatek, P.J., and T. Gridley. 1993. Perinatal lethality and defects in hindbrain development in mice homozygous for a targeted mutation of the zinc finger gene Krox20. *Genes and Development* 7: 2071-2084.

Taatjes, D.J., M.T. Marr, and R. Tjian. 2004. Regulatory diversity among metazoan co-activator complexes. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **5**: 403-410.

Takahashi, Y., J.B. Rayman, and B.D. Dynlacht. 2000. Analysis of promoter binding by the E2F and pRB families in vivo: distinct E2F proteins mediate activation and repression. *Genes and Development* **14**: 804-816.

Tanaka, M., and W. Herr. 1990. Differential Transcriptional Activation by Oct-1 and Oct-2: Interdependent Activation Domains Induce Oct-2 Phosphorylation. *Cell* **60**: 375-386.

Tanaka, M., J.-S. Lai, and W. Herr. 1992. Promoter-Selective Activation Domains in Oct-1 and Oct-2 Direct Differential Activation of an snRNA and mRNA Promoter. *Cell* 68: 755-767.

Tommasi, S., and G.P. Pfeifer. 1995. In Vivo Structure of the Human cdc2 Promoter: Release of a p130-E2F-4 Complex from Sequences Immediately Upstream of the Transcription Initiation Site Coincides with Induction of cdc2 Expression. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **15:** 6901-6913.

Tonini, T., C. Hillson, and P.P. Claudio. 2002. Interview With the Retinoblastoma Family Members: Do They Help Each Other? *Journal of Cellular Physiology* **192**: 138-150.

Torchia, J., D.W. Rose, J. Inostroza, Y. Kamei, S. Westin, C.K. Glass, and M.G. Rosenfeld. 1997. The transcriptional co-activator p/CIP binds CBP and mediates nuclear-receptor function. *Nature* **387**: 677-684.

Triezenberg, S.J., K.L. LaMarco, and S.L. McKnight. 1988a. Evidence of DNA:protein interactions that mediate HSV-1 immediate early gene activation by VP16. *Genes and Development* **2**: 730-742.

Triezenberg, S.J., R.C. Kingsbury, and S.L. McKnight. 1988b. Functional dissection of VP16, the *trans*-activator of herpes simplex virus immediate early gene expression. *Genes and Development* **2**: 718-729.

Triezenberg, S.J. 1995. Structure and function of transcriptional activation domains. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development* **5**: 190-196.

Trimarchi, J.M., and J.A. Lees. 2002. Sibling rivalry in the E2F family. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **31**: 11-20.

Vairo, G., D.M. Livingston, and D. Ginsberg. 1995. Functional interaction between E2F-4 and p130: evidence for distinct mechanisms underlying growth suppression by different retinoblastoma protein family members. *Genes and Development* **9**: 869-881.

van de Wetering, M., E. Sancho, C. Verweij, W. de Lau, I. Oving, A. Hurlstone, D. van der Horn, E. Batlle, D. Coudreuse, A-P. Haramis, M. Tjon-Pon-Fong, P. Moerer, M. van den Born, G. Soete, S. Pals, M. Eilers, R. Medema, and H. Clevers. 2002. The β -Catenin/TCF-4 Complex Imposes a Crypt Progenitor Phenotype on Colorectal Cancer Cells. *Cell* 111: 241-250.

Verona, R., K. Moberg, S. Estes, M. Starz, J.P. Vernon, and J.A. Lees. 1997. E2F Activity Is Regulated by Cell Cycle-Dependent Changes in Subcellular Localization. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **17**: 7268-7282.

Vesque, C., and P. Charnay. 1992. Mapping functional regions of the segment-specific transcription factor Krox-20. *Nucleic Acids Research* 20: 2485-2492.

Vogel, J.L., and T.M. Kristie. 2000a. The novel coactivator C1 (HCF) coordinates multiprotein enhancer formation and mediates transcription activation by GABP. *EMBO J.* **19:** 683-690.

Vogel, J.L., and T.M. Kristie. 2000b. Autocatalytic proteolysis of the transcription factor-coactivator C1 (HCF): a potential role for proteolytic regulation of coactivator function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **97:** 9425-9430.

Walker, S., S. Hayes, and P. O'Hare. 1994. Site-Specific Conformational Alteration of the Oct-1 POU Domain-DNA Complex as the Basis for Differential Recognition by Vmw65 (VP16). *Cell* **79**: 841-852.

Wang, D., J.L. Russell, and D.G. Johnson. 2000. E2F4 and E2F1 Have Similar Proliferative Properties but Different Apoptotic and Oncogenic Properties In Vivo. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **20**: 3417-3424.

Wanzel, M., S. Herold, and M. Eilers. 2003. Transcriptional repression by Myc. *Trends in Cell Biology* **13**: 146-150.

Ward, P.L., and B. Roizman. 1994. *Herpes simplex* genes: the blueprint of a successful human pathogen. *Trends in Genetics* **10**: 267-274.

Watanabe, H., J.-I. Sawada, K.-I. Yano, K. Yamaguchi, M. Goto, and H. Handa. 1993. cDNA Cloning of Transcription Factor E4TF1 Subunits with Ets and Notch Motifs. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **13**: 1385-1391.

Weintraub, S.J., C.A. Prater, and D.C. Dean. 1992. Retinoblastoma protein switches the E2F site from positive to negative element. *Nature* **358**: 259-261.

Wilson, A.C., K. LaMarco, M.G. Peterson, and W. Herr. 1993. The VP16 accessory protein HCF is a family of polypeptides processed from a large precursor protein. *Cell* 74: 115-125.

Wilson, A.C., M.G. Peterson, and W. Herr. 1995a. The HCF repeat is an unusual proteolytic cleavage signal. *Genes and Development* 9: 2445-2458.

Wilson, A.C. J.E. Parrish, H.F. Massa, D.L. Nelson, B.J. Trask, and W. Herr. 1995b. The Gene Encoding the VP16-Accessory Protein HCF (HCFC1) Resides in Human Xq28 and Is Highly Expressed in Fetal Tissues and the Adult Kidney. *Genomics* **25**: 462-468.

Wilson, A.C., R.N. Freiman, H. Goto, T. Nishimoto, and W. Herr. 1997. VP16 targets an amino-terminal domain of HCF involved in cell cycle progression. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 17: 6139-6146.

Wilson, A.S., M. Boutros, K.M. Johnson, and W. Herr. 2000. HCF-1 Amino- and Carboxy-Terminal Subunit Association through Two Separate Sets of Interaction Modules: Involvement of Fibronectin Type 3 Repeats. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **20**: 6721-6730.

Wong, C-W., and M.L. Privalsky. 1998. Components of the SMRT Corepressor Complex Exhibit Distinctive Interactions with the POZ Domain Oncoproteins PLZF, PLZF-RARα, and BCL-6. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 273: 27695-27702.

Woychik, N.A., and M. Hampsey. 2002. The RNA Polymerase II Machinery: Structure Illuminates Function. *Cell* **108**: 453-463.

Wu, T.-J., G. Monokian, D.F. Mark, and C.R. Wobbe. 1994. Transcriptional activation by Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 VP16 in vitro and its inhibition by oligopeptides. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 14: 3484-3493.

Wu, L., C. Timmers, B. Maiti, H.I. Saavedra, L. Sang, G.T. Chong, F. Nuckolls, P. Giangrande, F.A. Wright, S.J. Field, M.E. Greenberg, S. Orkin, J.R. Nevins, M.L. Robinson, and G. Leone. 2001. The E2F1-3 transcription factors are essential for cellular proliferation. *Nature* **414**: 457-462.

Wong, H.H.L. 2002. M.Sc. Thesis (Biochemistry), McMaster University

Wu, S., C. Cetinkaya, M.J. Munoz-Alonso, N. von der Lehr, F. Bahram, V. Beuger, M. Eilers, J. Leon, and L-G. Larsson. 2003. Myc represses differentiation-induced p21Cip1 expression via Miz-1-dependent interaction with the p21 core promoter. *Oncogene* 22: 351-360.

Wysocka, J., P.T. Reilly, and W. Herr. 2001. Loss of HCF-1-chromatin association precedes temperature-induced growth arrest of tsBN67 cells. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 21: 3820-3829.

Wysocka, J., M.P. Myers, C.D. Laherty, R.N. Eisenman, and W. Herr. 2003. Human Sin3 deacetylase and trithorax-related Set1/Ash2 histone H3-K4 methyltransferase are tethered together selectively by the cell-proliferation factor HCF-1. *Genes and Development* **17**: 896-911.

Wysocka, J., and W. Herr. 2003. The herpes simplex virus VP16-induced complex: the makings of a regulatory switch. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 28: 294-304.

Xiao, P., and J. P. Capone. 1990. A cellular factor binds to the Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 transactivator Vmw65 and is required for Vmw65-dependent protein-DNA complex assembly with Oct-1. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **10**: 4974-4977.

Xu, M., K-A. Sheppard, C-Y. Peng, A.S. Yee, and H. Piwnica-Worms. 1994. Cyclin A/CDK2 Binds Directly to E2F-1 and Inhibits the DNA-Binding Activity of E2F-1/DP-1 by Phosphorylation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 14: 8420-8431.

Yamasaki, L., T. Jacks, R. Bronson, E. Goillot, E. Harlow, and N.J. Dyson. 1996. Tumour Induction and Tissue Atrophy in Mice Lacking E2F-1. *Cell* 85: 537-548.

Yan, Y., J. Frisen, M.-H. Lee, J. Massague, and M. Barbacid. 1997. Ablation of the CDK inhibitor p57^{Kip2} results in increased apoptosis and delayed differentiation during mouse development. *Genes and Development* **11**: 973-983.

Yoshida, K., and I. Inoue. 2004. Regulation of Geminin and Cdt1 expression by E2F transcription factors. *Oncogene* **23**: 3802-3812.

Ziegelbauer, J., B. Shan, D. Yager, C. Larabell, B. Hoffmann, and R. Tjian. 2001. Transcription Factor MIZ-1 Is Regulated via Microtubule Association. *Molecular Cell* 8: 339-349.

Ziegelbauer, J., J. Wei, and R. Tjian. 2004. Myc-interacting protein 1 target gene profile: A link to microtubules, extracellular signal-regulated kinase, and cell growth. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 101: 458-463.

Zhang, P., N.J. Liegeois, C. Wong, M. Finegold, H. Hou, J.C. Thompson, A. Silverman, J.W. Harper, R.A. DePinho, and S.J. Elledge. 1997. Altered cell differentiation and proliferation in mice lacking p57^{KIP2} indicates a role in Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome. *Nature* 387: 151-158.

Zhao, N., J. Wang, Y. Cui, L. Guo, and S.-H. Lu. 2004. Induction of G1 Cell Cycle Arrest and P15^{INK4b} Expression by ECRG1 Through Interaction With Miz-1. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry* **92:** 65-76.

Zhou, H.-J., C.-M. Wong, J.-H. Chen, B.-Q. Qiang, J.-G. Yuan, and D.-Y. Jin. 2001. Inhibition of LZIP-mediated Transcription through Direct Interaction with a Novel Host Cell Factor-like Protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **276:** 28933-28938.